# THE IMPACT OF LAND USE AND LAND COVER CHANGES ON WETLAND PRODUCTIVITY AND HYDROLOGICAL SYSTEMS IN THE LIMPOPO TRANSBOUNDARY RIVER BASIN, SOUTH AFRICA

### KGABO HUMPHREY THAMAGA

A thesis submitted to the Department of Earth Sciences, Faculty of Natural Sciences at the University of the Western Cape in fulfilment of the academic requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental and Water Science

> Supervisor: Co-Supervisor:

Prof. Timothy Dube (UWC) Dr. Cletah Shoko (Wits)



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

SOUTH AFRICA

November 2021

#### ABSTRACT

Wetlands are highly productive systems that act as habitats for a variety of flora and fauna. Despite their ecohydrological significance, wetland ecosystems are under severe threat as a result of environmental changes (e.g. the changing temperature and rainfall), as well as pressure from anthropogenic land use activities (e.g. agriculture, rural-urban development and dam construction). Such changes result in severe disturbances in the hydrology, plant species composition, spatial distribution, productivity and diversity of wetlands, as well as their ability to offer critical ecosystem goods and services. However, wetland degradation varies considerably from place to place, with severe degradation occurring particularly in developing regions, such as sub-Saharan Africa, where Land Use and Land Cover changes impact on wetland ecosystems by affecting the diversity of plant species, productivity, as well as the wetland hydrology. These impacts are further exacerbated by poor management practices, which lead to their under-utilisation and an over-reliance on them for people's livelihoods. Although wetlands threats are well-documented, the focus has only been directed on larger wetland ecosystems, under the Ramsar Convention, rather than on the over-utilised and isolated small wetlands. Currently, the distribution and status of small wetlands remains poorly understood, particularly unprotected wetlands that support human livelihoods. This has been largely due to the lack of accurate spatial resolution and robust techniques, as well as reliable data sources, which are necessary for wetland estimation and continuous monitoring on a small and large scale. The crop of new-generation satellite sensors i.e. Landsat 8 Operational Land Imager (OLI) and Sentinel-2 Multi-Spectral Imager (MSI) data, which have a unique sensor design and improved sensing characteristics, is perceived to provide new prospects for the mapping and monitoring of the extent and condition of wetlands. The accurate monitoring of changes in the spatial extent, hydrological dynamics, vegetation species diversity and productivity patterns of wetland ecosystems provides critical information on the factors that are causing their deterioration. Therefore, this study aimed at assessing the impacts of land use and land cover change on wetland productivity and the hydrological processes, using remotely-sensed dataset. The study was conducted in Maungani wetland located in Limpopo Province of South Africa. To achieve this, historical Landsat data were used to assess the wetland changes over a period of 36 years (1983-2019). During the study period, the Maungani wetland lost 728 400 ha, mainly due to built-up areas and agricultural fields. The changes within the wetland were mapped with a high Overall classification Accuracy (OA), ranging from 77.55% to 92.69%. Furthermore, Sentinel-2 MSI

was used to model the diversity and productivity of the wetland vegetation species, by using diversity indices. The findings showed that the diversity and biomass of the wetland vegetation species can be estimated with a high accuracy by using Sentinel-2 MSI data. For instance, the model performances ranged from a  $r^2$  of 0.54 (54.72%) (RMSEP = 0.572 gm<sup>-2</sup>) to  $r^2$  of 0.84 (84%) (RMSEP = 0.067 gm<sup>-2</sup>), respectively. Furthermore, the red-edge bands, centered at 750 nm (B5), 740 nm (B6), 783 nm (B7) and 863 nm (B8a), were identified as the most influential variables in estimating wetland vegetation biomass and species diversity. The capabilities of Sentinel-2 MSI and the derived spectral indices were also used to assess the hydrological dynamics of wetlands and the extent of inundation. The results revealed that monthly meteorological data have influenced the status of the water presence and inundation in the Maungani Area. In addition, the vegetation configurations and moisture content demonstrated that the wetland inundation declined during the dry months (May, June and July). The presence of water was also associated with increased rainfall during the wet season. The extent of wetlands declined during the drier period, due to less rainfall (0.20-0.60 mm) and a decreased actual evapotranspiration (9.90 mm-10.43 mm). The findings of this study underscore the relevance of new-generation Sentinel-2 MSI data for estimating and mapping the presence of wetland water, vegetation diversity and biomass, particularly in small wetlands that are non-Ramsar sites. The spatially-explicit and periodic information offered by satellite remote sensing demonstrated a unique opportunity for documenting and understanding the ecohydrological dynamics of small and neglected wetlands. This information is beneficial for the development of tailor-made wetland management strategies and for a possible rehabilitation framework for unprotected wetland ecosystems, which was previously a challenging task, when using broadband multispectral sensors.

**Keywords:** Anthropogenic activities; change detection; ecohydrological modelling; livelihoods; satellite data; wetland agriculture; wetland status

### PREFACE

This research study was conducted in the Department of Earth Sciences (ESD) at the University of the Western Cape, South Africa, from January 2019 to September 2021, under the supervision of Prof. Timothy Dube (Earth Sciences, University of the Western Cape) and Dr. Cletah Shoko (Archaeology and Environmental Studies (AES), University of the Witwatersrand).

I declare that the work presented in this thesis has never been submitted, in any form, to any other institution. This work represents my original work, except where due acknowledgements are made.

Kgabo Humphrey Thamaga November 2021

We certify that the above statement is correct and, as the candidate's Supervisor, I have approved this thesis for submission.

UNIVERSITY of the

ofessor Timothy Dube

Supervisor (UWC) November 2021

Dr. Cletah Shoko Co-supervisor (Wits) November 2021

Type text here

WESTERI

### **DECLARATION 2 – PLAGIARISM**

### Full names of student: Kgabo Humphrey Thamaga

- 1. I understand what plagiarism is and I am aware of the University of the Western Cape's policy in this regard.
- 2. I declare that this dissertation is my own original work. Where other people's work has been used (either from a printed source, the Internet or any other source), this has been properly acknowledged and referenced in accordance with departmental requirements.
- 3. I have not used work previously produced by another student or any other person, to hand in as my own.
- 4. I have not allowed and will not allow anyone to copy my work with the intention of passing it off as his or her own work.

**Kgabo Humphrey Thamaga** November 2021 UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

### **DECLARATION 3 – PUBLICATIONS AND MANUSCRIPTS**

Published papers and manuscripts form part of this thesis. The contribution (the conceptualisation, experimental work, data analysis and preparation) of the published articles and manuscripts were completed by the author (Kgabo Humphrey Thamaga), under the supervision of Prof. Timothy Dube and Dr. Cletah Shoko. Below is the list of published and manuscript papers:

### **Publication 1:**

Thamaga K.H., Dube, T. & Shoko, C., 2021. Advances in satellite remote sensing of the wetland ecosystems in sub-Saharan Africa. *Geocarto International*, 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10106049.2021.1926552</u>.

### Manuscript 1 (under review)

Thamaga, K.H., Dube, T. & Shoko, C., 2021. Evaluating the impacts of land use and land cover change on unprotected wetland ecosystems in the arid tropical areas of South Africa, using the Landsat dataset and Support Vector Machine. *Geocarto International*, TLUS-2021-0103 (Manuscript accepted).

### Manuscript 2 (under review)

Thamaga, K.H., Dube, T. & Shoko, C., 2021. Modelling wetland vegetation by using integrated Sentinel-2 MSI and diversity indices in the semi-arid regions located in the Limpopo Transboundary Basin, South Africa. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, (Manuscript under-review).

#### Manuscript 3 (under review)

Thamaga, K.H., Dube T. & Shoko C., 2021. An assessment of small wetland ecohydrological dynamics, using Sentinel-2 MSI derived spectral indices in semi-arid environments of South Africa. Wetland Ecology and Management, WETL-D-21-00141 (Manuscript under-review).

### DEDICATION

To the late Kwena Frans Thamaga.

Papa, you left us early, before you could witness this journey. Your presence will always and forever be sorely missed.

To my mother, Mosima Glady Thamaga, and my daughter, Rebabaletswe.



### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Glory be to God, for His strength, guidance and protection in the process of completing this PhD thesis

I would like to offer my great appreciation to my promotors, my Supervisor, Prof. Timothy Dube (University of the Western Cape) and co-Supervisor Dr. Cletah Shoko (University of Witwatersrand), for believing in me and giving me the opportunity to learn under your supervision. Your diligent constructive criticism, guidance, support and suggestions throughout encouraged me to put more effort into this research project, and without your dedicated guidance I would not have reached this stage. Thank you, Prof., for always being there for me; I learnt a lot from you, not only regarding academics, but also on how to tackle life's challenges. When I wanted to quit my Master's degree in 2017, you encouraged me not to and demonstrated to me where I could be in 2021, if I pursued a PhD - and today, I have finished the race. Although the journey was murky, I conquered it. I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to the Empire Partner Foundation Tech Hub and the South African National Space Agency (SANSA) for supporting this research project. I would also like to thank the South African Weather Service (SAWS), United State Geological Survey (USGS) and European Space Agency (ESA) Copernicus Open Access Hub for providing the data that were used in this study. Mr Nathan Mariemuthu, thank you for everything - your support has been amazing, and I am grateful for having met you; may God bless you, Nathan. A vote of thanks goes to JK du Toit; your support pushed me to the very end of my project. Your everyday question was, "When should I start calling you Dr Thamaga". To the EPF Team, under the administration of Mikhial Mariemuthu - thank you for understanding my busy schedule. Your support was the best. To all the people at 35 Ferguson - thank you. I would also like to thank Prof. Munyaradzi Mujuru, Mr. Raymond Dhlamini, Dr Tshepo Mawasha and Mrs Charity Mugumbate for your words of encouragement and upliftment during my lowest points, when I had no energy.

My deepest gratitude goes to the Thamaga family: To my mother, thank you for your words of encouragement and support, as well as your prayers right to the last lap of my thesis; to my sisters (Ireen, Mildred, Maureen, Miranda, Phetulo) and brother (Ernest), thank you for your love and support; to Rebabaletswe, my daughter, thank you for your patience, support and courage, and for understanding the reason for my absence and for spending lengthy periods away from you; and to my friends and family, who were part of the wide spectrum of people who helped me in ways that I cannot begin to mention - thank you so much.

Lastly, I would like to give special thanks to Ashand Moloto, for your great support and for encouraging me to study harder, right to the very end.



ABSTRACT	۲	i
PREFACE		iii
DECLARA	ΓΙΟΝ 2 – PLAGIARISM	iv
DECLARA	ΓΙΟΝ 3 – PUBLICATIONS AND MANUSCRIPTS	v
DEDICATIO	ON	vi
ACKNOWL	EDGEMENTS	vii
LIST OF FIG	GURES	xiii
LIST OF TA	ABLES	xv
CHAPTER (	ONE	1
GENERAL	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1.	Importance of Small Wetland Ecosystems in the African Context	2
1.2.	The Remote Sensing of Small Wetland Ecosystems	3
1.3.	Aims and Objectives	4
1.4.	Structure of the Research	5
CHAPTER 7	гwо	7
ADVANCE	S IN SATELLITE REMOTE SENSING OF THE WETLAND ECOSYSTE	MS
IN SUB-SA	HARAN AFRICA	7
Abstract		8
2.1	Introduction I.I.N.I.V.F.R.S.I.T.Y. of the	9
2.2	Geographical Distribution of Wetland Ecosystems	12
2.3	Factors influencing Wetland Degradation	14
2.4	The Role of Remote Sensing Applications in Wetland Ecosystem Mapping	15
2.5	Remotely-sensed Applications on Wetland Hydrology and Soil	20
2.6	Wetland Plant Species Characterization	20
2.6.1	The mapping of wetland vegetation using remote sensing data	21
2.6.2	Mapping species diversity in wetland environments	22
2.6.3	Wetland productivity and assessment	23
2.7	Analytical Algorithms for evaluating Wetland Ecosystems and Condition	ons,
	using Remote Sensing	23
2.8	The Implications of the Remote Sensing of Wetland Vegetation	and
	Productivity Mapping	25
2.9	Future Investigations into Improved Wetland Ecosystem Conservation	29

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.10	Conclusion
CHAPTER	THREE
EVALUATI	NG THE IMPACTS OF LAND USE AND LAND COVER CHANGE ON
UNPROTEC	CTED WETLAND ECOSYSTEMS IN THE ARID TROPICAL AREAS OF
SOUTH AI	FRICA, USING THE LANDSAT DATASET AND SUPPORT VECTOR
MACHINE.	
Abstract	
3.1 Introdu	uction
3.2	Materials and Methods
3.2.1	Description of the Study Area
3.2.2	Field data collection
3.2.3	Satellite image acquisition and pre-processing
3.2.4	Image classification
3.2.5	Classification accuracy assessment
3.2.6	Change detection analysis and post-classification
3.3	Results
3.3.1	Satellite-derived wetland land use land cover change (1983-2019)42
3.3.2	Spatio-temporal change analysis of wetland area over time47
3.3.3	Accuracy assessment derived from thematic maps
3.3.4	Increase and loss of land use land cover (net-change)
3.3.5	Change detection measurements that occurred over a 36-year period54
3.4	Discussion
3.4.1	Wetland dynamics in relation to other land use and land cover changes between
	1983 and 2019
3.4.2	Long-term wetland monitoring, using Landsat data
3.4.3	Implications for wetland conservation and land use and land cover management
3.5	Conclusions
CHAPTER 4	4
MODELLIN	IG WETLAND VEGETATION USING INTEGRATED SENTINEL-2 MSI
AND DIVE	RSITY INDICES IN SEMI-ARID REGIONS
Abstract	
4.1	Introduction
4.2	Materials and Methods67

4.2.1	Field sampling and wetland vegetation species data collection	67
4.2.2	Satellite image acquisition and pre-processing	70
4.2.3	Vegetation indices and species diversity estimation models	70
4.2.4	Wetland species diversity estimation indices	72
4.2.5	Regression algorithm used for wetland vegetation prediction	73
4.2.6	Model assessment for wetland vegetation species diversity	74
4.3	Results	75
4.3.1	Wetland vegetation species diversity estimation models, based on all	spectral
	bands and vegetation indices	75
4.3.2	Variable of importance measures	77
4.3.3	Mapping wetland vegetation using Sentinel-2 MSI and diversity index	79
4.4	Discussion	81
4.4.1	Wetland vegetation species diversity estimation	82
4.4.2	Performance of Sentinel-2 MSI-derived data in estimating wetland ve	getation
	species diversity and productivity	83
4.4.3	Implications for wetland species conservation	84
4.5	Conclusion	84
CHAPTER I	FIVE	86
AN ASSESS	SMENT OF SMALL WETLAND ECOHYDROLOGICAL DYNAMICS	USING
SENTINEL-	2 MSI-DERIVED SPECTRAL INDICES IN SEMI-ARID ENVIRON	MENTS
OF SOUTH	AFRICA	86
Abstract	WESTERN CAFE	87
5.1	Introduction	88
5.2	Materials and Methods	90
5.2.1	Ancillary data	90
5.2.2	Satellite image acquisition and pre-processing	91
5.2.3	Topographic position	93
5.2.4	Measuring wetland hydrology and inundation dynamics, using derived	spectral
	indices	94
5.2.5	Accuracy analysis	95
5.3	Results	95
5.3.1	Monthly extraction of surface water derived by using MNDWI	95
5.3.2	Monthly variation of wetland vegetation distribution in relation	to the
	inundation periods, using NDPI	98

5.3.3	Monthly variation of moisture within the Maungani wetland area100
5.3.4	Accuracy assessment derived to extract surface water coverage, moisture and
	vegetation distribution
5.3.5	Relationship between rainfall pattern, temperature and evapotranspiration102
5.4	Discussion104
5.4.1	Small wetland response due to monthly precipitation and evaporation
	variability104
5.4.2	Implications of using a remotely-sensed dataset to study wetland
	ecohydrological systems106
5.5	Conclusion107
CHAPTER	SIX
SYNTHESI	S, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS
6.1	Introduction
6.1.1	An overview of remote sensing application on wetland ecosystem, together
	with the impacts of land use and land cover change that affect the water quality
	and degradation of wetlands110
6.1.2	Evaluation of the state of the environment for wetland ecosystems and the
	estimation of the remaining percentage of wetlands in the Limpopo River
	Basin
6.1.3	Quantification of species diversity in wetlands in the Limpopo River Basin,
	using remotely-sensed data112
6.1.4	Assessing wetland ecohydrological dynamics in the Limpopo River Basin,
	using remotely-sensed data113
6.2	Conclusion113
6.3	Recommendations115
REFERENC	ES

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Global wetland distribution designated under Ramsar (Xu et al.,
2019)
Figure 2.2 Progress of remote sensing publications in mapping wetland ecosystems in
Africa17
Figure 2.3 The number of satellite images used to study wetland ecosystem
Figure 2.4 Monitoring and mapping wetlands using remotely sensed
data18
Figure 3.1 Map of the Maungani Wetland in the Limpopo Province of South
Africa
Figure 3.2 An illustration of the Maungani wetland landscape (photo by K.H.
Thamaga)
Figure 3.3 Spatial distributional pattern of identified land use land cover change maps for the
period between (a) 1983, (b) 1992, (c) 2001, (d) 2010 and (e)
201945
Figure 3.4 Time series variation of land use land cover change and wetland dynamics from
1983 to 2019
Figure 3.5 Commission, omission error depicted in (a) 1983, (b) 1992, (c) 2001, (d) 2010
and (e) 2019
Figure 3.6 Total area and amount of land use land cover changes (Net change: gains/losses)
on wetland area between 1983 and 201953
Figure 3.7 Overall land use and land cover conversion during the monitoring period
(between 1983 to 2019)55
Figure 3.8 Area of the Maungani wetland ecosystem converted into other land use and
land
Figure 4.1 (a) Cutting of wetland vegetation species within a 1 m by 1 m quadrant
(represented by red box), (b) raw vegetation carried in a plastic bag, and (c)
species productivity and diversity in the Maungani
wetland69
Figure 4.2 Predicted results for: (a) Above Ground Biomass (AGB), (b) Shannon-Wiener
Diversity Index, (c) Simpson Diversity Index, (d) Pielou Evenness Index and
(e) Margalef Richness Index based on selected variables from remotely sensed
dataset, using MLR76

- Figure 5.7 Relationship between the extracted water extent and actual evapotranspiration from July 2020 to June 2021......104

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Remote sensing sensor specifications and associated acquisition cost per square
	meter
Table 2.2	Summary of recent remote sensing applications in mapping wetland ecosystems28
Table 3.1	Description of LULC types used in the study
Table 3.2	2015-2019 Landsat 8 OLI band specifications used for 201940
Table 3.3	Landsat 5 TM band specifications used for the year 1983 and 201040
Table 3.4	Summary of the LULC area coverage between 1983 and 2019 (area in ha)46
Table 3.5	Derived LULC classification accuracies: Overall Accuracy (OA), Producer
	Accuracy (PA) and User Accuracy (UA) between the years (a) 1983, (b) 1992, (c)
	2001, (d) 2010 and (e) 2019
Table 3.6	LULC change transition between land cover classes 1983 to 201953
Table 4.1	List of wetland vegetation classes identified in sampling plots using
Table 4.2	Sentinel-2 MSI satellite characteristics. The spectral bands utilised in this study
	for analysis are shown in bold letters
Table 4.3	Vegetation indices that were utilised in the present study with their respective
	formulae, as well as references72
Table 4.4	The diversity indices used to quantify the wetland vegetation species73
Table 5.1	Wetland characterisations considered in studying wetland inundation and surface
	water
Table 5.2	Characteristics of Sentinel-2 MSI used in the study

### CHAPTER ONE

### **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**



#### 1.1. **Importance of Small Wetland Ecosystems in the African Context**

Wetlands are described as areas with low water levels that are often near the ground surface and that are characterised by hydrophytic plants during the growing season (Barducci et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2020). They exist where the soil is either saturated or inundated with available water for varying durations (seasonal, inter-annual and decal) and frequencies (Reis et al., 2017; Chatanga, 2019; Zhang et al., 2020). Wetlands experience periodic flood inundation, which exhibits changes in the spatial distribution and temporal duration (Zhao et al., 2015). They occur in different landscapes across the globe and occupy approximately 9.2 million km<sup>2</sup>, with 1.3 million km<sup>2</sup> being found in Africa (Melendez-Pastor et al., 2010; Rebelo et al., 2010; Kabiri et al., 2020). Only 146 wetlands in Africa have been recognised by the Ramsar Convention as having international importance (Gardner et al. 2018; Xu et al. 2019); however, unprotected (small) wetlands that support neighbouring and predominantly rural communities are continuously being ignored. Small wetlands are productive ecosystems that serve the impoverished communities in developing regions, especially in sub-Saharan Africa (Rebelo et al., 2010; Marambanyika et al., 2017). Because of their ecological complexity, wetlands contribute in a diverse way (socially, economically, aesthetically and ecologically) to the livelihoods of millions of people by providing several benefits (grazing, irrigation, agricultural practices and a water supply) (Rabelo et al., 2010). Small wetlands support the livelihoods of many more rural and poor households than the large wetlands under the Ramsar Convention. NIVERSITY of the

Despite their vast expanse and benefits for sustaining human well-being, many wetlands remain threatened by anthropogenic activities and environmental change. Anthropogenic land use activities complicate the functionality of ecosystems and reduce the spatial extent of the existing small wetlands. Anthropogenic land use change, such as rural-urban expansion and rapid population growth, put more pressure on these systems, which results in their deterioration, in terms of their spatial extent (Brody, 2013). Farmers in developing regions depend extensively on unprotected wetlands for subsistence agricultural purposes which, in turn, have a cumulative impact on the catchment hydrology. Verhoeven and Setter (2010) demonstrated that farmers degrade wetland ecosystems by converting large portions of wetland into agricultural fields, due to their fertile and rich soil, the extent of inundation, as well as their water availability. The over-extraction of water for irrigation purposes drains the spatial extent of wetlands and hampers the hydrological regime, which results in a shift of dominant vegetation, by reducing the species frequency, their richness and evenness, as well

as the loss of sensitive species (Elton *et al.*, 2011). In addition, the changing climatic conditions, such as the rising temperatures, changes in the rainfall patterns and evaporation, further influence the disruption of the wetland processes (a reduced inundation area and a loss of water through evapotranspiration). The rate of wetland degradation is further exacerbated by the lack of conservation skills and a lack of knowledge by wetlands users, on a local scale. However, where information is available, it is often geared towards the relatively large wetlands and there is less focus on understanding the value of smaller wetlands, probably because they are considered to be insignificant. A lack of up-to-date and reliable spatial information on wetland loss, degradation and fragmentation threatens the biodiversity and functioning of the ecosystem, which further complicates the management of wetland ecosystems. Therefore, the detection, mapping and monitoring of small wetlands provides the required baseline information for ecological restoration and conservation efforts.

Traditionally, wetland management efforts rely on non-periodic surveys that are costly and laborious, and consequently, their application lacks spatial representation; it therefore becomes challenging for continuous monitoring, particularly in relatively small areas. To alleviate these limitations, remotely-sensed data have since emerged as the most suitable primary data source for mapping and monitoring wetlands conditions at varying spatial scales. By using remotely-sensed data, the LULC changes and their associated impacts on small wetland ecosystems can be traced and quantified. Given the scarcity of ground data or the lack of data access, due to institutional restrictions, remotely-sensed data therefore provide unique opportunities for wetland monitoring, particularly in data-scarce environments.

#### 1.2. The Remote Sensing of Small Wetland Ecosystems

Remote sensing has been a valuable tool for evaluating land use and land cover (LULC) change since the 1960's (Taramelli *et al.*, 2010; Tiner, 2015). Several satellite sensors, with varying spatial and temporal resolutions, have been widely used for the modeling and monitoring of LULC changes (Wang *et al.*, 2012; Sun *et al.*, 2014; Watson *et al.*, 2014), wetland areas (Dronova *et al.*, 2015; Mizuochi *et al.*, 2017; Dzurume *et al.*, 2021), invasive aquatic plant species (Thamaga and Dube, 2019), hydrological dynamics (Hiyama *et al.*, 2017; Xie *et al.*, 2015; Mondal and Pal, 2018), vegetation abundance and productivity (Lumbierres *et al.*, 2017), as well as the carbon cycle and climate warming in wetland environments (Raymond *et al.*, 2013; Kreplin *et al.*, 2021). Other studies have reviewed

remote sensing applications on wetland ecosystems and addressed issues of wetland degradation, classification, change detection, as well as vegetation abundance and productivity (Gxokwe et al., 2020; Thamaga et al., 2021). The use of remotely-sensed data and modelling techniques is critical for assessing the effects of LULC transformation on freshwater resources in data-scarce watersheds. Long-term hydrological monitoring is essential for evaluating the human and environmental impacts and wetland health, which are critical for their management and restoration. The spatial extent and temporal value of wetlands need to be understood well, since they determine their usage and contribute to human livelihood profiles and conservation. This knowledge is critical in decision-making and can reduce the unsustainable use of wetland ecosystems (Turpie, 2010). Although studies have shown the capabilities of remote sensing in the monitoring and mapping of wetlands, the focus has been directed mostly on larger wetlands that have been designated by the Ramsar Convention, while neglecting the small wetland ecosystems, despite them playing a critical role in developing regions. Using newly-developed satellite sensors, such as Landsat and Sentinel data, for the monitoring and assessment of small wetland ecosystems provides new opportunities for understanding their ecohydrological dynamics. Several studies have demonstrated the strength of newly-launched satellite images in the characterisation, mapping and monitoring of various species (Dube and Mutanga, 2015a; Thamaga and Dube, 2019). For example, Thamaga et al. (2019) observed the capabilities of Sentinel-2 MSI data in mapping and monitoring seasonal aquatic invasive alien plant species, with a high classification accuracy. Due to improvements in the new satellite sensors, they are perceived to provide avenues for the monitoring and mapping of small wetland ecosystems (ecosystem change, vegetation diversity and productivity, hydrological dynamics), which was previously difficult to accomplish with broadband satellite sensors.

### 1.3. Aims and Objectives

The main aim of this study is to assess and monitor the impacts of Land Use and Land Cover (LULC) change on the productivity and hydrological condition of wetlands, using remote sensing and geospatial analytics.

The objectives of this study are as follows:

 (i) to provide an overview of remote sensing application in wetland ecosystems and to assess the impacts of LULC change on wetlands;

- (ii) to evaluate the state of the environment of small wetland ecosystems and to estimate the remaining percentage of wetlands in the Limpopo Transboundary River Basin;
- (iii) to quantify the species diversity in wetlands in the Limpopo Transboundary River Basin as a proxy of the wetland conditions, using a remotely-sensed dataset; and
- (iv) to monitor the impacts of LULC on the wetland hydrological dynamics of the Limpopo Transboundary River Basin.

### **1.4.** Structure of the Research

This thesis consists of seven chapters. Apart from the first chapter, which focuses on the general introduction, and the last chapter, which contains a synthesis of the research work, this thesis consists of four stand-alone papers (Chapter 2, 3, 4 and 5). The review paper (Chapter 2) published, two (Chapter 3 and 4) manuscript are accepted and one manuscript under review in different journals and they answer each objective in this study. Therefore, each paper is comprised of an individual Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results and Discussion section. The published chapters have their own style, according to the publishing journal. Although attempts were made to conform to a general style in the thesis, there may be some overlapping and repetition in some of the sections.

**Chapter One:** This chapter provides a general overview of the research background and it outlines the objectives and structure of the thesis.

**Chapter Two:** Information on the state-of-the-art methods in optical imagery for the successful detection of surface water are combined and presented in this chapter.

**Chapter Three:** This chapter evaluates the capability of Landsat datasets in detecting and mapping the state of the Maungani wetland ecosystem. The information of the wetlands has changed over time (1983-2019) and was extracted by using Landsat datasets and the Support Vector Machine (SVM).

**Chapter Four:** Integrated Sentinel-2 MSI datasets and species diversity indices i.e. Margalef, Pielou, Shannon-Wiener and Simpson, are used to model the wetland vegetation species diversity and productivity in this chapter.

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

**Chapter Five:** This chapter assessed the wetland ecohydrological dynamics using monthly (July 2020-June 2021) Sentinel-2 MSI datasets and spectral indices i.e. the Normalised Differences Moisture Index (NDMI), the Normalised Difference Phenology Index (NDPI) and the Modified Normalised Difference Water Index (MNDWI). Climate data i.e. rainfall, temperature and evapotranspiration were used to assess the extent of water coverage and inundation.

**Chapter Six:** This chapter synthesises and consolidates the findings, the discussions and the overall conclusions of the four preceding chapters. Based on the limitations pointed out in the study, this chapter also makes recommendations (perspectives) for future research. Lastly, the Reference List is provided to acknowledge the work of other authors that was used in this thesis.



### CHAPTER TWO

## ADVANCES IN SATELLITE REMOTE SENSING OF THE WETLAND ECOSYSTEMS IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA



This chapter is based on:

Thamaga K.H., Dube, T., Shoko, C., 2021. Advances in satellite remote sensing of the wetland ecosystems in sub-Saharan Africa. *Geocarto International*, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/10106049.2021.1926552.

#### Abstract

Wetlands are highly-productive systems that act as habitats for a variety of fauna and flora. Despite their ecohydrological significance, wetland ecosystems are under severe threat from the global environmental changes, as well as from the pressure of anthropogenic activities. Such changes result in severe disturbances in the composition of plant species, their spatial distribution, productivity and diversity, as well as their ability to offer critical ecosystem goods and services. However, wetland degradation varies considerably from place to place, with severe degradation occurring in developing regions, especially in sub-Saharan Africa. This is due to poor management practices, which lead to their under-utilization and the overreliance on them for livelihoods. The lack of monitoring and assessment in this region has therefore led to the lack of a consolidated and detailed understanding of the rate of wetland loss. For example, the lack of up-to-date and reliable spatially-explicit information further complicates the management of wetland ecosystems in semi-arid tropical environments. To monitor, understand and document the wetland degradation rate, it remains imperative that remote sensing is used for the accurate estimation and precise mapping of present and historical information. Similarly, there is a need to develop robust methodologies to precisely assess and monitor wetland degradation, the ecohydrological processes and the condition of wetlands over space and time. This work, therefore, provides a comprehensive overview of the remote sensing applications that are used for the monitoring and mapping of wetland ecosystems. It also highlights the strengths and challenges associated with the use of satellite data for the purpose of wetland monitoring. The spatially-explicit and periodic information offered by satellite remote sensing provides a unique opportunity for documenting and understanding wetlands, the ecohydrological processes and the environmental conditions.

**Keywords:** Human influence; remote sensing; satellite data; spatial resolution; species diversity; wetland degradation; wetland productivity

#### 2.1 Introduction

Wetlands are distinctive, complex ecohydrological systems that occur within a wide range of climatic and topographical environments. They constitute one of the world's most productive and important natural resources. Wetlands fall under central public management and they are recognized as an integral part of a productive ecosystem that is capable of supporting the 2030 UN Agenda on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (Kakuba and Kanyamurwa, 2021). The wetland hydrophytic vegetation species, hydromorphic soil and hydrology are a critical part of wetland ecosystems, and they contribute towards the provision of fundamental goods and services. For instance, wetlands offer food and a habitat for species, they maintain the water quality, they recharge the aquifers and control soil erosion, climate regulation and carbon storage (McCartney et al., 2010; Adam et al., 2012; Wood et al., 2013; Meli et al., 2014; Scott et al., 2014; Sieben et al., 2016). They also provide a wide variety of goods for local communities, including reeds for weaving, grazing for domestic stock and services to downstream consumer facilities, such as flood attenuation and nutrient retention (Mutanga et al., 2012; Dadson et al., 2017; Mahdavi et al., 2017). In sub-Saharan Africa, wetlands are predominantly significant sources of forage for livestock, which support the livelihoods for most rural communities, as well as for the vast wildlife populations (Marambanyika and Beckedahl, 2016). Despite covering 6% of the earth's surface, wetlands offer about 40% of the regulatory services (Marambanyika and Beckedahl, 2016; Reis et al., 2017). However, not all wetland ecosystems provide regulatory services; their unique wetland services depend on the type of wetland and their location and positioning within a catchment (Hu et al., 2017; Slagter et al., 2020). Due to their response to climate variability, precipitation, evapotranspiration and anthropogenic activities, the surface water level and groundwater recharge in wetland ecosystems vary seasonally.

Despite their associated ecohydrological benefits, the quantity and quality of wetlands are vulnerable to changes, as a result of the intensified anthropogenic and natural global changes (Sieben *et al.*, 2016; Sutton *et al.*, 2016; Xie *et al.*, 2017; Bhaga *et al.*, 2020; Novoa *et al.*, 2020). The ongoing transformation and alterations in the landscape, due to global warming, urban development and agricultural expansion, significantly affect their ecological attributes. For example, the Ngiri-Tumba-Maindombe in the western Congo Basin, in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, is apparently under threat due to pressure from the rapid population growth and illegal activities that have led to the over-exploitation of wetland resources (Xu *et al.*, 2019). On the other hand, land use and land cover changes alter the hydrological

processes, thus influencing the flow regime, aquifer recharge and water storage within the catchment (de Medeiros *et al.*, 2019). The remaining portions of the wetland are exposed to a wide range of stress-inducing changes i.e. infrastructure development, hydrological changes, excess nutrient inputs and invasive species (Oliver-Cabrera and Wdowinski, 2016; Hu *et al.*, 2017). These cause a dramatic reduction and deterioration of the natural landscape, which, in turn, complicate the functionality of wetlands and have significant repercussions that are amplified in their ecological, socioeconomic and cultural benefits (Hu *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, in order to safeguard their ecohydrological systems, it is critical to understand the threats to wetland ecosystems, their characteristics, their species diversity (richness and evenness), as well as their productivity, soil and hydrology.

There is a growing interest in developing new operational frameworks, as well as spatiallyexplicit and sound tools, to assess the wetland health conditions. Having accurate information, by monitoring the wetland status, is therefore the first step in determining the ecological integrity of a wetland. Dennison et al. (1993) highlighted that wetland vegetation remains an exceptional indicator for the first signs of any biophysical or chemical degradation in a wetland environment. However, the characterization of the spatial patterns and the extent of wetlands is often challenging, due to their heterogeneous nature (Szantoi et al., 2013). Previous studies used traditional methodologies, based on ground-based measurements, to assess and monitor wetland ecosystems, for example, the wetland hydrology, the soil, the species richness and evenness, the species composition and the aboveground biomass (Luo et al., 2017). These measurements were recognized as the most direct and accurate method of assessing and monitoring wetland ecosystems and their diversity. Although the traditional approaches provide the most accurate results, these methods are generally not effective, due to their limited spatial representation. Similarly, the inherent distribution and composition of heterogeneous species (Szantoi et al., 2013) are very difficult to capture. In addition, these techniques are time-consuming, labour-intensive and costly, besides being difficult to carry out effectively to assess the spatial extent of wetlands, especially across large areas over time (Psomas et al., 2011; Adam et al., 2012; Han et al., 2015; Orimoloye et al., 2018). Therefore, the derived wetland information lacks the required spatial and temporal representation, and hence there is a limited understanding of the dynamics of soil, water and wetland vegetation within these ecosystems. It is important to track wetland ecosystems on a spatial and periodic basis, as this offers comprehensive information that can lead to the sustainable conservation of ecosystem services.

The availability of automated, reliable and near-real-time remotely-sensed data has emerged as the most critical data source for gathering spatially-explicit information on the condition, distribution and spatial configuration of wetland ecosystems, both on a local and a global scale. The spatial distribution of wetlands varies at different times and can be analysed with the aid of multi-spectral and hyperspectral remote sensing satellite images, such as Landsat, MODIS, SPOT and RapidEye. Some of these images have high spectral and spatial characteristics, which enable the enhanced monitoring and mapping of wetland ecosystem characteristics. When compared to conventional labour-intensive field investigations, remote sensing information not only saves time, but it also enhances the prospect of characterizing wetland species through spectral and texture analytics (Vasconcelos et al., 2002; Kokaly et al., 2003; Roberts et al., 2003). Recent advances in remote sensing data have shown their high potential for examining land use and land cover changes that threaten the functioning and services provided by wetland ecosystems (Pettorelli et al., 2017). In addition, advances in sensor technology have contributed to the acquisition of freely-available satellite imagery, such as the Sentinel dataset. For example, Sentinel-2 MSI is characterized by a finer spatial resolution (10 m) and a higher spectral resolution (13 spectral bands including red edge strategic bands), which are essential for the extraction of wetland ecosystem characteristics, with varying geographical coverage (285 km) for the evaluation of wetland dynamics (Truus, 2011; Adelabu et al., 2014; Orimoloye et al., 2018). Remote sensing technology allows for repetitive image acquisitions over the same area that are required for the detection of temporal changes and patterns in wetland ecosystems. For instance, Sentinel-2 offers remotely-sensed data at a high revisit frequency of between five and nineteen days.

In the light of the advantages associated with the use of remotely-sensed data, researchers in sub-Saharan Africa have used both passive optical sensors and active sensors to map and delineate the spatial distribution of wetlands, in order to understand their status under the changing environmental and anthropogenic pressures. Knowing the past and current distribution of small wetlands in sub-Saharan Africa could help to understand their development, or the trends and improvements, as well as their contribution to ecosystem goods and services. In addition, it is critical for obtaining the status of degradation, vegetation cover, species diversity, water level, erosivity, and the rate of sedimentation, in order to ensure informed decision-making for proper wetland protection and restoration programs (Davidson *et al.*, 2018; Gxokwe *et al.*, 2020). However, major attempts are now being made

to integrate geospatial data products (i.e. water, soil moisture and vegetation) into various land surface models to enhance the monitoring and evaluation of wetland ecosystems.

This work provides a comprehensive overview of remote sensing applications for the monitoring and mapping of wetland ecosystems (wetland vegetation, species diversity, productivity, hydrology, soil), and it highlights the strengths and challenges associated with the use of satellite data. To meet the above-mentioned aim, related literature information was acquired from wetland, ecology, water and remote sensing journals. Numerous keywords and expressions are used, including the following: 'wetland', 'water-level monitoring', 'wetland hydrological processes', 'wetland-catchment linkage', 'hydrological modelling', 'hydrophytic vegetation', 'vegetation diversity', 'biodiversity', 'species richness and evenness', 'wetland productivity', 'wetland plant species', 'aboveground biomass (AGB)', 'remote sensing', 'satellite data' and 'Synthetic Aperture Radar' (SAR).

In order to retrieve information during literature search, articles published in international peer-reviewed journals were selected via the relevant search engines. These included the following: the 'ISI Web of Science', 'Google Scholar', 'Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing', 'GIScience and Remote Sensing', 'Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation', 'IEEE Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing', 'SCOPUS', 'Wetland Ecology', 'Hydrology', 'Ecology', 'Ecohydrology and Hydrobiology', 'African Ecology' and other internationally-recognized remote sensing and wetland science journals. Due to a limited number of studies on remote sensing applications, particularly in the sub-Saharan region, the review was not limited to a specific criterion. Consequently, all studies that utilized remote sensing for wetland monitoring and assessment were considered.

#### 2.2 Geographical Distribution of Wetland Ecosystems

Globally, wetlands occupy an area of nearly 9.2 million km<sup>2</sup>, with 1.3 million km<sup>2</sup> of these are found in Africa (Melendez-Pastor *et al.*, 2010; Rebelo *et al.*, 2010; Kabiri *et al.*, 2020). Finlayson *et al.* (2011) also showed that estimates of the spatial extent of wetlands across the world, including Africa, differ across various studies, due to the different definitions of wetlands and the approaches that are used to delineate them. The common types of wetland found in sub-Saharan Africa include dambos, lakes, reservoirs, freshwater marshes, floodplains, swampy forests, flooded forests, coastal wetlands, pans, brackish/saline wetlands and intermittent wetlands (Gxokwe *et al.*, 2020). These wetlands vary according to the

topography or landscape characteristics and climatic regimes, and they support diverse and unique wetland habitats (Space Applications Centre (SAC) 2011; Rebelo et al., 2017). Xu et al. (2019) highlighted that about 2 303 of global wetlands are designated under the Ramsar Convention. They are referred to as wetlands of international importance (Ramsar Secretariat, 2013) and are unevenly distributed in different parts of the world (Figure 2.1). As shown in Figure 2.1, Europe has the largest number of sites, with a total of 1 004 occupying 44% of the Ramsar sites, 397 (17%) are in Africa, 146 (6%) in South America, 368 (16%) in Asia, 309 (13%) in North America and 79 (4%) in the Oceania region (Rebelo et al., 2010; Ramsar Secretariat, 2013; Davidson et al., 2018; Gardner et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2019). Despite the number of wetlands designated under the Ramsar Convention, there are many other small and unprotected wetlands that potentially perform an incredible function for their neighbouring communities, but they are continuously ignored in the policy process. As a result, some of these wetlands have already been threatened, degraded and lost, due to uncontrolled activities, both natural and anthropogenic. According to the National Biodiversity Assessment for South Africa (NBASA), which was carried out in 2011, wetlands occupy only 2.4% of the country's total area. However, 48% of these ecosystems are critically endangered, 12% are endangered, 5% are vulnerable, while 35% are the least affected (MacFarlane et al., 2014).



Figure 2.1 Global wetland distribution designated under Ramsar (Xu et al., 2019)

#### 2.3 Factors influencing Wetland Degradation

Wetlands have a long history of transformation, destruction and degradation. Estimates suggest that about 50% of the global wetland areas have been degraded in the 20<sup>th</sup> century (Jogo and Hassan, 2010; van Dam et al., 2013). The remaining wetlands are under threat from anthropogenic activities and the impact of climate change, despite robust regulations for their protection and conservation or restoration (TEEB, 2013). Literature demonstrates that there are multiple factors that degrade wetland ecosystems and maintain their survival. The anthropogenic factors include agriculture, reclamation, water use, infrastructure development, environmental pollution and the unsustainable use of wetland resources (Ramsar Convention Secretariat (RCS), 2010; Vörösmarty et al., 2010; van Asselen et al., 2013; Gardner et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2019). Such factors affect the hydrology, soil, species diversity, productivity and composition of wetlands (Klemas, 2013). Gardner et al. (2018) stated that pollution caused by population growth and socio-economic development is a major factor leading to their degradation and loss. Rebelo et al. (2010) showed that a gradual cause of wetland destruction is primarily the need for flat, fertile land with a water supply, to be used for agricultural purposes (both for cultivation and livestock production). These studies concur with the work conducted by Slagter et al. (2020), who found that South Africa has lost, and continues to lose, wetlands due to dam construction, overgrazing, pollution, crop production, urbanization, erosion, development and the poor management of land resources. The loss of connective rivers also contributes to the rate of wetland degradation (IPCC, 2013; Tiner et al., 2015; Oliver-Cabrera and Wdowinski, 2016). TERN CAPE WES

Climate change is also a major threat to wetlands, particularly changes in the rainfall patterns and global warming (Boon *et al.*, 2016). These changes result in significant biodiversity configurations and wetland biochemical processes, which are quite variable over space and time, both on a local and a global scale (Dawson *et al.*, 2011; Bellard *et al.*, 2012). The rising temperatures may aid the invasion of warmer-water species into older zones and these species out-compete the dominant species. Climate change is also considered to be a cause for habitat destruction, a shift in species composition and habitat degradation in the existing wetlands (Titus *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, acute pollution and siltation have exaggerated these sensitive systems in recent times (van Asselen *et al.*, 2013; Li *et al.*, 2014).

It has been estimated that much wetland acreage from the existing inland and coastal marshes has been lost since the early 1900s, with about 56% to 65% having been lost through the

conversion to agricultural production in Europe and North America, 27% in Asia and 6% in South America (Prigent et al., 2012), while China has lost about 23% of its freshwater swamps, 16.1% of its lakes, 15.3% of its rivers and 51.2% of its coastal wetlands (Niu et al., 2012). In Africa, a notable decrease in wetland areas has also been observed. For example, in Tanzania, the extent of wetlands has shrunk by 18% (Nguyen et al., 2017). In other parts of the African continent, estimates of the degraded wetland acreage are a challenge and still rudimentary, due to the lack of historical documentation and monitoring of these ecosystems (Marambanyika and Beckedahl, 2016; Grenfell et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Stephenson et al., 2020). The decrease in the extent and quality of wetlands has caused many populations of wetland-dependent species to decline (Zhang et al., 2020). Although other strategies are in place to protect them, many wetland ecosystems still suffer from degradation through eutrophication, reduced water availability, as well as the impacts of weeds and pests (Gopal, 2016). Other major causes of wetland destruction, more specifically in sub-Saharan Africa, are mainly due to the lack of awareness of planners, natural resource managers and wetland users (Ellery et al., 2003). A lack of conformity between government policies in the areas of economics, environment, biodiversity conservation and development planning are one of the reasons for the continued degradation of these systems (Turner et al., 2000), while a lack of action taken to conserve wetlands, as well as poor governance and management, further complicate the management strategies (Kumar et al., 2013). The monitoring of wetland hydrology, soil and vegetation is becoming a major concern, due to the rise in anthropogenic activities in wetlands.

WESTERN CAPE

### 2.4 The Role of Remote Sensing Applications in Wetland Ecosystem Mapping

Since the 1960s, remote sensing observations, in particular satellite imagery, have served as the most useful tool for gathering information on land cover change or mapping features in wetland regions, on climate warming in wetland ecosystems, on species diversity and productivity and on hydrological processes in wetlands (O'Grady and Leblanc, 2014; Prospere *et al.*, 2014; Brisco *et al.*, 2015; Tiner *et al.*, 2015; Guo *et al.*, 2017). Remotely-sensed datasets and approaches provide frequent data with varying footprints and resolutions, which are more a practical and economical means for addressing the issues of wetland identification, delineation, classification, hydrophytic vegetation or biomass, hydromorphic soil, hydrology and vegetation characteristics, productivity and density (Mansour *et al.*, 2013). Literature gathered from peer-reviewed remote sensing journals shows that remote sensing applications have progressed remarkably over the years, due to technological

advances that have led to efficient data processing (Figure 2.2) in the mapping and quantification of wetland ecosystems (i.e. forested wetlands or swamps, marshes) in sub-Saharan Africa. Most of these studies have focused mainly on wetland ecosystems that are designated under the Ramsar Convention, but they have neglected the small or unprotected wetlands, which serve their neighbouring communities. There has been an increase in the application of remote sensing for wetlands under Ramsar ( $r^2 = 0.88$ ), compared to those that are non-Ramsar sites ( $r^2 = 0.66$ ). This highlights the fact that limited studies use remote sensing for small wetland ecosystems, which provide a lifeline for rural communities, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa (Guo et al., 2017; Osorio et al., 2020; White et al., 2020). The reason for this is because, in most cases, the smaller wetlands, when compared to image spatial resolutions, largely result in spectral mixing, and hence, there is a failure to derive accurate and highly-informative information, particularly from coarse resolution or broadband satellite images, like MODIS. Progress in remote sensing data usage (from aerial photography to multispectral scanners) in the mapping and monitoring of wetlands ecosystems is thus linked to the availability of freely-accessible satellite images (i.e. Landsat, Sentinel), as well as the recent technological capabilities (improved spatial, spectral and temporal resolution) that can rapidly detect and map wetlands on a large scale. Most of the studies conducted in Africa have used the multispectral remote sensing datasets. These new cutting-edge technologies substitute the use of aerial photographs, which are not practically possible for acquiring information from large areas (Thamaga and Dube, 2019). Therefore, based on the literature that was examined, most of the wetland studies used aerial photographs and the Landsat and MODIS datasets (Landmann et al., 2010; Adam et al., 2012; Hladik and Alber, 2012; Mutanga et al., 2012; Tiner et al., 2015; Guo and Guo, 2016; Gxokwe et al., 2020). These sensors (Figures 2.3 and 2.4) were mainly applied in mapping and monitoring the extent of wetlands, the impacts of LULC, as well as for wetland classification. However, the use of remote sensing for determining wetland vegetation, soil and hydrology, remains understudied.



Figure 2.2 Progress of remote sensing publications in mapping wetland ecosystems in Africa

Previous studies have confirmed the effectiveness of satellite remote sensing tools for wetland monitoring and classification (Berlanga-Robles *et al.*, 2011; Rapinel *et al.*, 2015; Mahdianpari *et al.*, 2018). These approaches have effectively addressed the large-scale historical challenges for managing and mapping wetlands synoptically, compared to conventional approaches (e.g. accessibility and repeatability), which are time-consuming and labour-intensive. Given the capability of the sensors to collect synoptic observations more often, remote sensing techniques have become effective in studying, identifying and quantifying wetland ecosystems (i.e. plant species, diversity and productivity, as well as hydrological estimation) (Li *et al.*, 2013; Han *et al.*, 2015; Lou *et al.*, 2016; Pande-Chhetri *et al.*, 2017; Chen *et al.*, 2018), from small- to large-scale projects with spatially-continuous coverage, from several satellite datasets (Kuenzer *et al.*, 2011; Tiner *et al.*, 2015). Nevertheless, remotely-sensed satellite datasets (Table 2.1) with varying spatial resolutions of less than 10 m to several kilometres have been used globally to detect wetland ecosystems (Laba *et al.*, 2010; Betbeder *et al.*, 2015; Liu and Abd-Elrahman, 2018).



Figure 2.3 The number of satellite images used to the study wetland ecosystem



Figure 2.4 Monitoring and mapping wetlands using remotely sensed data

Sensor	Spectral bands	GSD (m)	Description	Swath- width (km)	Frequency (days)	Cost of image acquisition (US \$/km <sup>2</sup> )
Landsat Thematic Mapper (TM)	7	30 120	Band (1-5 & 7) Band 6	185	26	Free
Landsat Enhanced Thematic Mapper plus (ETM+)	8	30 15	Band (1-7) Band 8	185	18	Free
MODIS	36	250 500 1000	Band (1-2) Band (3-7) Band (8-36)	2330	1-2	Free
Sentinel-2	13	10 20 60	Band (2,3,4 & 8) Band (5, 6, 7, 8a, 11 and 12) Band (1,9 & 10)	290	5	free
RapidEye Système Pour I'Observation de	5	5	All bands	77	1 (off nadir) / 5.5 (nadir)	US \$1.28
la Terre 5 (SPOT 5) High-Resolution Stereoscopic (HRS) High Resolution Geometric (HRG) Vegetation (VGT)	5	10	Band (1-3)	60	2.5	US \$5.15
Quickbird	5	20 2.40	Band 4 All multi-spectral bands	16.8	1-3.5	US \$24
World View-2	8	2 0.48	All multi-spectral bands Panchromatic band	16.4	1.1	US \$28.5
World View-3	8	1.24 0.31	All multi-spectral bands Panchromatic	13.1	1	US \$29

Table 2.1	Remote sensing sensor specifications and associated acquisition cost per
	square meter

Broadband multispectral and hyperspectral images can be acquired with different characteristics that provide new insights or approaches for assessing wetlands. The availability of affordable and freely-accessible remote sensing data has marked a new beginning for the continuous mapping and comprehensive monitoring of wetland ecosystems. For instance, Landsat, which has a long history of spatial data archival, has been used in a variety of wetland studies, including wetland classification, mapping and change detection (Guo *et al.*, 2017). Long-term change detection enables researchers to better understand the trends and gradual changes of wetlands, to analyse the changing dynamics, and to protect the wetlands. Rebelo *et al.* (2010), Adam *et al.* (2012) and Gxokwe *et al.* (2020) have provided comprehensive reviews of remote sensing datasets and methods for wetland characterization. Overall, previous studies have also shown that the probability of satellite remote sensing is critical for detecting information on permanently flooded, or intermittently exposed and open water surfaces; however, a knowledge gap still exists, particularly on the mapping and monitoring of small wetlands (unprotected wetlands).

#### 2.5 Remotely-sensed Applications on Wetland Hydrology and Soil

Hydrology and hydromorphic soils sustain wetland ecosystems, but wetlands are being drained for irrigation purposes and dams have been constructed for drinking water. On the other hand, pollution in wetland ecosystems has affected the fertility of the soil, soil moisture and carbon sequestration, as well as the water quality, thereby exerting pressure on these systems (van Asselen et al., 2013; de Klein and van der Werf, 2014; Xiaolong et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2015; Were et al., 2019). Remote sensing data provide an effective and efficient tool for detecting the extent of the water bodies and the quality of the soil. MODIS, with its high temporal resolution, has shown its significant advantages in mapping the extent and changes in wetlands over time (Ordoyne and Friedl, 2008). In North-Central Namibia, Mizuochi et al. (2017) identified the surface water distribution by using the Modified Normalised Difference Water Index (MNDWI) of the MODIS image and the Normalized Difference Polarization Index (NDPI) of the Advanced Microwave Scanning Radiometer Observing System (AMSR-E). On the other hand, Zoffoli et al. (2008) used AVHRR NDVI to analyse the seasonal and annual wetland changes over time and showed that NDVI can provide useful information on the wetland surface water. Klein et al. (2015) mapped open water bodies daily, by using the MODIS time series data and the threshold technique, which depicts the annual water changes. Frazier et al. (2003) used Landsat images to assess and describe the relationship between flow regulation and the inundation of flood plain wetlands before and after flood occurrence. The results of their study highlighted that river regulation could reduce the duration and frequency of inundation. Other sensors, such as Sentinel and SPOT, have been employed to examine wetland hydrological regimes and to map the extent of wetlands at various scales, with satisfactory results (Davranche et al., 2010, 2013; Muro et al., 2016; Xing et al., 2018; Bhatnagar et al., 2020; Slagter et al., 2020). Indices, such as the Land Surface Water Index (LSWI) and the NDWI, have been extensively used to improve accuracies. For instance, the LSWI is known to be sensitive to the total amount of liquid water in the vegetation and the associated soil background. Using hydrological models, such as the Soil Water Assessment Tool (SWAT), HECRAS and Geo-rus, together with satellite data, the soil and climatic information seems to be promising for assessing the wetland hydrology, as well as the soil quality and quantity.

#### 2.6 Wetland Plant Species Characterization

Remote sensing has the ability to analyse, map and monitor wetland plant species at all scales, using various satellite datasets. Ecologically-based studies have demonstrated the
benefits of using multi-remote sensing sensors (both active and passive) include providing a wide range of data at varying resolutions and having the ability to extract various physiological, chemical and phenological characteristics of a species, in order to determine wetland plant species (Ustin and Gamon, 2010; Pau et al., 2013). The retrieved information, using remotely-sensed data, provides spatially-explicit data on the dynamics, structure, annual precipitation, hydrological pathways and local physiological cycle of wetland species (Gallant, 2015). In addition, remote sensing techniques provide information on inaccessible areas, which cannot be accessed during field surveys, and this contributes to the enhanced estimation of the wetland plant species and to understanding and identifying the key factors that have an impact on wetland biodiversity and biomass. The method of remote sensing for estimating the vegetation in wetland ecosystems has not been used in much detail, especially in developing regions. The detection, delineation and mapping of wetland plant species remains a challenge with multispectral satellite imagery, due to the lack of spatial resolution of most satellites, with respect to the small and sharp vegetation units that are present within wetland ecosystems (Brisco et al., 2017). Therefore, the spectral mixing of several vegetation species in various proportions, using multispectral imagery, remains a challenge (Zomer et al., 2009). Moreover, the use of wide spectral bands from coarse multispectral imagery for mapping wetland species remains difficult, due to the spectral overlap among species, since healthy vegetation species typically show similar spectral responses in the visible and nearinfrared region, due to the similarities and limited basic components that contribute to their spectral reflection.

WESTERN CAPE

#### 2.6.1 The mapping of wetland vegetation using remote sensing data

Wetland vegetation can be used to reflect the status of wetland ecosystems, and biomass estimates can provide basic information about a particular wetland. Having a knowledge of the wetland plant species types, productivity and diversity is key, in terms of the planning, conservation and protection of the ecosystem functions. Spatially-explicit information on wetland vegetation is retrieved from satellite imagery and serves as the baseline evidence that is needed for the monitoring and assessment of the status and health of wetlands. Wilen *et al.* (2002) noted that satellite remote sensing images offer much better results of the wetland plant species. Hence, these could be critically used for the prioritization of different purposes, including planning, environmental impact assessments, wetland assessment and monitoring, the detection of alien plant species, the water flow and level, rehabilitation, and the analysis of trends in the wetland status, in order to enhance the conservation of wetland ecosystems

(Wilen et al., 2002; Zheng et al., 2014). Mutanga and Skidmore (2004), Zheng et al. (2014) and Wu et al. (2018) highlighted the fact that the estimation, monitoring and mapping of wetland species biomass (aboveground biomass) is required for studying nutrient allocation, species diversity, productivity and the carbon cycle. Furthermore, Mutanga and Skidmore (2004) and Adam et al., (2012) emphasized that, despite the wetlands exhibiting discrete light-reflectance characteristics centred in the visible or infrared region of the Electromagnetic Spectrum Radiation (EMR), achievements in estimating the biochemical and biophysical parameters in some ecosystems have revealed that the remaining challenges are strongly affected by water, atmospheric conditions and soil. The use of vegetation indices, such as NDVI, EVI and NDWI, offers opportunities that can supersede the effects of the soil background, the atmospheric composition and the zenith angle effects, while improving the vegetation signal, when estimating wetland plant species (Mutanga et al., 2012; Ramoelo et al., 2015; Sibanda et al., 2015). The high-resolution vegetation mapping of wetland complexes, with accurate distribution and population estimates for different functional plant species, can be used to analyse the vegetation dynamics, to quantify the spatial patterns of vegetation evolution, to analyse the effects of environmental changes on vegetation and to predict the spatial configuration of species diversity.

#### 2.6.2 Mapping species diversity in wetland environments

Many predominantly upland regions encompass small patches of wetland habitats, which hold great potential for the conservation of biological diversity; however, these areas have received little recognition (Nicolet, 2003; de Meester *et al.*, 2005). These wetlands can contribute disproportionately to the landscape-level diversity, since they often have high levels of species richness (alpha diversity) and spatial variations in community composition (beta diversity) (Tiner, 2003; de Meester *et al.*, 2005). Wet habitation patches that are surrounded by uplands, support unique species assemblages, which are different from those of large-scale wetlands (Nicolet, 2003; de Meester *et al.*, 2005). These communities often include rare regional species, and they can serve wetland specialists in landscapes where major wetlands are being destroyed, degraded or absent (Nicolet, 2003). Few studies on the species diversity of small wetlands have focused on a single wetland category, such as seasonal pools with mineral soils, riparian areas in headwater streams (Hagan *et al.*, 2006) or groundwater seepage. The snapshots from a single image lack details. However, these wetlands often defy simple classification and the distinctions among wetland types remain largely arbitrary and inconsistent, with inherent differences in the wetland vegetation species

often resulting in spectral overlaps. To understand how small wetlands contribute to the plant diversity of regional species, we need to consider all the wet areas within a landscape and identify them, based on their vegetation composition. Different indices for determining species diversity have been developed. These include the widely-used Shannon-Wiener Index (H'), the Simpson diversity index (1-D), Fisher's alpha - a diversity index (a), the Menhinink richness index (DMn), the Margalef richness index (DMg) and the Sheldon (Buzas and Gibson) evenness index (E<sub>3</sub>) (Kent and Cocker, 1992; Barajas-Gea, 2005; Mitchell *et al.*, 2006; Janisova *et al.*, 2014; Caranqui *et al.*, 2016; Yaranga *et al.*, 2018). These indices can thus be used to quantify diversity of species within a wetland. Integrating the diversity indices with remotely-sensed data i.e. Landsat, Sentinel, Worldview, provides a better understanding of the condition of wetlands and their functioning, in general.

#### 2.6.3 Wetland productivity and assessment

Wetland productivity is the positive increase in the vegetation species biomass per unit. This not only reflects the condition of the vegetation, but it is a central variable for carbon cycling (Luyssaert et al., 2007). It was revealed in different studies (Cramer et al., 2001; Klemas, 2013; Yin et al., 2017) that wetland productivity changes in the volume and measure of prospective resource products have received attention from a rising number of researchers in the context of global change. Wetland productivity is also a function of climate variability and hydrological fluctuations. For example, fluctuations in the water table provide a better understanding of wetland conditions and their functioning, in general, with increased climate variability strongly affecting wetland vegetation productivity. Work by Rivera-Monroy et al. (2019) highlighted the fact that the Louisiana Wetland in the Gulf of Mexico has lost 4 900 km<sup>2</sup> of wetland area since the early 1930s. Furthermore, the study showed that, despite the relevance of wetland biomass and the net primary productivity procedures in wetland ecosystems assessment, there is a lack of vegetation simulation models for forecasting the trends of biomass and productivity. A long-term overview of the wetland simulation models with remote sensing datasets can provide a better understanding of wetland plant productivity.

## 2.7 Analytical Algorithms for evaluating Wetland Ecosystems and Conditions, using Remote Sensing

Several algorithms and remotely-sensed datasets offer opportunities for classifying and quantifying wetland ecosystems. These algorithms can be broadly categorized into the

threshold method, an unsupervised and supervised classification, an object-based classification, a principal component analysis and a hybrid classification (Dronova et al., 2015; Villa et al., 2015; Liu and Abd-Elrahman, 2018). The Artificial Neural Network (ANN) (Kumar et al., 2013), Decision Tree (DT) (Khosravi et al., 2017), Random Forest (RF), CART and Support Vector Machine (SVM) (Xie et al., 2017) are also non-parametric supervised machine-learning techniques that are commonly used for land cover classification. In addition, digital data from satellite imagery enable efficient and rapid classifications by using automated methods that have been shown to improve the accuracy, rather than simple aerial photo interpretations (Tiner et al., 2015). The use of remote sensing techniques has been explored over large wetland regions. For instance, it has been applied in species and cover type assessments, canopy density or Leaf Area Index (LAI) estimations (Wang et al., 2012), biomass monitoring (Mutanga et al., 2012; Byrd et al., 2014) or on quantities related to plant productivity and stress (Amani et al., 2017). The newly-advanced methodologies, such as drones, the Google Earth Engine cloud-based platform and Artificial Intelligence (AI) have been adopted to understand wetland ecosystems around the world (Alonso et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2019). Wu et al. (2019) stated that moderate resolution satellite imagery cannot be used as a stand-alone method for wetland delineation; however, they integrated an automated approach to delineate the extent of wetland inundation at a watershed scale, using the Google Earth Engine. The outcomes of the algorithm not only delineated the current state of the wetland, but it also demonstrated critical information on the hydrological dynamics. Other studies used drone technology to assess the ecological integrity of wetlands. Diaz-Delgado et al. (2019) showed that derived thematic maps from drone data are a very valuable input for assessing the wetland hydrology, soil, habitat diversity, wetland health, dynamics and wetland productivity by wetland-related managers or researchers, as frequently as desired. These advanced algorithms are scalable for mapping and quantifying wetland inundation on a small and larger geographical scale. The integration of multispectral remote sensing imagery, together with automated algorithms, enhances image classification and also provides a practical, frequent and required framework, which plays a critical role in delineating the inundation dynamics of wetlands.

The increase in the use of remote sensing data in mapping wetland ecosystems is linked to their ability to offer a variety of new applications that can quickly and synoptically monitor and manage large areas. Table 2.2 shows the recent studies that have indicated that the use of satellite imagery provides the most reliable primary data for the detection, monitoring and

mapping of wetland ecosystems. For example, Nhamo *et al.* (2017) mapped wetlands in Mpumalanga by using Landsat 8 and the MODIS-based NDVI and found that the extent of the wetlands had declined by 19%. Nineteen percent of the degraded land has been mainly replaced by urban and agricultural development, which has affected the ecohydrological processes and functions. In a different study, Orimoloye *et al.* (2018) assessed the potential of Landsat data for understanding the status of the Isimangaliso Wetland in South Africa. The results obtained from the study showed that the extent of the wetland had shrunk from 655.416 km<sup>2</sup> (1987) to 429.489 km<sup>2</sup> (2017), and that an overall classification accuracy of 97.55% and a kappa coefficient of 0.941 were achieved. Berhane *et al.* (2019) showed that the integration of the machine-learning techniques, Landsat and Pleiade-1B, improved the mapping of wetland ecosystems, by obtaining an overall classification accuracy of 93%, with a Kappa coefficient of 0.92.

# 2.8 The Implications of the Remote Sensing of Wetland Vegetation and Productivity Mapping

Despite the robust and advanced remote sensing techniques and modelling algorithms, the spatial assessment of wetland ecosystems at various spatial scales remains a challenging task. This is primarily due to the heterogeneous nature of wetland ecosystems that are difficult to capture, especially when using broadband and coarse spatial resolution sensors. In addition, a high similarity of vegetation spectral characteristics has been noted, due to wetland fragmentation, which contributes to the confusion in species mapping (Corcoran *et al.*, 2013; Peimer *et al.*, 2017; Wu *et al.*, 2018). A major reason for this difficulty is that although each of the wetland species has several distinctive characteristics, they share some ecological and phenological similarities (Boon *et al.*, 2016) with non-wetland plant species (Henderson & Lewis, 2008). Therefore, this makes it difficult to spectrally distinguish some of the wetland plant species, when using remote sensing imagery (Amani *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, the accuracy of monitoring and assessing the impacts of LULC changes on wetland ecosystems is mainly limited by the imaging characteristics of remotely-sensed data, as well as the algorithms that have been developed by different studies or for a specific application scale.

Previous studies treated all vegetation communities as one single type, or they focused only on a short period (Dronova *et al.*, 2012; Chen *et al.*, 2014; Han *et al.*, 2015). Vegetation species vary and these variations influence their functions within a wetland. In this regard,

they generally view these species as a single type, which then masks considerable information that is critical for understanding the dynamics of wetland ecosystems. Wetland vegetation varies over time; hence, focusing on a particular period is inadequate for the implementation of sustainable regulations and policies for its conservation. Nevertheless, other researchers have attempted to adopt the long-term monitoring of wetland species. For example, Ballanti et al. (2017) used Landsat imagery to identify the changes within the watershed and wetland ecosystems in the Nisqually River Delta over a period of 58 years. Their findings revealed that the emergent marsh wetlands increased by 79% (188.4 ha) as a result of the rehabilitation strategies implemented in 2009. Furthermore, it was highlighted that, despite the wetland gains in 2009, 35% of the marsh wetland was lost between 1957 and 2015, due to the river shifting and the erosion patterns. A study by Son et al. (2015) used the Landsat dataset to identify the changes between 1979 and 2013 (a period of 34 years) in Vietnam. The results indicated that 16% of the wetland ecosystems were lost because of anthropogenic activities. In assessing the vegetation characteristics of the wetland, the study found that alien plant species dominated the wetland areas and demonstrated the critical role of remote sensing in wetland change detection, as well as for future monitoring. Although long-term data have been used in some studies to identify different vegetation communities, the phenological disparities between the different years that are associated with inter-annual water level changes were not considered (Chen et al., 2014; Gallant, 2015; Hu et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2018). The transition of different vegetation communities within a wetland over the years, remains largely unknown. Similarly, the processes or causes of these drastic changes are poorly documented, and consequently, high vegetation fragmentation is observed when classifying these wetland ecosystems (Henderson and Lewis, 2008).

In summary, wetlands have high intra-class and low inter-class variability, which makes their classification challenging. The use of advanced remote sensing images with an improved resolution, coupled with modelling techniques, can enhance the classification of wetland ecosystems. Furthermore, wetlands lack a defined boundary, and their borders are almost fuzzy, since they transition gradually from a wetland to other land cover classes, such as upland or open water, or even other types of wetlands (Dronova, 2015). In addition, the proximity of the ecotone to the wetlands is sometimes very narrow, which makes its detection or discrimination from wetlands difficult (Gallant, 2015). Therefore, the quality of the image interpretation and feature extraction methodologies in assessing wetlands should be considered (Dronova, 2015). Remote sensing satellite images are also restricted to a specific

spatial resolution, which might limit the detection of small wetlands (Ozesmi and Bauer, 2002). Despite these limitations, some notable research efforts have investigated applications of remote sensing data for regular wetland monitoring. There is a need to use freely-available sensors, such as Landsat and Sentinel, which have a high revisit time, that cover a large swath-width, that have an improved resolution and that are authoritative in solving the noted limitations relating to the monitoring, estimation and mapping of wetland ecosystems.



T 11 00	0 0		• • .1 1	,
Table 7.7	Summary of recent	remote sensing applications	in manning wefland	ecosystems
1 4010 2.2	Summary of recent	remote sensing uppreductions	m mapping wettand	ceosystems

Sensor(s)	Study	Image analysis technique(s)	Major findings	Reference
Pléiade-1B, Landsat-8	Wetlands along the Etrix River in North Xinjiang, China	Random forest (RF) Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI)	RF classifier achieved an overall accuracy of 93% with a Kappa coefficient of 0.92.	Tian <i>et al.</i> (2016)
Landsat TM, Landsat 8 OLI, Landsat 8 TIRS,	Isimangaliso Wetland – KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa	Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI)	Wetland extent shrunk from 655.416 Km <sup>2</sup> (1987) to 429.489 Km <sup>2</sup> (2017) during the study period. The study revealed that other land cover features increased from 2149.911 Km <sup>2</sup> to 2375.838 Km <sup>2</sup> in 1987 and 2017. The classified imagery managed to achieve an overall classification accuracy of 97.55% and a Kappa coefficient of 0.94. NDWI revealed that there is a depletion of water in the study area mainly due to environmental and human interferences.	Orimoloye <i>et al.</i> (2018)
RADARSAT-2, TerraSAR-x ALOS-1 & 2 Sentinel-1	Newfoundland and Labrador (NL) Wetlands of Canada	Random Forest classifier	RADARSAT-2 was superior to the other sensors used in terms of accuracies except for TerraSAR-x for which the user accuracy was higher than that of RADARSAT-2.	Mahdavi <i>et al.</i> (2017)
MODIS Landsat 8	Witbank Dam Catchment in Mpumalanga Province	NDWI	The delineated wetlands show a declining extent from 2000 to 2015, which could worsen in the coming few years if no remedial action is taken. Current efforts to demarcate wetland extent varied time-series trend analysis. The wetland area declined by 19% during the period of study.	Nhamo <i>et al.</i> (2017)
WorldView-2	South American	Object-based Image Analysis approach,	Overall classification accuracy was 81%, and the Kappa index was 78.10%.	Gonzalez <i>et al.</i> , 2019
WorldView-2	Selenga River Delta of Lake Baikal, Russia	Nonparametric machine- learning algorithms (DT, <b>RB</b> , and RF)	RF classification outperformed both the DT and RB methods, achieving overall classification accuracy of more than 81%.	Berhane <i>et al.</i> , (2019)
RapidEye	Peninsula, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada.	Random Forest and Support Vector Machine	The top three convnets (ResNetV2, ResNet50, and Xception), provide high classification accuracies of 96.17%, 94.81%, and 93.57%, respectively. The classification accuracies obtained using Support Vector Machine (SVM) and Random Forest (RF) is 74.89% and 76.08%. InceptionResNetV2 found to be superior to all other convnets. It can be suggested that the integration of Inception and ResNet are efficient for classifying complex remote sensing scenes such as wetlands.	Mahdianpari <i>et al</i> . (2018)

#### 2.9 Future Investigations into Improved Wetland Ecosystem Conservation

Significant progress has been made in the application of remote sensing techniques in wetland ecosystems research. Remote sensing techniques play a critical role in detecting and mapping areas that are impacted by different forms of anthropogenic and natural activities. Hence, the use of remote sensing to detect and map wetland ecosystems across sub-Saharan Africa has gained attention over the past decade. While several studies have successfully utilized remotely-sensed data in wetland research, there are still challenges that need to be addressed. Spatial studies on these ecosystems require versatile and robust computational methods to help deal with non-linear relationships, high-order interactions and missing data. Despite these difficulties, the methods used for mapping the distribution of wetlands should be clear to understand and easy to interpret. Wetland ecosystems are important to society and there is a need to establish digital efforts for wetland conservation. Furthermore, the wetland resource surveys, legislation, management and research need to be revised, since there is still much work to be done to protect wetlands in the future.

#### 2.10 Conclusion

Several scholars have studied various characteristics and functions of wetland ecosystems, the impacts of land use and land cover changes, as well as the delineation and degradation of these ecosystems. Most studies have focused on estimating and mapping the biophysical and biochemical parameters of vegetation in those wetlands that are recognized under the Ramsar Convention; however, little emphasis has been placed on small and unprotected wetlands, which also play a critical role for their adjacent communities. Little attention has therefore been focused on the wetland hydrology, soil, vegetation quantification, species characteristics, species diversity and productivity of these smaller wetlands. The quantification and frequent mapping and monitoring of these wetlands across diverse landscapes is required for sustainable and effective wetland management control and for the formulation of governmental policies that promote their ecological preservation under increased pressure from human interference and climate change. However, long-term ecological studies have revealed that human activities continue to affect the wetland water levels and vegetation composition, as well as the structure, productivity, diversity and functioning of the ecosystems, for decades after these activities have ceased. A new crop of robust satellite sensors, e.g. Landsat, which have an improved spatial resolution and a high record of archival data, provides the most needed spatial tool for detecting, monitoring and understanding the status of wetlands at a low cost. There is a data gap, or undocumented

information, on the state of wetlands in developing regions, which further complicates the management strategies and policy development. Therefore, this review provides insights for wetland-related managers and it emphasizes the urgent need to shift towards the use of cheap and readily-available techniques for assessing and controlling wetland degradation, especially the small wetlands dotted across under-resourced regions. Furthermore, there is a need for future studies to utilize new and advanced satellite imagery, coupled with the use of robust machine-learning algorithms, such as the Google Earth Engine (GEE), a principal component analysis, to improve modelling for well-informed management decisions on wetland ecosystems.



## **CHAPTER THREE**

# EVALUATING THE IMPACTS OF LAND USE AND LAND COVER CHANGE ON UNPROTECTED WETLAND ECOSYSTEMS IN THE ARID TROPICAL AREAS OF SOUTH AFRICA, USING THE LANDSAT DATASET AND SUPPORT VECTOR MACHINE



The manuscript is entitled:

Thamaga, K.H., Dube, T., Shoko, C., 2021. Evaluating the impacts of land use and land cover change on unprotected wetland ecosystems in the arid tropical areas of South Africa, using the Landsat dataset and Support Vector Machine. *Geocarto International*, TGEI-2021-0407. (Accepted manuscript).

#### Abstract

We explored the impacts of the Land Use and Land Cover (LULC) change dynamics on the condition and status of the unprotected Maungani wetland, which is located in the arid, tropical parts of the Limpopo Province, South Africa. The long-term Landsat archival data series was used to map and quantify the impacts of LULC changes on the wetland, on a nineyear basis, over a period of 36 years (1983-2019). A multi-source satellite image analysis was performed, using the Support Vector Machine (SVM) algorithm and advanced spatiallyexplicit geographic information system tools. In addition, post-classification maps for the Maungani wetland area were analysed to provide a quantitative assessment and a detailed overview of the rate of change. The study findings showed that the spatial extent of the wetland area declined severely during the period under study. The introduction of settlements and agricultural activities was the major driver of change in the area. By the year 2019, the wetland had an estimated spatial extent of 3 450 800 ha, which had increased from 1 073 500 ha in the year 1983. The built-up area increased by 934 300 ha (37.51%), other vegetation also increased by 375 400 ha (15.07%) and agriculture increased by 373 700 ha (15%), resulting in a 728 300 ha decrease in the wetland area between 1983 and 2019. The changes within the wetland were mapped with a high Overall classification Accuracy (OA), ranging from 77.55% to 92.69%. The findings of this work provide critical insights and baseline information about the state of unprotected wetlands in the rural parts of the Limpopo Province, South Africa. This information is useful for the development of tailor-made wetland management strategies and a possible rehabilitation framework for unprotected E > 1- H. K. wetland ecosystems.

Keywords: Drivers of wetland conversion; rural development; support vector machine;

temporal change; wetland degradation.

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Most wetlands are located adjacent to fresh or salt water and are characterised by hydric soil that experiences wet saturation conditions, either periodically during the rainy season, or permanently all year round (Tiner et al., 2015; Adeli et al., 2020). Although wetlands occupy approximately 6% of the earth's surface, they are among the most productive and ecologically-diverse ecosystems globally. In their natural condition, wetlands support many environmental and socio-economic services to neighbouring communities, which are, to some extent, primarily largely controlled by the variations in inundation and soil saturation patterns (Dubeau et al., 2017; Thamaga et al., 2021). These ecosystems are irreplaceable and play a critical role by controlling floods, moderating the micro-climatic, maintaining and improving the water quality and protecting against erosion and carbon sequestration (Chandler et al., 2017; Calhoun et al., 2017; Materua et al., 2018). For instance, in sub-Saharan Africa, wetlands provide a basis for the human livelihoods of many communities living around these ecosystems (Rabelo et al., 2010; Horwitz and Finlayson, 2011). For example, communities around the Yala Swamp in Western Kenya were found to depend on it for drinking, cooking and washing, while 86% of the population relies on it for the building materials that are gathered from the wetland, such as clay, sand, wood and papyrus (Schuyt, 2005). It was noted that in areas with a strong seasonal and interannual hydro-climatic variability, wetland inundation provides suitable conditions for perennial crop production in arid tropical environments. Most arid tropical regions experience erratic rainfall patterns, which lead to crop failure, and hence, there has been a shift towards the utilisation of wetlands, which are characterised by fertile soils and optimal moisture conditions for the sustenance of rural livelihoods.

Despite these benefits, wetlands in the arid tropical regions remain the most fragile and frequently-threatened ecosystems, by both natural and anthropogenic processes. Natural processes, such as global warming, discharge patterns, precipitation changes and extreme weather conditions expedite wetland degradation (Singh *et al.*, 2016; Malak and Hilarides, 2016; Mohammadimanesh *et al.*, 2018). In sub-Saharan Africa, for example, the rising water scarcity, as well as prolonged and severe droughts, are major threats to wetland ecosystems. Many wetlands are increasingly vulnerable to changes in the population patterns and are frequently affected by the Land Use and Land Cover (LULC) processes. The conversion of wetlands to agricultural land threatens the ecohydrological functions of wetlands, particularly when large-scale drainage alterations occur (Mohammadimanesh *et al.*, 2018; Chen *et al.*,

2020). According to Symeonakis and Drake (2010) and Sakane et al. (2011), the degradation of upland fields and the increasing rainfall variability due to climate change, push farmers to cultivate crops in wetland areas, where water is readily-available for crop irrigation. The conversion of wetlands, particularly small wetlands, into agricultural land and settlements, is expected to occur on flat terrains or in areas with a gentle slope, as they are largely suitable for crop cultivation and the construction of infrastructure. When land is transformed, small patches of wetland in the converted area are likely to be lost or to disappear, depending on the rate of conversion. On the other hand, the factors associated with anthropogenic disturbances and improvements in unprotected wetland ecosystems include eutrophication, direct pollution through agrochemicals, sewage waste pollution from the neighbouring peri-urban settlements and hydrological changes that are caused by excessive abstraction for industrial or domestic purposes (Malak and Hilarides, 2016; Russi et al., 2016; Dlamini et al., 2021). Siachalou et al. (2014) highlighted that the conversion of land to agricultural fields and settlement spaces for development, limits the geographical scale of wetland areas, while complicating their ecological functions. A study conducted by van Asselen et al. (2013) revealed that agricultural development, economic growth and population density are the main causes of wetland transformation and the most frequently-observed factors that perpetuate the degradation process. This is consistent with studies by Lambin and Meyfroidt (2010), Nkonya et al. (2016) who noted that the overexploitation of natural resources and unregulated infrastructure development placed much pressure on wetland ecosystems, due to the unsustainable utilisation of wetland ecosystems, which leads to a great loss of their ecological functions. These threats disrupt the ecohydrological stability of wetlands and have major consequences, such as an increase in wetland degradation, changes in the wetland's hydrological system, ecological diversity and ecosystem services, all of which contribute to the destruction of wetlands (McCarthy et al., 2018, Jaramillo et al., 2018). The observed land degradation trends in arid tropical areas therefore require accurate, continuous and up-to-date information about the extent and status of the condition of wetlands, particularly unprotected wetland systems, to help comprehend the spatio-temporal pattern of the existing land use and land cover activities in the proximity of wetland systems.

Details on the spatio-temporal extent of unprotected wetlands, as well as their status, remain scanty, especially on a localised scale in Sub-Saharan Africa (Lee *et al.*, 2001). As a result, quantifying wetland transition patterns and land cover classification, over a smaller to a larger spatial scale, is critical for understanding their distribution and health status. Due to the

remoteness, vastness and the highly-dynamic nature of wetlands, field-based measurements for the continuous monitoring of wetlands remain impractical, especially in data-scarce environments. These methods are costly, time-consuming, labour-intensive and they lack spatial representation, given the size of the wetlands (Gao *et al.*, 2010; Adeli *et al.*, 2020). Furthermore, Lin *et al.* (2018) have indicated that sampling errors have proved to be a major drawback when collecting wetland data, due to their inaccessible location. Therefore, given the inaccessibility of in situ wetland data, there is a pressing need to establish suitable and reliable tools that have the appropriate spatial and temporal scales and monitoring capabilities.

Remote sensing remains the critical alternative tool for addressing the challenging task involved with ground-based methods. It renders an operational, repeatable and integrated mapping framework that screens the spatial degree and condition of wetlands across small to larger landscapes (Lin *et al.*, 2018). Remote sensing satellite imagery enables access to the historical and up-to-date information that is needed to characterize wetland ecosystems; it provides an inventory for monitoring and evaluating the impacts of LULC changes on unprotected wetlands, and it is also a practical and cost-effective means of doing so (Robertson *et al.*, 2015). Satellite mapping helps to identify baseline information on ecosystem health of wetlands, to diagnose the threats and pressures to wetlands, to monitor any changes in their magnitude and state and to inform enhanced decision-making and management strategies.

Thus far, several studies have used various satellite datasets for wetland characterization, as well as for monitoring, mapping and assessing the associated LULC changes over time, at varying spatial and temporal resolutions (Lin *et al.*, 2018; Munishi and Jewitt, 2019). Satellite imagery, such as Landsat, ASTER, SPOT, AVHRR and MODIS, provide long-term spatial data archives for ecological assessment, monitoring and management purposes (Nagendra *et al.*, 2013; Robinson *et al.*, 2016; Muavhi and Mavhungu, 2020). These images have been used in various studies, for example, on LULC change, wetland monitoring and extent mapping, biomass estimation and mapping, soil moisture applications, inundation mapping and water level monitoring (Chatziantoniou *et al.*, 2017; Yirsaw *et al.*, 2017; Connolly, 2018; Ligate *et al.*, 2018; Munishi and Jewitt, 2019; Mudereri *et al.*, 2019; Slagter *et al.*, 2020; Basu *et al.*, 2021), amongst others. Davranche *et al.* (2010) used SPOT-5 and Landsat TM datasets to detect and classify wetlands by using the Decision Tree technique, and their findings

revealed that the combination of different knowledge bases and techniques provides an effective and promising method for the identification and classification of wetlands. In addition, Hettiarachchi *et al.* (2015) used Landsat images to map wetland degradation, and the findings revealed that urbanization, industrialization and the expansion of agriculture were the major threats influencing wetland degradation. In contrast, Bassi *et al.* (2014) found that the loss of the spatial extent of wetlands in India was due to the rapid population growth in the remote areas. Jiang *et al.* (2015) stated that agricultural expansion and urban development in China resulted in extensive wetland degradation. Due to their large spatial extents, they remain the spatial data of choice for capturing accurate information in heterogeneous environments.

In this study, we therefore hypothesize that determining the past and present status of unprotected wetlands could help and guide environmental managers in their efforts to conserve wetland areas in a sustainable manner. Previous studies related to wetland monitoring, mapping and assessment have only focused on large wetlands that are designated under the Ramsar Convention, and they neglect unprotected wetlands (non-Ramsar), which are also of global importance (Hu *et al.*, 2018; Munguía and Heinen, 2021; Xi *et al.*, 2021). Thus, this study aims to map the impacts of land use and land cover change dynamics on the condition and status of the unprotected Maungani wetland, using the Landsat data series, as well as geospatial techniques, such as statistical analysis and Support Vector Machines (SVM), and to measure the LULC changes that affected the Maungani wetland during the 1983 to 2019 period (36 years). We therefore assume that the findings of this study will enhance the capacity and knowledge of environmental managers, policymakers, and local governments, in order to minimize the human footprint on unprotected wetlands in semi-arid tropical areas, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa.

#### **3.2** Materials and Methods

#### 3.2.1 Description of the Study Area

This research was carried-out in Maungani wetland, which lies adjacent to the Dzindzi River, a tributary of Levuvhu River within the Luvumbu quaternary, in the Limpopo Transboundary River Basin (LTRB) of the Limpopo Province, South Africa. The study area is located within a longitude of 30°26'30" E, 22°59'05" S and a latitude of 30°25'45" E, 22°58'45" S and (Figure 3.1). The Maungani wetland occupies a geographical area of approximately 2 490 700 ha. The rainfall and temperature are influenced by the Soutpansberg Mountains. The

temperature of the region ranges between 18°C and 37°C, with the mean annual rainfall being between 7 mm and 642 mm each year. The annual average relative humidity is 75%. The distribution of wetland vegetation is strongly influenced by the environmental gradients, with mixed vegetation types appearing at high altitudes and Acacia-Themeda bush growing on the plains. Various seasonal storms exist; however, these quickly dry up as the dry season sets in. The wetland is characterised by stamp lands, as well as marshy vegetation. In addition, it is dominated by the *Thelypteris interrupta, Phragmites australis and Eichinochloa pyramidalis* plant species, amongst others. Agriculture, the rearing of livestock and subsistence farming are the primary economic activities in the area. The Maungani wetland is home to approximately 142 000 people who live in the surrounding communities (StatsSA, 2011). The major land cover types in the selected study site include wetland vegetation, water, other vegetation, built-up areas, agricultural land and bare land.



Figure 3.1 Map of the Maungani Wetland in the Limpopo Province of South Africa

#### 3.2.2 Field data collection

The data used in this study were collected from the  $03^{rd} - 10^{th}$  of October 2019 (Figure 3.2). This period was selected because of its suitability to detect, to discriminate, and thereafter to distinguish, the wetland from other vegetation species in the area. During the field data collection, the Trimble hand-held Global Position Systems (GPS) at submeter accuracy were used to record LULC feature coordinates within the Maungani wetland. The collected ground-based data are detailed in Table 3.1. In addition, these data were used to validate the

LULC classification and evaluate the precision of classified images. The sample locations of LULC were created, using Hwath's analysis in a GIS environment and they were then imported into the Trimble GPS, in order to navigate us to the specified spots. A total of 350 sample points (50 per land cover class) were collected for each class.



Figure 3.2 An illustration of the Maungani wetland landscape (photo by K.H. Thamaga)

1 4010 5.1	Description of faile use faile cover classes used in the study
LULC class	Description of land use land cover classes
Agriculture	Agricultural or cultivated lands and farmlands.
Built-up	Built-up comprises all developed land, including residential, commercial and socio-economic infrastructure.
Bare land	This is the area without or with little vegetation cover.
Forest	Land covered with relatively tall trees with at least a 20% canopy, mainly dominated by shrub lands and forest nursery.
Other vegetation	Mixed grassland, vegetation lands, vegetation on customary land. This class also consist of unmanaged land areas that are not characterised in any of the above classes.
Water	River, streams and waterbodies.
Wetland	Area is covered with by water and hydrophytic vegetation in either rivers, streams, lakes or catchments.

Table 3.1Description of land	use land cover	classes used	l in the study
------------------------------	----------------	--------------	----------------

#### 3.2.3 Satellite image acquisition and pre-processing

Field data that coincide with remote sensing satellite data (Landsat 5 TM and 8 OLI) were attained and used to investigate the LULC, as well as change dynamics of the Maungani wetland. Landsat satellite images were selected because they have sufficient archival data, they are freely accessible and because of their reported performance in other land cover classifications and wetland analysis studies (Jin *et al.*, 2017; Fashae *et al.*, 2020). For this study, five scenes of cloudless Landsat 5 TM and one Landsat 8 OLI satellite imagery time-series data, dating from 1983 to 2019, with 9-year intervals, covered the study area, and they were acquired from the United States Geological Survey (USGS) data portal (*http://glovis.usgs.gov*).

Preceding to the classification process, Landsat images were imported into the ENVI software (Harris Geospatial Solutions, Herndon, VA, USA, version 5.3). The Fast Line-of-sight Atmospheric Analysis of Spectral Hypercube (FLAASH) radiative transfer model was used for atmospheric corrections made to images during the study period (Mushore *et al.*, 2016). Images were orthorectified and geometrically corrected by using randomly selected ground control points (GCPs) (350). Selected bands from Landsat images (Table 3.2 and Table 3.4) were also used. Bands 1 (coastal aerosol), 6 and 7 (thermal band), 9 (water vapour), 8 (panchromatic), 9 (SWIR – cirrus), 10 (LWIR-1) and 11 (LWIR-2) were excluded from the analysis, due to their spatial resolution (60 and 120 m) and their relevance relating to the detection of atmospheric features (Drusch *et al.*, 2012; Hagolle *et al.*, 2015). The spectral bands have been considered to be inapplicable in vegetation monitoring (Immitzer *et al.*, 2016). The Blue, Green, Red, NIR and SWIR 1 and 2 bands were used in this study.

Band name	Centre of electromagnetic region (µ)	GSD(m)
1. Coastal/Aerosol	0.433 - 0.453	30
2. Blue	0.452 - 0.512	30
3. Green	0.533 - 0.590	30
4. Red	0.636 - 0.673	30
5. NIR	0.851 - 1.879	30
6. SWIR – 1	1.566 - 1.651	30
7. SWIR – 2	2.107 - 2.294	30
8. Panchromatic	0.500 - 0.680	15
9. Cirrus	1.360 - 1.390	30
10. LWIR-1	10.6 - 11.2	100
11. LWIR-2	11.5 - 12.5	100

Table 3.22015-2019 Landsat 8 Operational Land Imager (OLI) band specifications used<br/>for 2019

\*NIR –Near Infra-red, SWIR – Shorter Wave Infrared, LWIR – Lower Wave Infrared. The six bands highlighted in bold were used in the study for the analysis

Table 3.3Landsat 5 TM band specifications used for the year 1983 and 2010

Band name	Centre of electromagnetic region (µ)	GSD (m)
1. Blue	0.45 - 0.52	30
2. Green	0.52 - 0.60	30
<b>3. Red</b>	0.63 - 0.69	30
<b>4. NIR</b>	0.76 - 0.90	30
5. SWIR – 1	UNIVER.55-1175Y of the	30
6. SWIR – 2	2.03 - 2.35	30
7. Thermal	WESTE $_{10.40-12.50}$ APE	120
*NIR – Near In	frared, SWIR – Shorter Wave Infrared, The b	olded bands

\*NIR – Near Infrared, SWIR – Shorter Wave Infrared. The bolded bands are used in the study and the band not written in bold was not used for the analysis

#### 3.2.4 Image classification

The Support Vector Machine (SVM) classifier embedded in ENVI 5.3 was used to assess the impacts of LULC changes affecting the Maungani wetland for the years 1983, 1992, 2001, 2010 and 2019. The SVM is a supervised, non-parametric statistical machine learning technique that used to classify high-dimensional data. It is suitable for image classification when a limited number of training data is available. Comparative studies assessed the performance of supervised classifiers and found that SVM classifier produced higher accuracy results than other supervised classifiers such as Maximum Likelihood, Mahalanobis Distance, Minimum Distance, Spectral Angle mapper, Random Forest (Jia *et al.*, 2014;

Muavhi, 2020). The SVM Classifier appear to be advantageous in the presence of heterogeneous classes for which only few training data are used than other machine learning classifiers which require additional training dataset as the input dimensionality increases (Yu *et al.*, 2013; Muavhi, 2020). It locates the optimal hyper-plane between two classes to separate them in a new high-dimensional feature space by taking into account only the training samples that lie on the margin of the class distributions known as support vectors. The SVM, is a method produced to solve pattern recognition and nonlinear function estimating problem (Sahu *et al.*, 2015). SVM was implemented using the Radial Basis Function (RBF) kernel characterised by default gamma of 0.33, penalty parameter of 100.00, pyramid level was set at 0 and classification probability threshold was also 0. Although its performance was tested on large scale mapping, using SVM in this study will provide a clear view on the rate of small wetland status.

#### 3.2.5 Classification accuracy assessment

The derived LULC change maps for the years 1983, 1992, 2001, 2010 and 2019 were assessed for accuracy. The field data samples were divided into those for training (70%) and testing (30%). The field data samples were divided into 70% training (245 points) and 30% testing (105 points). The principle behind separating data into 70/30 is because they represented a large training data set, while the remaining data were preserved to compute accuracy statistics (Adjorlolo *et al.*, 2013; Adelabu *et al.*, 2014). An error matrix was used to assess the accuracy of the classification process (the overall, user and producer accuracy) relative to the reference data. Further, the error matrix provided a comprehensive evaluation of the agreement, omission and commission amongst the classification results and training data, with evidence on how the classification errors occurred (Pontius and Millones, 2011). We then computed the statistical analysis (a one-way Analysis of Variance: ANOVA test) to check for any significant differences ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) among the derived spectral reflectance for each of the different land covers.

#### 3.2.6 Change detection analysis and post-classification

The existing LULC types occupying the Maungani wetland were evaluated for the time-frame of the study and expressed as the amount for the entire study area. This allowed for the assessment and estimation of the LULC changes within the 1983-1992, 1992-2001, 2001-2010, 2010-2019 and 1983-2019 time periods. The post classification comparison was used as the change detection techniques. This approach is a comparative analysis of satellite

images belonging to different times classified as independently from each other. Advantage of this method is that it gives information about the magnitude and direction of change. Although both images come from the same sensor, spectral differences are expected to occur in the same land use/cover classes due to changes in atmospheric conditions, sun angle. even if the time interval is very small in multi-time data (Munyati, 2000). Based on the post classification comparison technique, the change is identified based on pixel-by-pixel basis by overlapping LULC maps belong to different dates obtained by the classification technique. At the end of the process, the number of areas which have undergone change and which class has changed can be identified. An overall change detection map, from 1983-2019, was produced to show the LULC classes, such as the increase in built-up areas and the high decrease in the extent of the wetland.

#### 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Satellite-derived wetland land use land cover change (1983-2019)

Derived maps were produced, using SVM, in order to understand the rate of conversion for the period between 1983 and 2019 (see Figure 3.3). It was observed that in 1983 the wetland, other vegetation, bare land and agriculture dominated the entire study area. Wetland areas were found in all directions, other vegetation occupied the larger part in the south, and agriculture occupied the western parts of the wetland. In 1992, a considerable portion of agriculture had been converted to forest. Although the wetland covered a larger area in 2001, part of its areal extent was replaced mainly by vegetation or bush encroachment. During 2010 and 2019, there was a sharp increase in the built-up area, which replaced a large portion of the wetland area. In 2010, the area under agriculture increased, when compared to the year 2002, particularly on the western side of the study area. Overall, the maps showed a decline in wetland coverage, which was replaced by built-up areas.







Figure 3.3 Spatial distributional pattern of identified land use land cover change maps for the period between (a) 1983, (b) 1992, (c) 2001, (d) 2010 and (e) 2019

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

	Total change in area										
LULC types	1983		19	92	20	2001		0	201	9	
	Area	%	Area	%	Area	%	Area	%	Area	%	
Agriculture	201 900	8.11	286 800	11.51	175 100	7.03	406 400	16.32	373 700	15	
Bareland	352 100	14.13	348 100	13.98	389 300	15.63	207 000	8.31	289 000	11.60	
Built up	79 100	3.17	901 00	3.62	121 400	8.87	402 000	16.14	934 300	37.51	
Forest	115 800	4.65	115 000	4.62	153 700	6.17	208 800	8.38	171 400	6.89	
Other vegetation	668 400	26.84	680 400	27.32	685 100	27.51	511 700	20.54	375 400	15.07	
Water	100	0.0004	5 000	0.20	22 100	0.89	40 400	0.16	18 900	0.08	
Wetland	1 073 500	43.10	965 300	38.75	944 100	37.90	750 900	30.15	345 100	13.85	

Table 3.4Summary of the land use land cover area coverage between 1983 and 2019 (area in ha)



# UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

#### 3.3.2 Spatio-temporal change analysis of wetland area over time

The spatio-temporal change analysis of the wetland area has been presented in Figure 3.4 and Table 3.4. During the study period, five (5) thematic maps were derived by using the SVM classifier to assess the change dynamics of the Maungani wetland area for the years 1983, 1992, 2001, 2010 and 2019. This wetland experienced significant change due to anthropogenic activities. In the year 1983, the wetland was the dominant land feature type, covering 43.10% (10 734 900 ha) of the total area, followed by other vegetation that covered 668 400 ha (26.84%). It was also observed that in the western part of the study site, agricultural land occupied an area of about 201 900 ha (8.11%), and in the eastern part, the concentration of built-up areas was 79 100 ha (3.17%), respectively. It can be observed from the map that the wetland area decreased by 108 200 ha, to 965 300 ha (38.76%), in 1992, when compared with areal coverage in 1983. Overall, there was an increase in areas with vegetation, in bare land and built-up areas, which covered an area of 680 400 ha (27.32%), 286 800 ha (11.52%) and 90 100 ha (3.62%), respectively. On average, the wetland shrunk greatly, with much of the area being replaced by bushy vegetation (27.32%) in the south towards the eastern part of the study site and bare land (13.97%). It was observed that more than 50% of wetland area was lost to other land cover classes from 2001, with 944 100 ha (37.90%) of the wetland remaining. Other vegetation covered 685 100 ha, mainly in the east and south of the study site ha (27.51%), with bare land covering 389 300 ha (15.63%) and a consistent increase in built-up areas, which occupied approximately 8.87% of the wetland. In the year 2010, the wetland area remained at 750 900 ha (30.15%), with an increase in the vegetation and built-up areas occupying major parts of the wetland, with an aerial extent of 511 700 ha (20.54%) and 402 000 ha (16.14%), respectively. In addition, during the year 2019, the results revealed that the wetland was impacted by other LULC changes. Only 345 100 ha (13.85%) of the wetland remained unaffected. When compared to the year 1983, the Maungani wetland lost approximately 728 300 ha in 2019. This observation was further confirmed by the results in Figure 3.6, which show the trends of the wetland change and other LULC changes that occurred within the study area. The overall classification during the study period (1983-2019) showed that the wetland area lost 728 300 ha of its spatial extent to vegetation covered areas with 375 400 ha (15.07%), and built-up areas with 934 300 ha (37.51%), respectively.



Figure 3.4 Time series variation of land use land cover change and wetland dynamics from 1983 to 2019

#### 3.3.3 Accuracy assessment derived from thematic maps

Based on ground-truth data and Google Earth imagery, the derived satellite images of the wetland area were validated (Figure 3.6). Between 1983 and 2019, the SVM classifier achieved higher overall classification accuracies, ranging from 77.55% to 92.24% (see Table 3.5). During the years 1983, 1992, 2001, 2010 and 2019, the overall classification accuracies achieved were 87.76%, 77.55%, 92.24%, 91.43% and 83.67%, respectively, which indicate that there was agreement between the reality on the ground and the satellite-derived images. However, in this study, the accuracies of the producers and users generating LULC maps were satisfactory and ranged from 42.86% to 100%. The commission, agreement, and omission errors (see Figure 3.5) were found to be the lowest for the year 2001 and ranged between 0% and 3%.

Table 3.5 Derived land use land cover classification accuracies: Overall Accuracy (OA),
Producer Accuracy (PA) and User Accuracy (UA) between the years (a) 1983,
(b) 1992, (c) 2001, (d) 2010 and (e) 2019

		Bare		Other			Built		UA
<b>1983</b> [a]	Agriculture	land	Forest	vegetation	Water	Wetland	up	Total	(%)
Agriculture	23	0	1	0	0	11	0	35	65.71
Bare land	0	35	0	0	0	0	0	35	100
Forest	0	0	31	0	4	0	0	35	88.57
Other									
vegetation	0	0	0	32	0	2	1	35	91.43
Water	0	0	0	0	35	0	0	35	100
Wetland	5	0	0	0	0	30	0	35	85.71
Built up	0	2	0	2	2	0	29	35	82.86
Total	28	37	32	34	41	43	30	245	87.76
PA (%)	82.14	94.59	96.88	94.12	85.37	69.77	96.67		

		6							
		Bare	Built		Other	111			UA
1992 [b]	Agriculture	land	up	Forest	vegetation	Water	Wetland	Total	(%)
Agriculture	24	0	0	2	1	3	5	35	68.57
Bare land	0	32	0	0	3	0	0	35	91.43
Built up	0	8	24	0	3	0	0	35	68.57
Forest	4	0	0	29	0	2	0	35	82.86
Other									
vegetation	0	0	N2 V	F O	32	f +0,0	1	35	91.43
Water	0	1	0	4	0	26	4	35	74.29
Wetland	4	0 W	0	0	N ICA	<b>P</b> 7	23	35	65.71
Total	32	41	26	35	40	38	33	245	77.55
PA (%)	75	78.05	92.31	82.86	80	68.42	69.79		

		Bare	Built		Other				UA
2001 [c]	Agriculture	land	up	Forest	vegetation	Water	Wetland	Total	(%)
Agriculture	31	0	0	4	0	0	0	35	88.57
Bare land	0	34	0	0	0	0	1	35	97.14
Built up	0	0	34	0	1	0	0	35	97.14
Forest	2	0	0	28	0	5	0	35	80
Other									
vegetation	0	0	0	0	35	0	0	35	100
Water	0	0	0	1	0	34	0	35	97.14
Wetland	1	0	0	0	4	0	30	35	85.71
Total	34	34	34	33	40	39	31	245	92.24
PA (%)	91.18	100	100	84.85	87.50	87.18	96.77		

		Bare	Built				Other		UA
2010 [d]	Agriculture	land	up	Forest	Water	Wetland	vegetation	Total	(%)
Agriculture	34	0	0	0	0	1	0	35	97.14
Bare land	0	31	0	1	1	0	2	35	88.57
Built up	0	3	32	0	0	0	0	35	91.43
Forest	0	0	0	35	0	0	0	35	100
Water	0	0	0	1	34	0	0	35	97.14
Wetland	1	1	0	0	0	30	3	35	85.71
Other									
vegetation	0	0	0	0	0	7	28	35	80
Total	35	35	32	37	35	38	33	245	91.43
PA (%)	97.14	88.57	100	94.59	97.14	78.95	84.85		

		Bare	Built		Other				UA
2019 [e]	Agriculture	land	up	Forest	Vegetation	Water	Wetland	Total	(%)
Agriculture	15	0	0	0	0	20	0	35	42.86
Bare land	0	32	0	0	3	0	0	35	91.43
Built up	0	2	30	1	1	1	0	35	85.71
Forest	0	0	0	32	0	3	0	35	91.43
Other									
Vegetation	0	0	0	0	35	0	0	35	100
Water	9	0	0	0	0	26	0	35	74.29
Wetland	0	0	0			0	35	35	100
Total	24	34	- 30	33	-39	50	35	245	83.67
PA (%)	62.50	94.12	100	96.97	89.74	52	100		





Figure 3.5 Commission, omission error depicted in (a) 1983, (b) 1992, (c) 2001, (d) 2010 and (e) 2019

#### **3.3.4** Increase and loss of land use land cover (net-change)

The spatial information in Figure 3.6 and Table 3.6 for the period under study revealed that both gains and losses occurred within the boundary of Maungani wetland boundary. The netchanges, as a result of gains or losses for each LULC type between 1983-1992, 1992-2001, 2001-2010 and 2010-2019, are depicted in Figure 3.5. We realised that much of the wetland was lost (108 200 ha) between 1983 and 1991, while the agriculture and built-up areas increased by 78 000 ha and 11 100 ha, respectively. Between 1991 and 2001, the agriculture and wetland areas lost 118 200 ha and 71 900 ha, respectively, while the built-up areas (31 300 ha) and bare lands (41 200 ha) gained in their spatial extent. Between 2001 and 2010, the wetland (193 200 ha), bare lands (173 400 ha) and other vegetation (182 300 ha) lost the most spatial extent, whereas between 2001 and 2010, the built-up areas (280 600 ha) and agriculture (231 300 ha) gained a larger proportion. Furthermore, the wetland (405 800 ha) and other vegetation (136 300 ha) suffered the greatest declines between 2010 and 2019. The built-up and agricultural areas covered an aerial extent of 532 400 ha and 82 000 ha, respectively. The wetland lost an aerial extent of about 728 400 ha between 1983 and 2019. The built-up area was found to be the most dominant feature class, occupying 855 300 ha of the total area. In the same period, other vegetation (393 000 ha) lost its spatial coverage over the same time-frame, while agriculture gained coverage by 171 800 ha and 855 300 ha, respectively.



Figure 3.6 Total area and amount of land use land cover changes (Net change: gains/losses) on wetland area between 1983 and 2019

Table 3.6 demonstrates the percentage loss of wetlands to other LULC types between 1983 and 2019. The spatial extent of wetlands has experienced a massive modification, compared to other LULC types, during the period of study. Over the period of 36 years, 728 300 ha of the wetland area was lost. The majority of the wetland was lost to 784 500 ha of built-up areas and 22.97% of agricultural land.

UNIVERSITY of the

Table 3.6	Land use land	cover change	transition betwe	en land cover	classes 1983 to 2019
-----------	---------------	--------------	------------------	---------------	----------------------

TT LO LA LANCE AND										
Initial state	Transition of change between LULC classes									
(1983)/Final state	Agriculture	Bare lands	Built up	Forest	Other	Water	Wetland			
(2019)					vegetation					
Agriculture	171 800	21 700	296 700	257 900	-294 700	373 700	-699 700			
Bare land	87 100	-63 100	209 900	173 200	-379 500	288 900	-784 500			
Built up	732 500	582 300	855 300	818 500	265 900	934 300	-139 100			
Forest	-30 500	-180 700	92 300	55 600	-497 100	171 400	-902 000			
Other vegetation	173 500	23 300	296 300	259 600	-293 000	375 400	-698 000			
Water	-2 000	-350 200	-77 200	-113 900	-666 500	11 900	-1 071 500			
Wetland	143 200	-69 800	266 000	229 300	-323 300	345 100	-728 300			

#### 3.3.5 Change detection measurements that occurred over a 36-year period

The spatial extent of the Maungani wetland has declined over the years, compared to other LULC types. In Figure 3.7, it can be observed that there has been a major transformation in the wetland between 1983 and 2019, due to the rapid population growth and anthropogenic activities. In Figure 3.8, it can be observed that the wetland (2550.19 ha), other vegetation (4190.47 ha) and bare land (1949.67 ha) were largely converted to built-up areas. The LULC cover transition replaced the wetland area, particularly in the low-lying areas. Pockets of wetland were also converted into other LULC classes.





30°16'30"E 30°18'0"E 30°19'30"E 30°21'0"E 30°22'30"E 30°24'0"E 30°25'30"E 30°27'0"E 30°28'30"E 30°30'0"E

Figure 3.7 Overall land use and land cover conversion during the monitoring period (between 1983 to 2019)



Figure 3.8 Area of the Maungani wetland ecosystem converted into other land use and land cover classes

#### 3.4 Discussion

The present study investigated the impacts of LULC change dynamics on the unprotected Maungani wetland, which is located in the semi-arid tropical regions of the Limpopo Province, South Africa. The freely-available Landsat satellite data and Support Vector Machine enabled the study of the wetlands and LULC changes between 1983-2019 (a 36-year period).
# 3.4.1 Wetland dynamics in relation to other land use and land cover changes between 1983 and 2019

The findings obtained from the study showed that the Maungani wetland has been subjected to continuous decline over the last 36 years (1983-2019). The wetland shrunk by 74.94% between 1983 and 2019. On the other hand, the built-up areas continuously expanded into the wetland area and it was confirmed that 10.40% of wetland was lost to these areas. The loss of wetland to built-up areas is mainly attributed to population growth in the area. The population growth raised from 53 376 in 1996, 58 149 in 2001 and 618 462 in 2011 which increased demand for land for residential purposes or economic development in the vicinity of Maungani (STATSSA, 2011). In agreement with the 2011 census data, the national population, which includes the Maungani local community, was reported to have increased to 51.8 million in 2011 (STATSSA, 2011). Other studies have also shown that the built-up areas are one of the major threats to unprotected wetland ecosystems. Wang et al. (2012), for example, revealed that urbanisation and the influx of migrants have resulted in a sharp decline in regional ecological land in China. The ecological value of wetland ecosystems that occur in areas with a rapid population growth and economic development is lower, as in the Maungani area; however, a similar effect has been observed in other areas e.g. in Ethiopia and Zimbabwe (Dubeau et al., 2017; Marambanyika et al., 2017). As depicted by the 1983 image, the population growth rate was low to the south and to the east of the wetland, when compared to high influx in the built-up areas in 2019, which shows the influence of the rapid population growth.

# WESTERN CAPE

On the other hand, the least areal coverage of wetland was converted to forest (3.41%), bare land (8.60%) and other vegetation (9.24%) between the year 2000 and 2019. During the study period, it was also observed that there was a gradual increase in the deterioration of the wetland near the built-up area south-east of it, when compared to other areas of the study. The increase in infrastructural development in the built-up area fuelled the loss of the spatial extent of the wetland. These is due to the flat terrain, because when the wetland gets dry, people occupy and develop the land. The drying of the land is associated with the decreased precipitation pattern and increased climatic conditions, as a result of climate change, which puts pressure on the extent of the wetland. Furthermore, human interference worsens the ecological condition of the Maungani wetland. Despite the high loss of its spatial extent, the wetland gained 2.37% from other vegetation and 0.92% from water. The wetland lost its

major cover and other land cover types, such as water (37.08%), forest (33.99%), cultivated land (25.16%), as well as bare land (26.15%). In 2015, it was observed that there was an increase in the development of settlements to the south-east of the wetland, when compared to other portion of the study. Bare land dominated the north-east of the study area and, in 2019, a large portion of this area was converted to a built-up area. Urban development has a major influence on wetland shrinkage. Similar trends were observed in other parts of the continent. Studies by Mhlanga et al. (2014) and Chikodzi and Mufori (2018) showed that human activities transformed the wetland hydrology in parts of the Harare metropolitan district in Zimbabwe, reducing their spatial extent, as these ecosystems were replaced by buildings or developments that affected the wetland retention, and eventually led to a loss of habitat for the aquatic species. In South Africa, Phethi and Gumbo (2019) found that poverty and population growth were the driving forces behind wetland mismanagement. They revealed that the cultivation of crops, road construction and built-up development, during the period from 1978 to 2004, were the main activities that contributed to the deterioration of the Makhitha wetland, located in the Limpopo Province. On the other hand, Orimoloye et al. (2020) conducted a spatial pattern of the Isimangaliso Wetland by using Landsat data between 1987 and 2017 and witnessed a significant change in the extent of the wetland during the study period (from 655.42 km<sup>2</sup> to 429.49 km<sup>2</sup>). Climate change, built-up areas and agricultural activities were found to be the major factors that replace the extent of wetlands.

## UNIVERSITY of the

### 3.4.2 Long-term wetland monitoring, using Landsat data

Mapping the spatial patterns of wetland areas over time is critical for detecting and monitoring the LULC changes and for understanding their effects on the integrity and ecological functioning of wetland. The use of a freely-accessible, accurate and reliable remote sensing dataset i.e. Landsat, with a 30-m spatial resolution, has enabled the mapping of the spatial extent of LULC in unprotected wetlands that are surrounded by rural communities. This will enable researchers and other wetland managers to investigate the spatial transformation of wetland over particular time periods (i.e. 1983-2019). Our approach supplements the wetland characterization systems that have demonstrated the use of multi-temporal mapping of wetland areas for understanding the pattern of LULC changes degrading wetland ecosystems (Gómez-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2010; Rover *et al.*, 2011; Knight *et al.*, 2013). Gabrielsen *et al.* (2006) employed a time-series approach in their analysis, which resulted in temporal wetland predictions regarding the probability of wetland inundation, and it is more successfully characterises wetlands as ephemeral inclines. Their strategy effectively uses

high- and moderate-resolution data to measure the likelihood of wetland inundation and the prospect that wetlands may be wet over time. Multi-temporal approaches derived by Gabrielsen *et al.* (2006) produced lower prediction errors of Rapid Eye 3.1-15% and Landsat 0.3-1.5% in the Northern Great Plains of the USA.

The Landsat data series has shown its capabilities for depicting and accurately mapping complex wetland areas and the surrounding LULC dynamics. The information depicted by Landsat images is critical for aquatic and wetland management and decision-making, especially in regions that have a restricted network system of field observation frameworks in place (Thamaga and Dube, 2019). The findings of this study are consistent with previous investigations and they underscore the precision and strength of using Landsat data for longterm mapping in wetland-related studies, LULC quantification, biomass estimation, crop and fire mapping, aquatic plant species and urban development (Dube and Mutanga, 2015; Robinson et al., 2016; Dube et al., 2018; Rampheri et al., 2020). Jin et al. (2017) demonstrated the unique strength and superiority of Landsat missions, as well as their practical viability in accurately mapping, detecting and monitoring the spatio-temporal changes for wetland assessment over-time. Although the imagery has been used in larger areas, particularly the wetlands recognised by the Ramsar Convention (Mozumder and Tripathi, 2014), its application in small and unprotected wetlands serving the surrounding communities remains limited and under-studied. This demonstrated the ability of Landsat to map wetland conditions, using publicly-available data, especially in data-scarce regions, such as in the semi-arid tropical regions of the sub-Saharan Africa, and it would greatly assist in accurately deriving, monitoring and reporting on the health condition and rate of degradation of wetlands.

Although the study provides an insightful overview of the state of unprotected wetlands in the arid tropical regions of sub-Saharan Africa, the understanding of these ecosystems could be better depicted through the integration of multi-source data, including the perceptions of indigenous communities as well as seasonal dynamics. In addition, considering that wetland LULC characterisation was done by using broadband and spatial resolution satellite data, some inherent changes could have been missed. The 30-m spatial resolution of Landsat is associated with spectral mixing, which results in its poor discrimination ability. In this regard, spatially-explicit methodologies must be explored that focus on analysing changes in the soil moisture, different types of vegetation or indices, as well high-resolution data. More so, there

is need to include climate and soil data, so as to determine whether these changes are solely linked to anthropogenic activities. For example, the study showed that there was also an increase in vegetation (bush encroachment) in the wetland and that this may be due to climate variability and climate change (Bhaga et al., 2020). A review study by Bhaga et al. (2020) demonstrated that climate variability and recurrent droughts have caused remarkable strain on water resources in most regions across the globe, with the arid and semi-arid areas being the hardest hit and that this is likely to have an effect on the wetland conditions. This assertion is further strengthened by the work of Gxokwe et al. (2020), who noted that wetlands are degrading at a rapid rate globally, due to the environmental changes. Lastly, we assume that the provision of information on the accuracy of individual maps is likely to be insufficient, and hence there is a need for further studies to consider accuracy assessment of land use change, by using stratified estimation (Olofsson et al., 2013; Olofsson, et al., 2014). Robust and transparent statistical approaches for assessing accuracy and estimating the areas of change are critical for ensuring the integrity of land change information. It is therefore imperative to adopt the holistic monitoring of wetlands, as well as an assessment framework that includes climate and environmental data in the long-term mapping and modelling of wetland changes and their possible degradation.

### 3.4.3 Implications for wetland conservation and land use and land cover management

The complexities of wetland ecohydrological processes necessitate a profound interpretation of LULC transition, as these changes influence the spatial extent of wetlands, the diversity, the waterflow, and ultimately, the proliferation of alien plant species. According to the findings of this study, the extent of the wetland ecosystem area is diminishing rapidly. This information provides the requisite baseline information required by environmental and wetland managers to devise sustainable intervention measures and strategies to curb the further deterioration of ecohydrological systems from the possible threats emanating from both anthropogenic and natural causes. These necessitate responsive management strategies to stop or reverse the rate of degradation or loss of wetlands, especially unprotected wetlands that have been overlooked in policy formulation. Increased management strategies, with an emphasis on wetland rehabilitation and restoration, are not backed up by adequate integrated data collection, reliable information and reviews. Uncertainty over the previous policy outcomes for LULC change and wetlands, as well as recent attempts to strengthen their protection, pose critical concerns about their ecological significance. Ecosystem managers need to strengthen their implementation policies to conserve wetland ecosystems, and to

minimise the rate of their shrinkage, the extension of urban landscape patterns must be regulated.

### 3.5 Conclusions

This work explored the impacts of LULC change on wetland ecosystems in the Maungani wetland, which is located in the semi-arid tropical regions of South Africa. The integrated time-series Landsat data and Support Vector Machine algorithms were used to depict and model the historical LULC and wetland change for a period of 36 years (1983-2019) to overcome the degradation and to contribute towards the sustainable management of these wetland ecosystems. There has been a widespread conversion of wetlands during the period of study. Based on our findings, the following conclusions were drawn.

- The Maungani wetland has undergone significant changes in terms of the LULC change dynamics over the years (1983 to 2019).
- Derived thematic maps show that the degraded wetland size has been largely replaced by built-up areas.
- The Maungani wetland has shrunk dramatically from 1 073 500 ha (43.10%) in 1983 to 345 100 ha (13.85%) in 2019.

Overall, the findings of this study demonstrated the use of historical and archival Landsat data series for understanding the effects of LULC change on the spatial extent of wetlands located in semi-arid tropical regions of sub-Saharan Africa. The Landsat data-series offers the novel, accessible and up-to-date information that is required for the accurate monitoring of LULC change dynamics. The rate of degradation and encroachment by other LULC changes, especially on unprotected wetlands, plays a critical role in the surrounding communities. Furthermore, this work shows that there has been a steady deterioration of the Maungani wetland over the past 36 years. As a result, in order to combat the challenges of LULC change for the sustainability of the catchment areas, this work recommends a holistic framework approach in the management of wetland resources. This comprehensive information can be used as a guideline for future LULC assessments, monitoring and planning.

### **CHAPTER 4**

# MODELLING WETLAND VEGETATION USING INTEGRATED SENTINEL-2 MSI AND DIVERSITY INDICES IN SEMI-ARID REGIONS



Thamaga, K.H., Dube, T., Shoko, T., 2021. Modelling wetland vegetation using integrated Sentinel-2 MSI and diversity indices in semi-arid regions located in the Limpopo TransboundaryBasin, South Africa. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, (Manuscript under-review).

### Abstract

Wetland vegetation is a key indicator of the health status of vegetation in small wetland ecosystems. The accurate estimation of wetland species diversity is therefore critical for monitoring the ecosystem behaviour, in order to understand the changes in vegetation distribution and productivity patterns. Monitoring wetlands, given their vulnerability to anthropogenic pressures, including those associated with climate change, hydrodynamics and sewage waste disposal, will improve the management of these wetland systems. In this study, the plant species diversity and biomass were estimated, using the new generation Sentinel-2 MSI data. The study was conducted in the Maungani wetland, which is situated in the Limpopo Province of South Africa. Four species diversity indices (e.g. the Margalef, Pielou, Shannon-Wiener and Simpson indices), Sentinel-2 derived spectral bands and vegetation indices were used to estimate the wetland vegetation diversity and biomass across the study area. The findings of this study showed that the diversity and biomass of vegetation species can be estimated with a high accuracy by using Sentinel-2 data. For instance, the model performances ranged from a r<sup>2</sup> of 0.54 (54.72%) (RMSEP =  $0.572 \text{ gm}^{-2}$ ) to r<sup>2</sup> of 0.84 (84%)  $(RMSEP = 0.067 \text{ gm}^{-2})$ , respectively. Further, the red-edge bands centered at 750 nm (B5), 740 nm (B6), 783 nm (B7), as well as 863 nm (B8a), were identified as the most influential variables in the estimation of wetland vegetation biomass and species diversity. The Margalef index (least) and Simpson index (highest) were identified as the most important diversity indices in estimating the diversity of wetland vegetation species across the Maungani wetland. Using Sentinel-2 derived thematic maps, the Simpson diversity index map showed a higher distribution of species diversity. Overall, the findings of this study underscore the relevance of new generation Sentinel-2 MSI data in estimating and mapping wetland vegetation diversity and biomass, particularly in small wetlands that are non-Ramsar sites.

Keywords: Biomass estimation; Maungani wetland; Red-edge region; Sensor resolution; diversity index; Species richness

#### 4.1 Introduction

Wetland vegetation is an excellent indicator that ascertains the vegetation health condition of small (unprotected) wetland ecosystems, and it characterises the stages of species diversity and productivity (Adam et al., 2010; Allan et al., 2013). Wetland vegetation is dependent on the presence of water and climate change, particularly rainfall variability, is expected to have a substantial influence on these ecosystems and their associated species. While wetlands account for a comparatively limited proportion of the total productivity, their contribution is nonetheless irreplaceable. The ecological value of wetlands varies, but they are of great importance to the surrounding communities. For example, these wetlands maintain groundwater storage, biodiversity conservation, weather patterns, human health and livelihoods, as well as the nutrient cycle (Mudd et al., 2009; Marambanyika et al., 2017; Thamaga et al., 2021). For instance, sub-Saharan Africa is predominantly rural, and the majority of communities in these areas rely on wetlands for their livelihoods, which puts pressure on these systems. The distribution of wetland vegetation influences the pattern of grazing and wildlife/livestock, especially during the dry season (Zomer et al., 2009). However, the species diversity and productivity within a wetland reflects the complexities of their physical, chemical and human habitats (Moss, 2008). According to Gichuki et al. (2001), there is a substantial relationship between the quality of the environment, the species diversity and the productivity of wetland vegetation, with large coupling effects occurring in regions that are vulnerable to anthropogenic alterations within a wetland. As a result, wetland vegetation is one of the most significant biophysical features that distinguishes wetland species, and it is required for research on wetland species diversity, productivity and ecohydrological stress.

Unprotected wetlands, particularly those found in developing regions, are largely affected due to the poor regulations and land use management systems that are in place. The species diversity of wetland vegetation can be impacted by environmental disturbances to the extent that the ecosystem is dominated by few native plant species or other competing species (van de la Chenelière *et al.*, 2014). Several studies (van de la Chaneliere *et al.*, 2014; Bhatnagar *et al.*, 2020; Thamaga *et al.*, 2021) have demonstrated that the composition of wetland vegetation species diversity is primarily influenced by the slope, aspect, altitude, hydrodynamics and anthropogenic activities. Precipitation, drought and increased temperature variability have impacted the species abundance, dominance, richness and evenness in wetland ecosystems. Thus, the emergence of vascular and nonvascular plant

species within demarcated wetlands exemplifies the occurrence of anthropogenic disruptions in catchment areas (Asef et al., 2016). The growing population continues to put great pressure on wetlands and the rate of degradation is increasing over time, particularly in developing regions (Tariku and Abebayehu, 2011; Hagos et al., 2014; Marambanyika et al., 2017). It is recognised that wetland areas and water systems are at a substantial risk of eutrophication, extensive siltation, resulting in the elimination of native plant species and the encroachment of invasive alien plant species, which has a major effect on species diversity in freshwater environments (Dube et al., 2017, Thamaga and Dube, 2018a), and it reduces the ecological value of wetland ecosystems. On the other hand, Burns and Schallenberg (2001) highlighted the fact that agriculture, livestock grazing and wildfires may lower the species diversity in wetland environments, and Marambanyika et al. (2021) pointed out that, drought and increased population growth in Zimbabwe has forced people to migrate to, or expand, their agricultural fields in wetland areas. This has a devastating effect and results in the deterioration of spatial extent of wetlands, which could lead to the extinction of biodiversity, thereby decreasing the species diversity. Lastly, the changing climate alters the normative trends and processes by amplifying the environmental stresses, and it can have a cascading effect on the ecological response, wetland vegetation diversity and productivity, and, ultimately, its resilience. Understanding the distribution and characteristics of wetland vegetation will therefore help in their preservation and in the sustainable management of species diversity, under observed environmental changes. Thus, rapid and efficient estimation of wetland vegetation species diversity is required, particularly in small wetland ecosystems.

Traditionally, the methods of estimating wetland vegetation diversity were based on field measurements. However, these methods lack spatial representation, and they are often timeconsuming, labour-intensive in large-scale areas, expensive and inefficient (Adam *et al.*, 2010; Lumbierres *et al.*, 2017; Thamaga *et al.*, 2021). Since field measurements are challenging when it comes to the detection and mapping of wetland ecological information over larger areas (Klemas, 2013), remote sensing technologies emerged as an alternative method for solving these limitations. The integration of remote sensing datasets and plot data can provide the continuous local- to regional-scale monitoring and mapping of wetland vegetation diversity, in order to understand its health status and the dynamic changes. A study by Meng *et al.* (2016) demonstrated that remote sensing satellite datasets have drawn significant attention in the derivation of information on species diversity by enabling convenient data acquisition, while retaining an acceptable accuracy. Recent satellite remote

sensing techniques for estimating wetland vegetation include optical remote sensing sensors, radio detection and ranging (Radar), light detection and ranging (Lidar), as well as hyperspectral data. Predicting species diversity, from a small to a large geographical scale, remote sensing data has become feasible in the current scientific community, as a result of the expanding spectrum of publicly- and easily-accessible remote sensing products (Kassahun *et al.*, 2014).

Satellite images have the advantage of covering wider areas, which provides an opportunity to derive landscape-scale biomass and other related species data. Hyperspectral and multispectral satellite images have been applied in mapping species diversity. Despite the performance of hyperspectral data, their numerous narrow bands make them sensitive in detecting and mapping species diversity characteristics (Adam *et al.*, 2010). However, the costs attached to hyperspectral data acquisition and their larger areal coverage make it unsuitable for the estimation of wetland vegetation species diversity in financially-constrained regions (Kassahun *et al.*, 2014). Cheap and freely-available multispectral satellite data have demonstrated their potential in mapping and the detection of vegetation distribution (Mutanga *et al.*, 2015; Shoko and Mutanga, 2017; Fatoyinbo *et al.*, 2018). Several sensors from different platforms, such as RapidEye, IKONOS, Landsat series, MODIS, and SPOT, with varying spatial resolutions, were used for the estimation of species diversity, primary productivity, leaf area index and biomass, and their capabilities in retrieving information on wetland species diversity have been observed (Chen *et al.*, 2018; Schug, *et al.*, 2020).

WESTERN CAPE

As newer sensors, with finer spatial and temporal resolutions and increased spectral information have become available, optical sensors remain one of the most interesting options for vegetation estimation. Advancements in broadband multispectral satellite sensors have increased their potential to improve the efficiency of retrieving vegetation attributes (Thamaga and Dube, 2019). The recent launch of Sentinel-2 MSI offers new avenues for investigating the capabilities of remote sensing for fine-scale diversity classifications and supporting complex wetland vegetation monitoring. Sentinel-2 MSI is freely accessible, which makes it simple for researchers with limited resources to utilise the data and to supplement it with other freely-available datasets, such as the Landsat data series. In many developing regions, like Africa, which lack the financial means to secure commercially-based remote sensing satellite images, Sentinel-2 provides a suitable alternative, with an excellent spatial resolution. The presence of strategically-positioned spectral bands, such as the red

edge, which were previously a feature of high-resolution commercial sensors, such as Worldview 2, IKONOS, and others, has its own set of advantages that might enable the delicate detection of species diversity. Its enhanced sensing capabilities have shown significant potential in vegetation detection, mapping and monitoring (Shoko and Mutanga, 2017). Studies have advocated that enhanced spatial resolution from the Sentinel data series have helped to reduce the uncertainty and improved the accuracy of vegetation mapping and species diversity at a finer scale (Chen et al., 2018). Pandit et al. (2018) explored the potential of Sentinel-2 data in predicting forest biomass, and the biomass estimation model scored an  $r^2 = 0.81$ , as well as an RMSE = 25.57 t ha<sup>-1</sup>. Shoko *et al.* (2018) performed a comparative study using the Landsat 8 OLI, Sentinel-2 MSI and Worldview 2, to measure C3 and C4 grasses Above Ground Biomass (AGB). The spatial information derived and performance of Sentinel-2 MSI from different studies need to be tested in wetland ecosystems in order to understand their vegetation dynamics and diversity. Sentinel-2 data have the potential to make a substantial contribution to wetland species diversity and AGB monitoring, mapping and estimation. Therefore, this study seeks to estimate the wetland vegetation species diversity and map wetland vegetation AGB in the Maungani wetland, which is located in the Limpopo River Transfrontier Basin. The study sought to estimate the species diversity using different satellite derivatives and in-situ data.

### 4.2 Materials and Methods **IVERSITY** of the

### 4.2.1 Field sampling and wetland vegetation species data collection

Field data collection was carried out between the 12<sup>th</sup> and 16<sup>th</sup> of February 2020 (Figure 4.1). The data collection time-frame was during the maximum growth or peak productivity of wetland vegetation interaction effects, and it was characterised by moderate and high precipitation. At each sampling location, a square quadrant (1 m by 1 m) made up of wire was randomly placed and the spatial coordinates at the centre of each quadrant were recorded, using a Trimble hand-held Global Positioning System (GPS) receiver at a submetre accuracy. The field campaign visited 40 plots distributed across the study area. The quadrant was separated by an interval of at least 10 m along transects (ensuring that the corners of each plot correspond to Sentinel-2 MSI pixels), to measure the species abundance and to minimise auto-correction. The herbaceous species in the quadrants have been identified and their percentage of groundcover was determined. Within each quadrant, the vegetation was harvested and sealed in a plastic bag in the field, and the raw vegetation was then measured and recorded immediately in the laboratory, using a digital scale. After

replacing the plastic bags with brown bags, the sample vegetation was initially dried in an oven at 80°C for 36 hours, or until a constant weight was achieved, and then the dry biomass weight was determined. The following species were identified during the field surveys (see Table 4.1):

Table 4.1	List of wetland vegetation classes identified in sampling plots using
	taxonomic keys

Family	Names	No. of Species
Amaryllidaceae	Crinum macowani	1
Cyperaceae	Carex austroafricana, Cyperus difformis,	6
	<i>Cyperus dive, Cyperus latifidius, Cyperus sexangularis, Schoenoplectus brachyceras</i>	
Lamiaceae	Mentha longifolia	1
Nymphaeaceae	Nymphaea nouchalia var.coerulea,	1
Poaceae	Phragmites australis, Short mixed C3 and C4	3
	grass, Setaria megaphylla	
Thelypteridaceae	Cyclosorus intteruptus	1
Typhaceae	Typha capensis	1
Xyridaceae	Xyris capensis	1
	Total	15
	UNIVERSITY of the	
	WEATERNA ALTER	
	WESTERN CAPE	



Figure 4.1 (a) Cutting of wetland vegetation species within a 1 m by 1 m quadrant (represented by red box), (b) raw vegetation carried in a plastic bag, and (c) species productivity and diversity in the Maungani wetland

### 4.2.2 Satellite image acquisition and pre-processing

Sentinel-2 MSI, which is a sun-synchronous and polar-orbiting satellite image that covers the study area, was used. The level 1C product, single scene of the Sentinel-2 image was retrieved from the European Space Agency (ESA) Copernicus Open Access Hub (https://scihub.copernicus.eu/). The image was delivered orthorectified at a Top of Atmosphere (TOA) reflectance in Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM) projection with the World Geodetic System (WGS). Sentinel-2 MSI imagery has a swath width of 290 km<sup>2</sup> and provides 13 spectral bands at varying spatial resolutions, ranging from 10 m (visible and narrow NIR bands), 20 m (red edge, NIR and SWIR bands) and 60 m (costal aerosol, water vapour and cirrus bands) (see Table 4.2). For this study, we utilised 10 spectral bands (2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 8A, 11 and 12) for analysis. Costal aerosol, water vapour and cirrus bands were excluded from the analysis, due to their relevance in the detection of atmospheric features, and they were considered to be inappropriate for vegetation mapping and monitoring (Thamaga and Dube, 2019). The raw satellite image was pre-processed in the Sentinel Application Platform (SNAP) tool for atmospheric correction, using the Sen2cor module in SNAP software. The spectral bands (red edge, NNIR and SWIR) were resampled to 10 m, based on the nearest neighbourhood technique using sen2cor module, to ensure that all bands had a comparable spatial resolution and to determine the advantage of a higher resolution, for compatibility purposes and for further analysis. Ten (10) spectral bands were stacked, using composite bands under raster processing, and randomly generated sample points (using Hwath tool) were employed to extract multi-values in the ArcGIS 10.6 environment. 1.00

#### 4.2.3 Vegetation indices and species diversity estimation models

Traditionally, field observations have been directly linked to wall-to-wall remote sensing data, using statistical models for the estimation of wetland vegetation species diversity. In this present study, spectral reflectance (10 spectral bands) derived from Sentinel-2 MSI for each quadrant were used to calculate 13 selected vegetation indices (Table 4.3), in order to estimate diversity and productivity of the wetland vegetation species. The spectral reflectance is critical for classifying wetland vegetation species because it can be applied to record the biophysical and biochemical attributes of vegetation, such as biomass. The spectral band and derived vegetation indices were reported to have been extensively applied by previous studies to predict and capture vegetation attributes over larger areas (Shoko and Mutanga, 2017; Ramperi *et al.*, 2020). These indices capture the sensitivity of vegetation features, while maximising the influence of confounding factors, such as soil background and atmospheric

effects or illumination (Xue and Su, 2017). For instance, EVI is sensitive to high biomass regions, due to its correction factor that eliminates the influence of aerosols and canopy backgrounds, while GNDVI is sensitive to variations in chlorophyll. Vegetation indices are based on the capacity of plants to significantly reflect incident electromagnetic signals in the NIR band, when compared to optical bands. These proxies have been applied in wetland vegetation-related studies (Rokni *et al.*, 2014; Mahdavhi *et al.*, 2017; Eid *et al.*, 2020).

Table 4.2Sentinel-2 Multi-Spectral Imager satellite characteristics. The spectral bands<br/>utilised in this study for analysis are shown in bold letters

Band No. and name	Central wavelength (nm)	Bandwidth (nm)	Spatial resolution (m)
1 – Costal aerosol	443	20	60
2 – Blue	490	65	10
3 – Green	560	35	10
4 – Red	665	30	10
5 – VRE 1	705	15	20
6 – VRE 2	740	15	20
7 – VRE 3	783	20	20
8 – NIR	842	115	10
8a – NNIR	865	20	20
9 – Water vapor	945	20	60
10 – SWIR – Cirrus	1380	SIT <sup>30</sup> of the	60
11 – SWIR 1	1610	<b>90 90</b>	20
12 – SWIR 2	W 2190 TER	N GS&PE	20

\*VRE: Vegetation Red Edge, NIR: Near Infra-Red, NNIR: Narrow Near Infra-Red, SWIR: Short Wave Infra-Red

Vegetation index	Formula	Reference
EVI	2.5 * ((NIR - Red)/(1 + NIR + 6Red - 7.5Blue))	(Huete et al. 1997; Gao et al., 2000)
SAVI	((NIR - Red) * (1 + L))/(NIR + Red + L)	(Huete 1988)
NDVI	(NIR – Red)/(NIR + Red)	(Liu and Huete, 1995)
VARIg	(Green-Red)/green+Red-Blue	Gitelson et al., 2002
ARVI	(NIR - (2*(Red - Blue)))/(NIR + (2*(NIR - Blue)))	(Kaufman and Tanré 1992)
PVI	NIR/NIR + R	(Richardson and Weigand, 1977)
GNDVI	(NIR - Green)/(NIR + Green)	(Gitelson et al., 1996)
OSAVI	(NIR - Red)/(NIR + Red + 0.16)	(Rondeaux et al., 1996)
DVI	NIR – Green	(Tucker, 1979)
CIgreen	(NIR/Red) – 1	(Gitelson et al. 2005)
MSR	((NIR/Red) -1)/((NIR /Red) <sup>1/2</sup> + 1)	(Chen, 1996)
NDVI45	(Red edge1 - Red)/(Red edge 1 + Red)	Delegido et al., 2011
S2REP	705 + 35 *((((NIR + R)/2) - RE1)/(RE2 - RE1))	Frampton et al., 2013

Table 4.3Vegetation indices that were utilised in the present study with their respective<br/>formulae, as well as references

\*Enhanced Vegetation Index (EVI), Simple Adjusted Vegetation Index (SAVI), Normalised Different Vegetation Index (NDVI), Visible Atmospherically Resistant Index green (VARIg), Atmospherically Resistant Vegetation Index (ARVI), Perpendicular Vegetation Index (PVI), Green Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (GNDVI), Atmospherically Resistant Vegetation Index (ARVI), Renormalized Difference Vegetation Index (RDVI), Difference Vegetation Index (DVI), Greenness Index (GI), Visible Atmospherically-Resistant Index, Green chlorophyll index, (NDI45), Sentinel-2 Red-edge Position (S2REP), Modified Simple Ratio (MSR)

### 4.2.4 Wetland species diversity estimation indices

To quantify the wetland vegetation species diversity indices, the Shannon-Wiener, Simpson, Margalef and Pielou presented in Table 4.4 were used for the evaluation process. For each plot placed in this study, the species diversity, richness and evenness were determined by calculating the selected indices and the list of species available. The diversity indices were chosen because of their frequent use in vegetation species modelling. According to the suggestions of Brown *et al.* (2013), the richness, variety and evenness of species were determined. These were determined for each plot by computing the Shannon-Wiener index and identifying the species. The percentage of the plot filled by species *i* is denoted as *pi*, and this value indicates the relative abundance of species *i*. The *pi* was used to compute *H'*, which is a proxy for species diversity, as shown in the following formulae:

Diversity	Equation	Description	Reference
Index			
Shannon-	$H' = -\sum_{i=1}^{s} pi In(pi)$	The Shannon-Wiener index articulates the	
Wiener		existence of the ith species in a community,	
index		its values typically range from 0 to 3.5, with	Shannon and
		the values correlating to more species	Wiener
		diversity. Lower numbers imply a lower	(1949)
		degree of species diversity found in the	
		region, and it occurs when all species are	
		present in equal numbers.	
Simpson	$D_2 = 1/\sum_{i=1}^{s} pi^2$	The Simpson index estimate the likelihood	
index		that two individuals chosen randomly from a	
		sample will belong to the same species. The	
	6	index has a value between 0 and 1, and the	Simpson
	TTC .	higher value, the greater the sample variety.	(1949)
	-	The index indicates the likelihood that two	
		individuals drawn at random from a sample	
		will be of different species.	
Margalef	$\mathbf{R}_1 = \frac{(s-1)}{lnn}$	The Margalef index estimates the variety of	
index		species present within a certain area. It is	Margalef
	UI	also determined by the amount of vegetation	(1958)
	347	present in the defined region.	
Pielou	$J' = \frac{H'}{H'_{max}}$	The Pielou index is used to measure the	
index		relative frequency of species groups. The	Pielou (1975)
		index can have a quantity of 1 (all species	
		are equally abundant) and 0 (only one type	
		of species). The higher value, the greater the	
		species diversity, and the lower the value,	
		the lower the species abundance.	

 Table 4.4
 The diversity indices used to quantify the wetland vegetation species

### 4.2.5 Regression algorithm used for wetland vegetation prediction

In this study, the Multiple Linear Regression (MLR) method, which is statistical method that uses the spatial distribution of dependent variables, by means of linear combination, to predict the outcomes of the independent variables. The technique was utilised to determine the factors, and the contribution of these components were determined by a repeated iterative

regression analysis and significance testing. The MLR is a widely-used method that is used to construct regression models for various prediction applications i.e. grasslands, forests and wetland estimation (Hu *et al.*, 2020).

### 4.2.6 Model assessment for wetland vegetation species diversity

In order to assess the effectiveness of the model in estimating the accuracy of the diversity and productivity of wetland vegetation species, the following three criteria were chosen: determination of coefficient (r<sup>2</sup>) (Equation 1), the Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) and the Mean Absolute Error (MAE) (Equation 2).  $R^2$  is utilized to determine the collinearity between the predicted and observed vegetation values (the measure of the proportion of variance of a predicted outcome) (Husch et al., 2003). RMSE (Equation 3) is a standard metric for measuring the differences between the estimated value by the model and the actual biomass values; however, it is easily influenced by outliers (Chai and Draxler, 2014). It is suggested that the MAE be used with RMSE for determining the variations of errors in the model (Bui et al., 2016). The RMSE and MAE values close to 0 and an R<sup>2</sup> value close to 1 indicate that the model is an accurate predictor. The most accurate model yields a high value of the  $r^2$  and a low RMSE. The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) was also used to assess the model complexity i.e. a low AIC highlights the most parsimonious model. From each analysis, using the field-based measurement, a better model was identified, and the selected model and its associated variables were then used to produce wetland vegetation diversity maps for the study area. WESTERN CAPE

$R^{2} = 1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{is} - y_{it})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{is} - \gamma_{it})^{2}}$	Equation 1
$RMSE = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(y_{is} - y_{it})^2}{n}}$	Equation 2
$MAE = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n}  y_{is} - y_{it} }{n}$	Equation 3

Where  $y_{is}$  is the *i*<sup>th</sup> simulated wetland vegetation value,  $y_{it}$  is the real wetland vegetation value among the tested sample points,  $y_{it}$  is the average simulated wetland vegetation for all the tested points, and *n* is the size of the tested samples.

### 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Wetland vegetation species diversity estimation models, based on all spectral bands and vegetation indices

Considering the potential of the MLR algorithm for predicting the wetland vegetation species diversity, the model with all input variables provided satisfactory results. The prediction of the diversity of wetland vegetation species is dependent on the combination of selected vegetation indices and spectral bands derived from Sentinel-2 MSI. In this study, 13 vegetation indices, along with ten spectral bands, were required in this analysis to extract the values against the species diversity indices. The wetland vegetation species diversity and abundance estimation (Figure 4.2) were derived from the vegetation indices, using Sentinel-2 image yield coefficient of determination ( $r^2$ ) value of 0.66 (65.69%), RMSE = 37.78 m g<sup>-2</sup>, and an AIC of 302.361 for dry biomass. The Shannon-winner index yielded an  $r^2$  value of 0.64 (63.78%), an RMSE of 0.246 m  $g^{-2}$  and an AIC of 99.824. The Simpson index achieved the best relationship for predicting and estimating species diversity with  $r^2$  of 0.84 (84.36%), an RMSE = 0.067 m g<sup>-2</sup> and an AIC of 204.497. The Margalef index yielded an  $r^2$  value of 0.53 (52.72%), an RMSE of 0.572 m g<sup>-2</sup> and an AIC of 11.662. The Pielou index yielded an  $r^2$  value of 0.70 (69.19%), an RMSE of 0.159 m g<sup>-2</sup> and an AIC of 134.913. The variable performance of the wetland species diversity indices that are presented in Figure 4.2, illustrated that the Simpson index has the strongest MLR in estimating wetland vegetation species, with the Margalef index having a lower  $r^2$ , respectively.

WESTERN CAPE



Figure 4.2 Predicted results for: (a) Above Ground Biomass (AGB), (b) Shannon-Wiener Diversity Index, (c) Simpson Diversity Index, (d) Pielou Evenness Index and (e) Margalef Richness Index based on selected variables from remotely sensed dataset, using MLR

### 4.3.2 Variable of importance measures

The Variable of Importance (VIP) of the individual predictor variables for species diversity estimation models, combined with the remote sensing dataset and vegetation indices, as presented in Figure 4.3, had VIP magnitude of change ranging between 0.3 and 4.6, respectively. It can be observed in Figure 4.3 (a) that PVI, Red-Edge 2, OSAVI and NDVI were the top four largest contributors with Red, NDVI45, Blue and Red-Edge 2 in Figure 4.3 (b). On the other hand, AVIR, NIR, Green and near NIR were identified as the best variables using the Simpson index, MSr, Red, SWIR-1 and S2REP were the best with the Pielou index, and lastly, in the Margalef index, NDVI45, MSR, S4REP and red-edge 2 were ranked the major top-five contributors. Following the VIP results, Red-Edge 2 band was found to be the most variable in improving the estimation of wetland vegetation diversity.





Figure 4.3 Variable importance derived from: (a) Above Ground Biomass (AGB), (b)
Shannon-Wiener Diversity Index, (c) Simpson Diversity Index, (d) Pielou
Evenness Index and (e) Margalef Richness Index. The relative importance of
variables in the multisource dataset. The variables are ranked based on their
contribution to the MLR model

### 4.3.3 Mapping wetland vegetation using Sentinel-2 MSI and diversity index

The wetland vegetation species diversity derived maps in Figure 6a-e demonstrate that the diversity pattern (evenness and richness) is consistent within the area of study. It can be observed from Figure 4.4a that there is a high concentration of AGB in the northern and western parts of the Maungani wetland. The concentration of AGB can also be observed in the centre towards the southern site of the Maungani wetland. The Shannon-Wiener thematic map (Figure 4.4b) illustrates a low distribution of vegetation diversity, with a medium concentration at the centre of the wetland. The Simpson Index (Figure 4.4c) managed to depict a higher vegetation species diversity in the entire Maungani wetland area. A lower distribution of species diversity can be observed in the northern portion. The Pielou Evenness Index (Figure 4.4d) illustrates a lower, medium and higher species diversity distribution. A lower concertation can be observed in the northern side, with a medium diversity concentration in the southern site and a higher species concentration at the centre of the study. Figure 4.4e shows how the Margalef Index managed to depict a higher species diversity in the northern portion and a medium concentration at the centre of the study area, towards southern side.



WESTERN CAPE





Figure 4.4 Remotely sensed derived wetland species diversity distribution maps for the Maungani wetland ecosystem: (a) Above Ground Biomass (AGB), (b) Shannon-Wiener Diversity Index, (c) Simpson Diversity Index, (d) Pielou Evenness Index and (e) Margalef Richness Index

## 4.4 Discussion UNIVERSITY of the

Small unprotected wetland ecosystems serve the surrounding communities and have multiple functions; however, their ecological and environmental conditions are not yet fully understood. Therefore, accurate and reliable information on the diversity of vegetation species in unprotected wetlands is essential for catchment managers, land use planners and conservation managers, in order to ensure sustainable wetland management (policy-making, strategic planning, rehabilitation). The estimation of wetland vegetation species by using satellite images remains challenging because of a number of factors that impact the relationship between the field data and remote sensing variables. The use of the recently-launched remote sensing data is very critical in detection, monitoring and mapping of vegetation species diversity. In this study, Sentinel-2 MSI and MLR were explored to estimate the diversity of wetland vegetation species in the Maungani wetland of Limpopo Province, South Africa.

### 4.4.1 Wetland vegetation species diversity estimation

Fifteen vegetation species were identified in the Maungani wetland and these belonged to eight (8) families, namely, Cyperaceae and Poaceae. The presence of these species indicate that the wetland is rich in species diversity. A number of factors influence the diversity (i.e. abundance, richness and evenness) of vegetation species, particularly in small wetlands; they include the hydrodynamics, elevation, grazing, and anthropogenic activities. Hosieni *et al.* (2016) showed that the destruction and degradation of wetlands leads to a reduction in species richness and evenness. Therefore, in order to understand the wetland landscape, it is imperative to assess the species diversity by using various biodiversity indices such as a diversity index (Shannon-Wiener index and Simpson index), a species richness index (Margalef index) and a species evenness index (Pielou index).

The results of the Simpson index showed that the vegetation species diversity was high in the wetland. In the northern and western parts of the study area, the Shannon-Wiener Index demonstrated a lower diversity of vegetation species, while at the centre of the study there is a moderate to high species diversity. This is because the Shannon-Wiener Index describes the uncertainty of individual species. A higher uncertainty of a species represents a high diversity, while a lower uncertainty represents a lower diversity. This index is widely used in the biodiversity field to measure the diversity of ecosystems. Simpson's diversity index is more sensitive to dominant species, while the Shannon-Wiener's diversity index is more sensitive to rare species (Boyle et al. 1990). Generally, the Simpson Index ranges between 0 and 1. However, the higher diversity values that range between 0.6 and 0.9 demonstrate a mature and stable wetland community, while the lower values, closer to zero, show that the wetland community is under stress conditions, exhibiting low diversity (Dash, 2017). This diversity index always exhibits higher values where a smaller number of vegetation species dominate the community and when the dominance is mainly by large number of species (Whittaker, 2014). Based on species diversity indicators, it can be concluded that the Simpson index is associated with an increase in the number of individuals and the number of species. In addition to its relative simplicity, the use of this indicator can also give a good understanding of species diversity within an ecosystem. The diversity of the study area supports mainly the distribution of Typha capensis, Phragmites australis, Cyperus sexangularis and Cyperus dive, which dominate the whole area. Based on our results, the dominance of a single species was mainly a result of disturbance. For instance, the use of fertilisers by small-scale farmers and the anthropogenic activities around the Maungani wetland contributed to the dominance of a single species.

The Margalef and Pielou Indices displayed an evenness and richness in the vegetation species. The results derived from the Margalef Index map showed that the wetland vegetation species is rich. This index depends on a number of vegetation species being present within the demarcated area under study and it has no limited value for representing species richness. It takes only one component of diversity (species richness) into consideration, which reflects its sensitivity to the identified sample size. Our results are therefore consistent with the field observations. On the other hand, the Pielou Index showed a low to medium distribution of species richness in the northern part of the study area. However, a low to moderate mean annual precipitation reduces or lowers the diversity of the wetland vegetation species. The geology, hydrodynamics and drought periods in the northern parts of the wetland are likely to have influenced species diversity in the area. Our results concur with a study by Shackleton (2000), who highlighted that an increase in species richness and evenness is influenced by the increased average to high precipitation in the area. It has been reported that the diversity of vegetation and its spatial distribution have a significant impact on the functioning of wetland ecosystems.

# 4.4.2 Performance of Sentinel-2 MSI-derived data in estimating wetland vegetation species diversity and productivity

Sentinel-2 images played a critical role in estimating and mapping the diversity of wetland vegetation species and helped to understand the state of species richness and abundance in the unprotected wetland in the Maungani area. The results showed the capability of strategically-positioned bands in strengthening the sensor for estimating and modelling wetland species diversity. These results concur with other vegetation and diversity estimation studies that have used the Sentinel dataset (Thamaga and Dube, 2019; Pandit *et al.*, 2019). The presence of Red-edge bands in Sentinel-2 benefited the detecting, mapping and estimation of the diversity of wetland vegetation. For this purpose, the performance of Sentinel-2 and Landsat 8 in estimating wetland vegetation species was investigated. The derived results showed that Sentinel-2 performed better than Landsat 8. Thamaga and Dube (2018b) observed similar observations where Sentinel-2 outcompeted Landsat 8 in detecting and mapping water hyacinth in a narrow river system. Red-edge bands were the most sensitive to vegetation

species. The results also imply that Sentinel-2 spectral bands that are integrated with the vegetation indices, mapped out vegetation species diversity for the entire study area. This study supports Asner and Martin's (2016) findings that species biochemical and biophysical characteristics might aid in the mapping of the distribution of invasive species. The maps derived from the study show that there are lows and highs in the dominance and evenness patterns of species diversity in the Maungani wetland area. Based on our ecological knowledge, climate change scenarios, land use activities and invasive plant species altered the dominant structure of wetland ecosystem (Kardol *et al.*, 2010; Forrestel *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, climate change patterns resulting from droughts, increased the temperatures and influenced the dominance and evenness of the species distribution, rather than its richness.

### 4.4.3 Implications for wetland species conservation

The rapid population growth, agricultural activities, water level fluctuation changes, livestock grazing, as well as climate change, remain a challenge in developing regions, particularly in areas near unprotected wetlands. For instance, increasing droughts have led to the risk of wetland vegetation degeneration and shrinkage at lower elevations. Furthermore, Li *et al.* (2018) highlighted that the increasing nutrient concentrations during the dry season because of the reduced water levels, leading to eutrophication, which affects the wetland diversity. However, in managing the vegetation diversity of unprotected wetland species, an in-depth understanding is required of the water quality and complexity of the ecohydrological environment. Furthermore, in data-scarce locations like sub-Saharan Africa, obtaining precise and reliable information on the geographic distribution, configuration, and propagation rates remains a problem. Therefore, a better understanding of wetland biodiversity may benefit from the spatial environmental factors that affect the ecosystem.

### 4.5 Conclusion

The study aimed at modelling vegetation species diversity by integrating the Sentinel-2 MSI dataset and diversity indices in the unprotected Maungani wetland. Based on our findings, we conclude that:

- Variable predictors, such as the Simpson index, had the strongest relationship in estimating wetland vegetation, compared to the Margalef Index, which had a lower r<sup>2</sup>.
- The presence of red-edge bands was also found to be the most reliable for enhancing the estimation, mapping, monitoring and management of wetland vegetation in

unprotected wetlands that are still lacking in data scarce regions i.e. African regions, in the face of climate change.

• Furthermore, the results highlighted the relevance of Sentinel-2 data, which have the potential to contribute to more robust and evidence-based information that can assist in policy-making in conservation and the sustainable use of wetland ecosystems.

Overall, the mapping and monitoring of species diversity, using the Sentinel-2 dataset and biodiversity indices, are critical because they can provide benefits for the planning, conservation and rehabilitation of wetlands. The link between remotely-sensed variables and vegetation diversity confirms the capabilities of Sentinel-2 MSI for the conservation process, particularly for screening, in order to locate the biodiversity hotspots.



### **CHAPTER FIVE**

# AN ASSESSMENT OF SMALL WETLAND ECOHYDROLOGICAL DYNAMICS USING SENTINEL-2 MSI-DERIVED SPECTRAL INDICES IN SEMI-ARID ENVIRONMENTS OF SOUTH AFRICA



**Thamaga, K.H.,** Dube T., Shoko C., 2021. An assessment of small wetland ecohydrological dynamics using Sentinel-2 MSI derived spectral indices in semi-arid environments of South Africa. *Wetland Ecology and Management*, WETL-D-21-00141, (Manuscript under-review)

### Abstract

The presence of water within small wetlands serves as a determining factor that influences their biodiversity, productivity and functionality. Small wetlands remain largely unprotected; hence, they are more sensitive to frequent exposure to environmental modifications, and are less resilient to the changing rainfall patterns, climate change and variability, droughts and changing land use practices. Accurate and up-to-date spatial and temporal information on changes in the surface water and the extent of inundation becomes imperative for the proper management of these wetlands. Therefore, this study sought to extract and monitor ecohydrological dynamics (surface water and inundation extent) of wetlands, using monthly Sentinel-2 MSI remotely-sensed datasets. These dynamics were assessed for the period between July 2020 and June 2021, using the Modified Normalised Difference Water Index (MNDWI), the Normalised Difference Moisture Index (NDMI) and the Normalised Difference Phenology Index (NDPI) derived from Sentinel-2 MSI data. The results showed that the rainy season (Dec 2020-Feb 2021) had a larger water coverage extent (10948 m<sup>2</sup> (0.05%) to 31594 m<sup>2</sup> (0.13%), when compared to the dry season (July 2020: 19157 m<sup>2</sup>) (0.04%) and June 2021:14429 m<sup>2</sup> (0.03%)). The extent of the surface area declined during the dry period, due to less rainfall (0.20 mm) and the decreased actual evapotranspiration (9.90 mm-10.43 mm). Furthermore, the NDPI showed a high concentration of wetland vegetation between October 2020 and April 2021. On the contrary, a higher moisture content was observed between December 2020 and April 2021. The increase in vegetation concentration and moisture content reflects the spatial extent of the inundation. The extent of the wetland water, soil moisture and vegetation condition were assessed with a high overall accuracy that ranged between 70.83% and 97.36%. Overall, the results indicated that small wetlands are characterised by significant variations in the levels of inundation and productivity throughout the year.

**Keywords:** Agricultural practices; Climate variability; High resolution satellite data; Inundation extent; Moisture variation; Surface water presence; Wetland productivity

#### 5.1 Introduction

Wetlands are distinctive and complex ecohydrological systems that occur within a wide range of climatic and topographic environments (Olefeldt et al., 2017; Thamaga et al., 2021). They are defined as areas that have a low water level, frequently near the ground-surface, and that are characterised by the presence of hydrophytic vegetation during the growing period (Barducci et al., 2009). Wetlands arise when the soil is flooded or inundated with water for various time periods (seasonal, inter-annual and decal) and at different frequencies (Li et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2020). Their ecological processes are impacted by water-related processes that regulate the surface water and groundwater recharge, as well as dissolved water and inputs and outputs of material. Despite covering a smaller proportion of land (3%--8%), unprotected wetlands distributed across sub-Saharan Africa offer several ecohydrological and socio-economic benefits (Tiner et al., 2015; Marambanyika & Beckedahl, 2016; Gxokwe et al., 2020; Dzurume et al., 2021). These wetlands, for example, support the livelihoods of neighbouring rural communities, and often-poor households, with water, particularly in water-scarce areas. Small wetlands play a critical role in rural economics, as they sustain thousands of smallholder farmers more than larger protected wetlands (Azumi, 2010; Tanko, 2013). In Southern and Central Africa, 'dambos' continue to support water provision, seasonal agriculture, grazing and fishing (Wood and Thaw, 2013). In areas where access to water is scarce or limited during dry season, such as in the highlands of Ethiopia, wetlands regulate the hydrological cycle and enhance water availability in the region (Finlayson et al., 2005). Water availability within wetlands serves as a baseline factor that influences the biodiversity hotspots of wetland ecosystems. The water presence and spatial extent of a wetland reflect its hydroperiod, which is the period of water level fluctuations that take place in a wetland over time (temporary, seasonal or permanent) (Jackson et al., 2014). Small wetlands, on the other hand, are under tremendous pressure and are being radically transformed to non-wetland habitats, which may lead to expansion, owing to both anthropogenic activities (water diversion, intensive agricultural and industrial development, as well as water abstraction) and natural processes (rainfall variability, evapotranspiration, drought and climate change).

Despite their vast expanse and benefits, small wetland ecosystems are highly vulnerable, they undergo immense pressure from natural and anthropogenic activities and their survival is being threatened. For instance, Marambanyika and Sibanda (2020) demonstrated that the spatial extent of wetlands in Zimbabwe decreased by 3.6% in the 1980s, when compared with

1.8% in 2015. On the other hand, Thamaga et al. (2021) illustrated that the Maungani wetland in South Africa lost 43.10% (728 400 ha) of its spatial extent between 1983 and 2019. These studies highlighted that a decline in wetland areas has been mainly attributed to an increase in the built-up areas. Other studies have revealed that unprotected wetlands are extremely sensitive to natural and anthropogenic land-use changes, due to changes in the hydrological regime, which directly threatens the ecosystem and the animals that rely on them (Bhanga et al., 2020; Wanjala et al., 2020). Natural processes, including a change in temperature, rainfall patterns, evapotranspiration, the drought rate and erosion have fasttracked wetland water losses (Xia et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2018). It was noted that river channels and the associated floodplain wetlands signify spatial and temporal hydrological changes, because flooding and the drought rates affect the area of inundation (Lambs, 2020). A decrease in the water table alters the interaction between the surface and groundwater and frequently shrinks the hydrological regimes of flood plain wetlands (Li et al., 2018). On the other hand, anthropogenic modifications resulting from dam construction and increased ruralurban development because of the increased population growth, alter the hydrological regimes in stream channels and riparian wetlands, which causes changes in ecohydrological dynamics of wetlands (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MEA), 2005). Gordon et al. (2010) reported that wetlands are being drained and approximately 27% of them are being lost, due to intensive agricultural practices. Furthermore, processes, such as desiccation, salinization, eutrophication, contamination and the emergence of alien plant species, disrupt biodiversity, spatial extent, water quality and availability of wetlands (Thamaga and Dube, 2018b; 2019). With the changing climate expected to dramatically affect South Africa's precipitation patterns, wetlands will be more critical than ever in mitigating the adverse effects of severe events, such as floods and the drought rate (Knoesen et al. 2009). To date, the hydrological dynamics of small wetlands serving nearby communities remains poorly quantified and managed, due to the lack of management prioritization. Therefore, there is a need to accurately and frequently monitor small wetlands, to put proper management practices in place and to support the sustainable management of wetland water resources.

The accurate extraction of wetland water and the extent of inundation is of great significance for the planning, monitoring and protection of these systems. Monitoring wetland ecohydrological dynamics by using traditional techniques has proven to be ineffective, owing to problems in capturing the spatio-temporal variability and sampling mistakes. In addition, these methods are expensive, laborious and restricted in their geographical coverage

(Thamaga and Dube, 2019; Thamaga *et al.*, 2021). The use of satellite-based remote sensing as an alternative can accurately detect and monitor small to larger wetlands in real-time, providing hydrological information, inundation spatial extent over time, especially in areas where in-situ datasets are limited (Tanko, 2013). Some sensors, such as Landsat datasets, Sentinel-2 and MODIS, have proved themselves to be promising in studies on wetland inundation, surface water estimation, water quality and the hydrological cycle (Chiloane *et al.*, 2020; Dzurume *et al.*, 2021).

Previous studies utilised various methods to distinguish, map and monitor the distribution of wetlands, surface waterbodies, inundation, and non-water areas (Niemuth et al., 2010; Wright, 2010). Some of the water delineation methods used include the thresholding, Decision Tree, classification and inter spectral relation methods (Mondal and Pal, 2018). Furthermore, appropriate spectral bands were combined, using various algebraic operations, to enhance their capabilities to differentiate water coverage areas from non-water bodies. Water indexing techniques to extract surface water bodies include the Water Ration Index (WRI), Tasselled Cap Wetness (TCW), the Automated Water Extraction Index (AWEI), the Normalised Difference Water Index (NDWI), the Land Surface Water Index (LSWI), the Modified NDWI (MNDWI), and the Water Index (WI) (Chiloane et al., 2020). The efficiency of indices for the extraction of water bodies was assessed, using the overall accuracy and kappa coefficient (Poulin et al. 2010). These indices perform differently in extracting surface water or in inundation areas. For instance, the study by Chiloane et al. (2020) tested multiple indices in the Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park of Southern Africa to pan inundation and the associated seasonal changes within the park. The results of the study showed that the MNDWI outperformed other indices in extracting pan inundation. In this study, we sought to extract and monitor the surface water and inundation area of small wetlands, using monthly Sentinel-2 MSI datasets for the period between July 2020 and June 2021. We further assessed the variability in wetland productivity by using the newly developed normalised difference phenology index (NDPI) as a proxy for vegetation condition.

### 5.2 Materials and Methods

### 5.2.1 Ancillary data

In this study, the field data was collected between 2<sup>nd</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> June 2021 and (60) points for non-water areas and open water surfaces were recorded. For other months between July 2020

to May 2021 the high spatial resolution of Google Earth Images was used to generate feature points. Meteorological datasets, mainly the monthly average rainfall data and mean temperature, were acquired from the South African Weather Services (SAWS) (*https://www.weathersa.co.za/*) for the Thohoyandou AWS station from July 2020 to June 2021. In addition, the monthly actual evapotranspiration (ET) was obtained from the MODIS data. The ET data was extracted on a monthly basis, between July 2020 and June 2021, and ET was used to assess the amount of evaporation and transpiration lost in the Maungani wetland. Meteorological and ET data were used to infer on the observed satellite-derived wetland ecohydrological dynamics i.e. the inundation extent, surface water variability and vegetation condition. The characteristics of wetland inundation and surface water are presented in Table 5.1. Vegetation cover within the wetland shows areas where it is temporarily or permanently inundated.

### 5.2.2 Satellite image acquisition and pre-processing

Dry and wet seasonal monthly Sentinel-2 MSI images for the period between July 2020 and June 2021, were retrieved from the European Space Agency (ESA) Copernicus Open Access Hub (<u>https://scihub.copernicus.eu/</u>). The raw satellite images were pre-processed using the Sentinel Application Platform (SNAP) tool for atmospheric, geometric and radiometric corrections, by using the Sen2Cor module in SNAP software, before being used for the computation spectral metrics. All the Sentinel-2 MSI data were converted to the Top of Atmosphere (TOA) reflectance value and to correct the Bottom of Atmosphere (BOA) value. Subsequently, Bands 1, 9 and 10 were excluded from the datasets. Lastly, the images were then resampled at 10 m, using a bilinear technique, and they were sub-set to the extent of the study site.

	Permanently moist	Temporarily flooded	Permanently flooded
Non-vegetated	NONE	NONE	NONE
Low-vegetated			
Medium-vegetated			
Highly vegetated		IVERSIT.	

Table 5.1Wetland characterisations considered in studying wetland inundation and<br/>surface water
#	Bands	Wavelength (µm)	Resolution (m)
1	Coastal/	0.43 - 0.46	60
2	Blue	0.44 - 0.54	10
3	Green	0.55 - 0.58	10
4	Red	0.65 - 0.68	10
5	RE1	0.70 - 0.73	20
6	RE2	0.73 - 0.75	20
7	RE3	0.77 - 0.79	20
8	NIR	0.76 - 0.90	10
8A	NIR narrow	0.86 - 0.88	20
9	Water vapor	0.94 - 0.96	60
10	Cirrus	1.36 – 1.39	60
11	SWIR - 1	1.54 - 1.68	20
12	SWIR - 2	2.08 - 2.32	20

Table 5.2Characteristics of Sentinel-2 used in the study

### 5.2.3 Topographic position

The topographic position in this study was utilised as an additional indication of the presence of wetlands. The Digital Elevation Model (DEM) is frequently utilised to generate topographic metrics, such as elevation, slope, aspect and curvature. In this study, the DEM downloaded from https://dwtkns.com/srtm30m/ was used to derive the Topographic Wetness Index (TWI), which is a hydrological measure that is determined by the flow speed and concentration of water flow at a watershed point (Buchanan et al., 2014). The TWI is also an index for soil moisture, which affects the growth and composition of vegetation (Gábor et al., 2020). The value of TWI specifies the amount of water held in slope component materials, which might affect and influence the slope instability. The aspect is given in degrees (0 and 360) pointing north, and it is calculated in radians and then sine converted to range, from -1 to 1. The slope stability factor has a significant impact on the flash flood process. This is influenced by the drainage system and the amount of rain that falls. TWI quantifies the inclination of grid cells for the collection and accrual of water (Sörensen et al., 2006). This index has been successfully used for studying vegetation patterns and predicting the spatial distribution of plants (Sørensen et al., 2006). Soil type data were retrieved from the ISRIC data hub (<u>http://data.isric.org/</u>), and the TWI equation (Equation 1) is defined as:

$$TWI = \ln\left(\frac{A}{\tan(\beta)}\right)$$
 Equation (1)

Where A is the upslope contributing area and  $\beta$  is the local slope angle. The higher the TWI of a cell, the higher is the tendency to accumulate water and/or to inundate an area.

# 5.2.4 Measuring wetland hydrology and inundation dynamics, using derived spectral indices

In order to assess the wetland hydrological dynamics for a twelve-month period (from July 2020-June 2021), the MNDWI (Equation 1) (after Xu, 2006) was applied to identify, discriminate and measure the surface water from the non-water pixels within the study area. The MNDWI is dimensionless and ranges from -1 and 1, with a greater MNDWI value indicating a high-water content. These indices provide the accurate extraction of open water features, compared to the standard NDWI. According to Ji *et al.* (2009), detecting variations in the water surface is a tough task, when using a single threshold value, owing to the dynamic nature of the land cover component that alters, based on the sub-pixels. The bands were chosen to enhance the reflectance of the water features, by using a green light wavelength, and to reduce the poor reflection of SWIR by water features by taking advantage of the high reflectance of the vegetation and soil features in the SWIR band (Du, 2016). MNDWI value is calculated by using the following equation (Equation 2):

$$MNDWI = \frac{Green - SWIR 1}{Green + SWIR 1}$$
(Equation 2)

The Normalised Difference Moisture Index (NDMI) shows the moisture variations of the land surface; it is highly correlated with the water content of the vegetation and is a good indicator of vegetation change (Rouse *et al.*, 1974). The NDMI (Bernstein 2012) values range between -1 and 1. The positive value represents a high moisture content, while the negative value represents a lower moisture level. NDMI uses NIR and SWIR-1 bands (see Equation 3) below:

$$NDMI = \frac{NIR - SWIR \, 1}{NIR + SWIR \, 1}$$
(Equation 3)

The wetland vegetation was assessed by using the Normalised Difference Phenology Index (NDPI) (Wang *et al.*, 2017). The NDPI is reliable and outperforms NDVI in distinguishing plants from the background, which theoretically enables it to be used for spring phenology monitoring. The NDPI (Equation 4) integrates the NIR, red and SWIR bands to extract

vegetation information. It ranges between -1 and 1, where a value closer to -1 represents a low vegetation concentration, while a value closer to +1 represents a high vegetation concentration.

$$NDPI = \frac{NIR - (0.74 \times Red + 0.26 \times SWIR 1)}{NIR + (0.74 \times Red + 0.26 \times SWIR 1)}$$
(Equation 4)

### 5.2.5 Accuracy analysis

The field data points (60) for non-water areas and open water surfaces were derived by using the high spatial resolution of Google Earth Images. For the duration of this study, sample points were used to validate the water presence within the Maungani wetland. The extracted multi-values for MNDWI, NMDI and NDPI were then used to derive classification accuracies. The derived ecohydrological dynamics were then compared with the climatological and ET data to establish the trends and to infer on the observed wetland conditions.

### 5.3 Results

## 5.3.1 Monthly extraction of surface water derived by using MNDWI

The water presence and inundation extent of the wetland were extracted from Sentinel-2 derived indices. The satellite-derived wetland water availability varies significantly across the area under study (Figure 5.1 and 5.2). A high-water presence was recorded in the summer season (December 2020 to February 2021) with an area of 10 948 m<sup>2</sup> (0.05%), 29 772 m<sup>2</sup> (0.12%) and 31 594 m<sup>2</sup> (0.13%), followed by August 2020 and September 2020, which covered an area of 12 711 m<sup>2</sup> (0.05%) and 19 157 m<sup>2</sup> (0.08%), respectively. In July 2020, water covered an area of 10 312 m<sup>2</sup> (0.04%), in August 2020 it covered 12 711 m<sup>2</sup> (0.05%) and in September the area increased to 19 157 m<sup>2</sup> (0.08%). During the study period, less water coverage was observed during dry period, which had experienced less precipitation and an increased temperature variability. The least water presence was observed in November 2020, when it covered 5 295 m<sup>2</sup> (0.02%).





Figure 5.1 Monthly surface water coverage depicted from July 2020 to June 2020



Figure 5.2 Seasonal variation in wetland water coverage derived using modified normalised difference water index

# 5.3.2 Monthly variation of wetland vegetation distribution in relation to the inundation periods, using NDPI

The monthly variations in the wetland vegetation condition results varied from 0.75 (higher) to -0.49 (low). Figure 5.3 shows that there was a higher concentration of wetland vegetation in the northern part of the wetland, with a medium to low configuration in the centre to southern parts in July and August 2020, respectively. In September 2020, the larger dominating part of the wetland area had less cover than the northern part, which had a medium cover. Wetland vegetation with medium cover was observed from the centre to southern parts of the Maungani wetland in October 2020. In November 2020, a gradual rise was observed. Furthermore, the months of December 2020 to April 2021 had a higher vegetation configuration than the other months selected in this study. In May and June 2020, there was a reduction in vegetation from the centre of the study towards the southern part of the wetland. The monthly variation, rainfall, temperature and evapotranspiration trends have an influence on the reduction of vegetation productivity in the wetland.





Figure 5.3 Monthly variation in Normalised Difference Phenology Index (NDPI) as a proxy for wetland vegetation condition

### 5.3.3 Monthly variation of moisture within the Maungani wetland area

Figure 5.4 shows the monthly distribution of the moisture content in the Maungani wetland area, using NDMI. The retrieved findings varied from as low as -0.80 to 0.55. There was evidence that the months between December 2020 and April 2021 experienced medium to high amounts of moisture. In July and August 2020, a high, moderate and low moisture content was observed in the northern, middle and southern parts of the study, while in October 2020, November 2020 and June 2021, a reduction in the moisture content was observed in the northern part of the study area. The findings showed that the month of September had the lowest moisture content, compared to the other months.





Figure 5.4 Monthly moisture variation depicted between July 2020 and June 2021

```
http://etd<sup>101</sup>uwc.ac.za/
```

# 5.3.4 Accuracy assessment derived to extract surface water coverage, moisture and vegetation distribution

During the study period, overall classification accuracy (Figure 5.5) was used to assess the extraction capabilities of the NDMI, NDPI and MNDWI. The NDPI achieved an overall accuracy that ranged from 70.83% to 91.65%, respectively, while the NDMI extracted the moisture within the wetland with a high overall accuracy of 95.63% and 73.47%. Lastly, MNDWI achieved an overall accuracy of 78.31% and 97.36%.



Figure 5.5 Overall classification accuracies achieved from the different combination of the three algorithms (NDPI, NDMI and MNDWI) and Sentinel-2 sensors

APE

### 5.3.5 Relationship between rainfall pattern, temperature and evapotranspiration

WESTERN

Figure 5.6 shows a monthly rainfall and mean temperature trend within the Maungani wetland. The results shows that the wetland area experiences both low and high rainfall and temperatures. The rainfall was found to be higher during the wet period in December 2020, January 2021 and February 2021, with 18.44 mm, 20.45 mm and 12.85 mm, respectively. During the drier periods, the rainfall was lower, ranging from 0.20 mm in May 2021 to 0.60 mm in July 2020. On the other hand, it can be observed that mean monthly temperature ranged between 16.15°C in July and 25.65°C in December.



Figure 5.6 Monthly mean rainfall and temperature for the period between July 2020 and June 2021

Figure 5.7 shows the relationship between the monthly (July 2020-June 2021) water extent and the actual evapotranspiration (ET). It can be observed that the seasonal variation influences the actual ET trends within the wetland, where wet periods experience a higher ET than in the drier periods. Meanwhile, a maximum ET value (139.16 mm) was observed in December 2020 and a minimum ET value of 9.90 mm in June 2021. During the first six months (July-December 2020), a gradual increase in the actual ET trend was observed from 10.43 mm in August 2020 to a maximum peak of 139.16 mm in December 2020. Furthermore, a decline in ET was observed between January and June 2021, from 132.39 mm to 9.90 mm. The results also confirmed that the water availability or coverage had a high ET estimate between November 2020 and February 2021, compared to the other months.



Figure 5.7 Relationship between the extracted water extent and actual evapotranspiration from July 2020 to June 2021

### 5.4 Discussion

The increasing number of remotely-sensed datasets provide new opportunities for the monitoring of surface water and inundation in small wetland ecosystems in water-stressed environments. As a result, this study sought to map and assess the monthly wetland water and inundation variations (July 2020-June 2021), using the Sentinel-2 MSI derived Modified Normalised Difference Water Index (MNDWI), the Normalised Difference Moisture Index (NDMI) and the Normalised Difference Phenology Index (NDPI) in the Maungani wetland of the Limpopo Transboundary Basin. Sentinel-2 MSI, with its improved spatial (up to 10 m on certain bands) and temporal (a 5-day revisit) resolution, is freely available and provides detailed and timely information that is critical to wetland ecologists and water resources managers. This information will strengthen the policies, management systems, monitoring and quantification of neglected small wetland ecosystems serving neighbouring communities and it will improve the rural economy.

### 5.4.1 Small wetland response due to monthly precipitation and evaporation variability

Water presence is the main factor controlling ecohydrological dynamics and functionality of wetlands. Wetlands respond differently to variations in rainfall, increased evapotranspiration and temperature. The findings of the study revealed that rainfall, evapotranspiration,

temperature and water coverage trends were higher during the summer months (December 2020, January 2021 and February 2021), compared to the dry months (July 2020, August 2020, May 2021 and June 2021). The period facilitated wetland water losses and the reduced extent of inundation through evapotranspiration. A study by Zou et al. (2017) showed that rainfall increases the soil moisture content, inundation and water availability within wetland ecosystems. A clear picture of monthly wetland water fluctuation and inundation area is provided during the period of study. The increase in the evapotranspiration rate far exceeds the rainfall, hence it has a significant effect on the presence of wetland water (Dini and Everard, 2016). The evapotranspiration rates increased during the dry periods, resulting in significant wetland water losses and the condition of wetland vegetation (Evenson et al. 2016). Mathews et al. (2019) highlighted that the spatial extent of wetland inundation is dependent on upstream rainfall and on the ambient trends of evapotranspiration and infiltration, or groundwater recharge. Furthermore, the impacts of evapotranspiration, due to the increased net radiation energy, reduces the vaporised inundation area as well as the moisture availability in small wetlands. Wetland water availability and soil moisture during the summer months reflects the extent of inundation, which is strongly related to the configuration of the vegetation community.

The NDPI results demonstrated similar trends with regard to the inundation extent and moisture variability. In cases where the Maungani wetland area experiences less rainfall and a reduced inundation extent, it resulted in the disruption of vegetation productivity. When dramatic hydrological changes were observed in Poyang Lake in China, it greatly influenced the wetland vegetation (Petus *et al.*, 2013). Similar observations were observed by Smith *et al.* (2011) who stated that disconnected streams reduced the water presence and inundation extent, which affected the wetland species diversity and productivity. Water shortages during low rainfall periods and rising temperatures resulted in prolonged droughts, which led to the drying up of small wetland ecosystems. A reduction in the extent of monthly inundation and water presence has a significant influence on vegetation productivity of wetlands. The encroachment of drought conditions within the wetland areas increases the susceptibility of wetland vegetation productivity and complicates the functionality of wetlands.

Water deficits in the wetlands represent a severe threat to ecohydrological systems (Lesk *et al.*, 2016). In addition to the climatic factors, anthropogenic land-use activities alter the water flow, water availability and extent of inundation. Furthermore, the modifications of the

underlying surface characteristics, such as soil moisture, vegetation community, surface roughness and temperature, changes water and heat balance at the surface. This has long-term implications for the surrounding communities that rely on wetland ecosystems. Excessive wetland water withdrawal for irrigation purposes drains the water table beyond its depth and it disrupts the vegetation that is dependent on the inundation area, which then deteriorates and irreversibly complicates the ecohydrological system (Nevill *et al.*, 2020). Smith *et al.* (2011) highlighted that wetland linked to aquifers undergo diminished inundation because the aquifers are drying up, or excessive withdrawals of water are made for agricultural purposes. Agricultural malpractices are putting additional strain on the wetlands, which results in the ecosystem drying up, and the impacts are being exacerbated by the increasing temperatures, with less precipitation (Martin *et al.*, 2020).

Our results showed the applicability of Sentinel-2 MSI and metrics (MNDWI, NDPI and NDMI) in assessing the availability of wetland water and the extent of inundation in the Maungani wetland. The results were obtained by using MNDWI, NDPI and NDMI, which managed to retrieve the water, vegetation, and moisture information with high classification accuracies during the study period. Satellite-extracted ecohydrological data provide baseline information for creating an early warning of impending transitions. With the information gathered from the study, management strategies and decisions can be drawn to protect small wetland ecosystems from further degradation. Although developing regions depend heavily on the ecohydrological systems, policies that monitor the withdrawal of wetland water need to be enforced, in order to regulate the agriculture-related activities in these wetlands.

# 5.4.2 Implications of using a remotely-sensed dataset to study wetland ecohydrological systems

Existing small wetland ecohydrological systems have deteriorated and/or disappeared, yet there is little information available on the extent of wetland water and inundation. Furthermore, the hydrological dynamics of unprotected wetlands are influenced by drought or erosion, climatic conditions and anthropogenic activities, which contribute to the deterioration of wetland ecosystems and make rehabilitation difficult and expensive (Grenfell *et al.*, 2019). Monitoring these ecosystems by using Sentinel-2 MSI contributes to a better understanding of ecohydrological systems. However, these images have limitations, for example, cloud cover during the rainy season, which limit the capability for extracting the monthly water presence and the inundation extent (Whitcraft *et al.*, 2015). A five-day

overpass period, the frequent cloud cover during the rainy season, as well as shadows, make the accurate monitoring and mapping of wetland water and inundation areas difficult.

## 5.5 Conclusion

This study assessed the monthly variations of the water presence and inundation areas in wetlands, by using the monthly Sentinel-2 MSI dataset. Monthly images, dating from July 2020 to June 2021, were used to extract the water and inundation areas by using MNDWI, NDPI and NDMI. The following conclusions were drawn from the results:

- During the period of study, MNDWI, NDMI and NDPI achieved overall classification accuracies ranging from 70.83% to 98%.
- The findings revealed that there was a high moisture and phenological coverage between October 2020 and April 2021, which indicates the wetness within the Maungani wetland area.
- The results that were derived by using MNDWI showed that the water covering the Maungani area varies during the winter (July and August 2020), spring (September) and summer seasons (December 2020, January 2021 and February 2021).

The findings derived from this study provide new insights into small wetland ecosystems. Moisture and phenological information provide a better understanding of the wetland inundation area, which is critical for devising sustainable management strategies. Adopting the use of digital technologies at a local level will be critical for safeguarding small wetlands, which remain understudied.

## **CHAPTER SIX**

# SYNTHESIS, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS



http://etd<sup>108</sup>uwc.ac.za/

#### 6.1 Introduction

Wetlands provide distinctive productive ecosystems that offer a wide range of goods and services and that influence the functioning of these ecosystems (Martin et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2017). The mapping of wetland conditions, ecohydrological dynamics and vegetation diversity and productivity, offers valuable information that is required for understanding the status of wetlands in the face of climate change and variability in the face of the rising LULC changes (Gxokwe et al., 2020; Thamaga et al., 2021). Wetland vegetation is an excellent indicator of vegetation health for small (unprotected) wetland ecosystems and characterises the stages of species diversity and productivity (Janse, 2019). However, efficient, accurate and robust tools are urgently needed for the frequent and timely wetland delineation and monitoring of wetlands. The emergence of remotely-sensed data with improved sensing characteristics provides new opportunities for capturing vegetation diversity, productivity and hydrological dynamics of wetlands, which could be difficult when using the traditional approaches. Traditional approaches for the continuous mapping and monitoring of wetlands lack spatial representation and are challenging. Remote sensing approaches offer a great opportunity to detect and investigate land use change, vegetation patterns and wetland change in a spatially-explicit manner. Satellite remote sensing can monitor on a small to large spatial scale in near real time, and it can provide observations on change in the wetland ecosystem, especially in regions where in situ networks are scarce.

## UNIVERSITY of the

The use of newly-launched satellite images (Sentinel-2 and Landsat 8), with improved spectral bands, a revisit cycle and spatial resolution has produced satisfactory results in mapping wetland ecosystems. The capabilities of these sensors were tested in different studies (Thamaga and Dube, 2018, 2019; Muavhi, 2020) and were perceived to provide critical information when applied in wetlands. However, their performance in mapping of wetland conditions, ecohydrological dynamics and vegetation diversity and productivity is less understood. These sensors opened opportunities for the accurate delineation, mapping and monitoring of wetland ecosystems (vegetation diversity and productivity, hydrological dynamics and wetlands. Hence, the objectives of the study were as follows:

 (i) to provide an overview of remote sensing application in wetland ecosystems and to assess the impacts of LULC changes on wetlands;

- (ii) to evaluate the state of the environment of small wetland ecosystems and to estimate the remaining percentage of wetlands in the Limpopo Transboundary River Basin;
- (iii) to quantify the species diversity in wetlands in the Limpopo Transboundary RiverBasin, using remotely-sensed datasets, as a proxy of wetland conditions, and
- (iv) to monitor impacts of LULC on the wetland hydrological dynamics of the Limpopo Transboundary River Basin.

## 6.1.1 An overview of remote sensing application on wetland ecosystem, together with the impacts of land use and land cover change that affect the water quality and degradation of wetlands

Several studies have investigated various characteristics and functions of the wetland ecosystem, the impacts of LULC changes, delineation, as well as the degradation of these ecosystems (Mansour et al., 2013; Marambanyika and Beckedahl, 2016; Gxokwe et al., 2020). Most studies have focused on estimating and mapping the biophysical and biochemical parameters of vegetation in wetlands that are recognized under the Ramsar Convention (Kandus et al., 2018; Orimoloye et al., 2018); however, small and unprotected wetlands, which also play a critical role in sustaining local communities, have received little attention. Very little attention has been directed towards the hydrology, soil, vegetation quantification, species characteristics, species diversity and productivity status of these small wetlands (literature outlined in Chapter 2). In the face of increased pressure from human interference and climate change, estimation, frequent mapping, monitoring of these wetlands across diverse landscapes is required for sustainable and effective wetland management control, as well as the formulation of governmental policies that promote ecological preservation. Long-term ecological studies (Peter et al., 2020; Valdez et al., 2011) have found that anthropogenic activities continue to have an impact the water levels, vegetation composition, structure, productivity, diversity and functioning of wetland ecosystems, for decades after the activities have ceased. A new crop of robust satellite sensors, such as Landsat, with improved spatial resolutions and a high record of archival data, provides the most needed spatial tool for detecting, monitoring and understanding status of wetlands, at a low cost. There is a data gap, or undocumented information, on the state of wetlands in developing regions, which further complicates the management strategies and policy development. This review, therefore, provides the insights for wetland-related managers and it emphasizes the urgent need to shift towards the use of cheap and readily-available

http://etd<sup>110</sup>uwc.ac.za/

techniques for assessing and controlling wetland degradation, especially in small wetlands dotted across under-resourced regions.

# 6.1.2 Evaluation of the state of the environment for wetland ecosystems and the estimation of the remaining percentage of wetlands in the Limpopo River Basin

Studies conducted across African regions that assessed the impacts of LULC change on wetlands, demonstrated the potential of using remote sensing datasets (Wang et al., 2011; Mwita, 2013). However, these studies applied remote sensing primarily for wetlands designated under Ramsar ( $r^2 = 0.88$ ) than non-Ramsar sites ( $r^2 = 0.65$ ) (Thamaga *et al.*, 2021). These findings highlight that there are limited studies that uses remote sensing to monitor small wetland ecosystems that support rural communities (Guo et al., 2017; Osorio et al., 2020; White et al., 2020). To retrieve historical information, we need accurate LULC mapping to track changes overtime, especially in small wetlands were previously undocumented. Satellite data enables efficient and rapid classification of small wetlands with improved accuracies. This study took advantage of Landsat satellite images with high archival data, which plays a critical role for understanding the status of small wetlands by cost-effective monitoring and mapping (demonstrated in Chapter three). Hence, the goal of this study was to explore the effects of LULC change on wetland ecosystems in the Maungani wetland, which is situated in the Limpopo Transboundary Basin. In this study, the integrated time-series Landsat data and Support Vector machine algorithm were used to detect and model the LULC changes that occurred between 1983 and 2019, in order to overcome the degradation of small wetland ecosystems and contribute towards their sustainable management.

During the period of study, there has been widespread conversion of the wetland to built-up areas and agricultural fields. Based on the findings, the Maungani wetland has undergone significant changes in terms of LULC change dynamics during study period (1983 to 2019). Derived LULC change maps showed that the degraded wetland was largely converted into built-up areas. The Maungani wetland shrunk dramatically, from 1 073 500 ha (43.10%) in 1983 to 345 100 ha (13.85%) in 2019. Overall, the findings of this study demonstrated the use of historical and archival Landsat data series for understanding the effects of LULC changes on the spatial extent of wetlands located in semi-arid tropical regions of sub-Saharan Africa. The Landsat data series offers novel, accessible and up-to-date information that is required for the accurate monitoring of the land use and land cover change dynamics. The

rate of degradation and encroachment by other LULC changes, especially with respect to unprotected wetlands, play a critical role in surrounding communities. Furthermore, this work showed that there has been a steady deterioration of the Maungani wetland over time. Therefore, this work recommends a holistic framework approach in the management of wetland resources, in order to combat the land use and land cover change challenges, for the sustainability of the catchment areas. This comprehensive information can be used as a guideline for future LULC assessments, for monitoring and for planning.

# 6.1.3 Quantification of species diversity in wetlands in the Limpopo River Basin, using remotely-sensed data

The use of multispectral remotely sensed datasets in modelling wetland vegetation species diversity and productivity has faced difficulties, resulting in estimation errors due to saturation issues and spatial resolution which led to pixel mixing. The emergence of new crop of satellite images with more spectral bands and spatial resolution such as Sentinel-2 MSI, improved the estimation of wetland vegetation species diversity and productivity. This study showed the potential of integrating Sentinel-2 MSI with in-situ data, vegetation indices and diversity indices (the Simpson, Shannon-Wiener, Margalef and Pielou indices) to accurately estimate wetland species diversity and productivity in the Maungani wetland, is demonstrated in Chapter four. The findings showed that variable predictors, such as the Simpson Index ( $r^2$ ) = 0.84 (84%)), had the strongest relationship in estimating wetland vegetation, with the Margalef Index having a lower  $r^2 = 0.54$  (54.72%). The presence of red-edge bands was also found to be the most variable for enhancing estimation, mapping, monitoring, and management of wetland vegetation in data-scarce regions like unprotected wetlands i.e. in African regions in the face of climate change and rapid land use change. Moreover, the results highlight the relevance of Sentinel-2 data in that they have the potential to contribute to a more robust and evidence-based information that can assist in policymaking in conservation and in the sustainable use of wetland ecosystems. Overall, species diversity mapping and monitoring, using Sentinel-2 dataset and biodiversity indices, are critical because they provide benefits for the planning, conservation and rehabilitation of wetland ecosystems. The significant relationship observed between remotely-sensed variables and the diversity of vegetation species confirms the use of Sentinel-2 MSI for practical application in conservation, particularly as a screening tool for identifying biodiversity hotspots.

# 6.1.4 Assessing wetland ecohydrological dynamics in the Limpopo River Basin, using remotely-sensed data

To better understand how monthly climatic conditions, evapotranspiration and precipitation influences ecohydrological dynamics in small wetlands, Sentinel-2 MSI and indices were used to investigated water availability in relation to vegetation distribution (Chapter Five). The use of these indices (MNDWI, NDPI and NDMI) assessed water availability, moisture content and phenology. The study assessed the monthly variation of wetland water availability and inundation areas, using the Sentinel-2 MSI dataset. The methods used to retrieve information include thresholding on individual pixels ignoring the correlation amongst neighbouring pixels. Considering that, the individual pixels are not independent random variables but a random field, the potential to improve the accuracy of inundation extent. The findings showed that monthly satellite images, dating from July 2020 to June 2021, were used to extract the areas of water availability and inundation, using the Modified Normalised Difference Water Indices (MNDWI), the Normalised Difference Phenology Index (NDPI) and the Normalised Difference Moisture Index (NDMI). Based on the results, the following conclusions were drawn: During the period of study, MNDWI, NDMI and NDPI used the achieved overall classification accuracies ranging from 70.83% to 98%, respectively. Between October 2020 and April 2021, the findings revealed that there is a high moisture and phenological coverage that indicates the wetness within the Maungani wetland area. On the other hand, the MNDWI showed that water coverage varies during winter (July and August 2020), spring (September) and the summer season (December 2020, January 2021 and February 2021). These findings provide new insights into small wetland ecosystems. The moisture and phenological information retrieved from the study gave a better understanding of the wetland inundation area, which is critical for devising sustainable management strategies. Adopting the use of digital technologies at a local level will be critical in safeguarding small wetlands that have, thus far, remained understudied.

#### 6.2 Conclusion

Land use and land cover changes influence the spatial, temporal extent and functionality of unprotected wetland ecosystems. The main aim of this study was to assess the impacts of land use land and cover change on wetland productivity and hydrological processes, by using remotely-sensed datasets in Limpopo River Transboundary Basin. The data used in this study played a critical role, with the selected and appropriate approaches for wetland change, vegetation species diversity and productivity estimation, as well as hydrological dynamics,

http://etd<sup>113</sup>uwc.ac.za/

being based on remotely-sensed data. Furthermore, the findings retrieved during the period of study presented the capabilities of remotely-sensed datasets in the detection, mapping and monitoring of small wetland status, vegetation species diversity and productivity, surface water change and inundation periods. Based on the findings of this study, it can be concluded that:

- Landsat data-series provided critical information for the monitoring of land use and land cover change in the unprotected wetland in the Maungani area. Within the period of study (1983-2019) that proportion of wetland spatial extent was largely reduced by being converted into built-up areas;
- Landsat satellite images have achieved a higher data in the study of long-time changes that occur within wetland ecosystems, and hence, they remain the most used dataset;
- Sentinel-2 MSI, with its increased resolution, managed to detect and map water availability, moisture, and inundation area of wetlands with a high overall classification accuracy;
- The findings further revealed that there is a high moisture and phenological coverage, which indicates that there was the wetness within the Maungani wetland area, between October 2020 and April 2021;
- The results that were derived using MNDWI showed that water covering the Maungani area varies during the winter (July and August 2020), spring (September) and summer seasons (December 2020, January 2021 and February 2021). The period facilitated wetland water losses and a reduced extent of inundation through evapotranspiration; and
- Lastly, the results showed that the monthly variation in water coverage, moisture and inundation area were influenced by the changing climate data i.e. the rainfall pattern and temperature.

Overall, the findings of this study revealed that newly-launched satellite images have the potential in the monitoring, delineating and mapping of small wetland ecosystems. The findings also provide insights for wetland-related managers, which stresses the urgent need to shift towards the use of cheap and readily-available techniques for assessing and controlling wetland degradation, especially in small wetlands that are dotted across under-resourced regions. The long-term monitoring of wetland ecosystems over space and time has provided knowledge that influences the spatial extent of wetlands. The study of wetland vegetation has



provided a clear view of the status of vegetation species diversity and productivity, while the hydrological dynamics, vegetation distribution and moisture content demonstrated monthly changes, due to the climatic conditions. This information contributes to the development of well-informed decisions, conservation strategies that can lead to the sustainable utilization of wetland ecosystems, particularly anthropogenic land use and climate variability.

### 6.3 **Recommendations**

The present study results contribute to a better understanding of the land use and land cover changes in small wetland ecosystems. The retrieval of information on valuable small wetlands by using remotely-sensed datasets will assist wetland-related scientists and managers in conservation, in the prioritization of policies and in the sustainable use of wetlands. These findings offer new opportunities for remote sensing advancements and their prospective uses in small wetland ecosystems, which was previously a difficult task, but which has been made easier by a new crop of remotely-sensed datasets. The study illustrated the capability of Landsat data series in detecting changes in small wetland ecosystems over time and space (1983-2019). Furthermore, Sentinel-2 showed its strength in detecting and estimating wetland vegetation species productivity, water availability and the inundation areas. This study suggests the following recommendations for future research:

- There is a need for future studies to utilize the new and advanced satellite imagery, coupled with the use of robust machine learning algorithms, such as GEE, and the principal component analysis, to improve modelling for well-informed management decisions on wetland ecosystems.
- In this study, vegetation species diversity and productivity of wetlands were assessed; therefore, there is a need for future research to detect and eliminate alien plant species that are present.
- Future studies need to estimate water loss and how it affects the aquifers.
- Although this study showed the capabilities of remotely-sensed datasets, it is advisable for future studies to integrate climate data, in order to assess the ecohydrological behaviour.
- There is a need for future studies to assess the effects of fertilizers that are being applied to agricultural fields on the water quality and vegetation diversity of wetlands.
- It is advisable for future studies to research the impacts of changing climate on the wetland water budget, particularly in smaller wetlands that serve nearby communities, by using remotely-sensed datasets.

• Future studies need to evaluate all wetland components and land use and land cover changed, in order to draw up proper policies and protection strategies.



#### REFERENCES

- Adam, E.M., Mutanga, O., Rugege, D., Ismail, R., 2012. Discriminating the papyrus vegetation (Cyperus papyrus L.) and its co-existent species using random forest and hyperspectral data resampled to HYMAP. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 33(2): 552-569.
- Adam, E.M.I., Mutanga, O., Rugege, D., 2010. Multispectral and hyperspectral remote sensing for identification and mapping of wetland vegetation: A review. Wetland Ecology and Management, 18(3):281-296.
- Adelabu, S., Mutanga, O., Adam, E., 2014. Evaluating the impact of red-edge band from Rapideye image for classifying insect defoliation levels. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry Remote Sensing*, 95: 34-41.
- Adeli, S., Salehi, B., Mahdianpari, M., Quackenbush, L.J., Brisco, B., Tamiminia, H., Shaw,
  S., 2020. Wetland monitoring using SAR data: A meta-analysis and comprehensive review. *Remote Sensing*, 12: 2190.
- Ahmad, S., Erum, S., 2012. Remote sensing and GIS application in wetland analysis: case study of kallar kahar. *Science*, *Technology and Development*, 31(3): 251-259.
- Allan, J.D., McIntyre, P.B., Smith, S.D.P., Halpern, B.S., Boyer, G.L., Buchsbaum, A., Burton, G.A., Campbell, L.M., Chadderton, W.L., Ciborowski, J.J.H., Doran, P.J., Eder, T., Infante, D.M., Johnson, L.B., Joseph, C.A., Marino, A.L., Prusevich, A., Read, J.G., Rose, J.B., Rutherford, E.S., Sowa, S.P., Steinman, A.D., 2013. Joint analysis of stressors and ecosystem services to enhance restoration effectiveness. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 110: 372-377.
- Alonso, A., Munoz-Carpena, R., Kennedy, R.E., Murcia, C., 2016. Wetland landscape spatiotemporal degradation dynamics using the new Google Earth engine cloud-based platform. Opportunities for non-specialists in remote sensing. *American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers*, 59(5): 1333-1344.
- Alsdorf, D.E., Rodriguez, E., Lettenmaier, D.P., 2007. Measuring Surface Water from Space. *Reviews of Geophysics*, 45(2): 1-24.
- Amani, M., Salehi, B., Mahdavi, S., Granger, J., 2017. Spectral analysis of wetlands in Newfoundland using Sentinel-2 and Landsat 8 imagery. In Imaging and Geospatial Technology Forum, IGTF 2017-ASPRS Annual Conference 2017, Baltimore, MD, March 12-16.

- Asner, G.P., Martin, R.E., 2016. Spectranomics: Emerging science and conservation opportunities at the interface of biodiversity and remote sensing. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 8: 212 219.
- Asselen, Sv., Verburg, P.H., Vermaat, J.E., Janse, J.H., 2013. Drivers of Wetland Conversion: a Global Meta-Analysis. *PLoS ONE*, 8(11): e81292.
- Ballanti, L., Byrd, K.B., Woo, I., Ellings, C., 2017. Remote sensing for wetland mapping and historical change detection at the Nisqually River Delta. *Sustainability*, 9(11): 1919.
- Barajas-Gea, C.I., 2005. Evaluacion de la diversidad de la flora en el campus Juriquilla de la UNAM. Bol-e: Organo Comun Electron Centro Geociencias, *UNAM*, 1(2).
- Barducci, A., Guzzi, D., Marcoionni, P., Pippi, I., 2009. Aerospace wetland monitoring by hyperspectral imaging sensors: A case study in the coastal zone of San Rossore Natural Park. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90: 2278-2286.
- Bassi, N., Kumar, M.D., Sharma, A., Pardha-Saradhi, P., 2014. Status of wetlands in India: a review of extent, ecosystem benefits, threats and management strategies. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies*, 2: 1-19.
- Basu, T., Das, A., Pham, Q.B., Al-Ansar, N., Linh, N.T.T., Lagerwall, G., 2021. Development of integrated peri-urban wetland degradation assessment approach for the Chartra Wetland in eastern India. *Scientific Reports*, 11: 4470.
- Bellard, C., Bertelsmeier, C., Leadley, P., Thuiller, W., Courchamp, F., 2012. Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. *Ecological Letters*, 15(4): 365-377.
- Berhane, T.M., Costa, H., Lane, C.R., Anenkhonov, O.A., Chepinoga, V.V., Autrey, B.C., 2019. The Influence of Region of Interest Heterogeneity on Classification Accuracy in Wetland Systems. *Remote Sensing*, 11: 551.
- Berlanga-Robles, C.A., Ruiz-Luna, A., Bocco, G., Vekerdy, Z., 2011. Spatial analysis of the impact of shrimp culture on the coastal wetlands on the Northern coast of Sinaloa. *Mexico Ocean Coast Management*, 54(7): 535-543.
- Betbeder, J., Hubert-Moy, L., Burel, F., Corgne, S., Baudry, J., 2015. Assessing ecological habitat structure from local to landscape scales using SAR. *Ecological Indicators*, 52: 545-557.
- Bhaga, T. D., Dube, T., Shekede, M. D., Shoko, C., 2020. Impacts of Climate Variability and Drought on Surface Water Resources in sub-Saharan Africa Using Remote Sensing: A Review. *Remote Sensing*, 12(24): 4184.
- Bhatnagar, S., Gill, L., Regan, S., Naughton, O., Johnston, P., Waldren, S., Ghosh, B., 2020.Mapping vegetation communities inside wetlands using Sentinel-2 imagery in Ireland.

International Journal of Application of Earth Observation and Geoinformation, 88: 102083.

- Bhatta, L., Chaudhary, S., Pandit, A., Baral, H., Das, P., Stork, N., 2016. Ecosystem service changes and livelihood impacts in the Maguri-Motapung Wetlands of Assam, India. *Land*, 5: 15.
- Boon, M., Greenfield, R., Tesfamichael, S., 2016. Wetland assessment using Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) photogrammetry. In: Proceedings of the International Archives of the Photogrammetry, *Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, XXIII* ISPRS Congress, Prague, Czech Republic, July 12-19.
- Boyle, T.P., Smillie, G.M., Anderson, J.C., Beeson, D.R., 1990. A sensitivity analysis of 104 nine diversity and seven similarity indices. *Research Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation*, 105: 749-762.
- Brisco, B., Ahern, F., Murnaghan, K., White, L., Canisus, F., Lancaster, P., 2017. Seasonal change in wetland coherence as an aid to wetland monitoring. *Remote Sensing*, 9(2): 158.
- Brisco, B., Murnaghan, K., Wdowinski, S., Hong, S.H., 2015. Evaluation of RADARSAT-2 acquisition models for wetland monitoring applications. *Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing*, 41: 1-30.
- Brody, S., 2013. The Characteristics, Causes, and Consequences of Sprawling Development Patterns in the United States. Nature Education Knowledge 4(5):2.
- Brown, C.J., Saunders, M.I., Posingham, H.P., Richard, A.J., 2013. Managing for interactions between local and global stressors of ecosystems. *PLOSOne*, 8:e65765.
- Buchanan, B.P., Fleming, M., Schneider, R.L., Richards, B.K., Archibald, J., Qiu, Z., Walter, M.T., 2014. Evaluating topographic wetness indices across central New York agricultural landscapes. *Hydrology and Earth System Science*, 18: 3279-3299.
- Bui, D.T., Tuan, T.A., Klempe, H., Pradhan, B., Revhaug, I., 2016. Spatial prediction models for shallow landslide hazards: a comparative assessment of the efficacy of support vector machines, artificial neural networks, kernel logistic regression, and logistic model tree. *Landslides*, 13: 361–378.
- Burns, C.W., Schallenberg, M., 2001. Calanoid copepods versus cladocerans: consumer effects on protozoa in Lakes of different trophic status. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 46: 1558 – 1565.

- Byrd, K., O'Connell, J.L., Tommaso, S.D., Kelly, M., 2014. Evaluation of sensor types and environmental controls on mapping biomass of coastal marsh emergent vegetation. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 149: 166–180.
- Calhoun, A.J.K., Mushet, D.M., Bell, K.P., Boix, D., Fitzsimons, J.A., Isselin-Nondedeu, F., 2017. Temporary wetlands: challenges and solutions to conserving a disappearing ecosystem. *Biological Conservation*, 211: 3–11.
- Caranqui, J., Lozano, P., Reyes, J., 2016. Composicion y diversidad floristica de los paramos en la Reserva de Produccion de Fauna Chimborazo, Ecuador. *Enfoque UTE*, 7(1): 33-45.
- Ceccato, P., Flasse, S., Tarantola, S., Jacquemond, S., Gregoire, J.M., 2001. Detecting vegetation water content using reflectance in the optical domain. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 77: 22-33.
- Chai, T., Draxler, R.R., 2014. Root mean square error (RMSE) or mean absolute error (MAE)? — arguments against avoiding RMSE in the literature. *Geoscientific Model Development*, 7: 1247-1250.
- Chambers, P.A., Lacoul, P., Murphy, K.J., Thomaz, S.M., 2008. Global diversity of aquatic macrophytes in freshwater. *Hydrobiologia*, 595: 9-26.
- Chandler, H.C., McLaughlin, D.L., Gorman, T.A., McGuire, K.J., Feaga, J.B., Haas, C.A., 2017. Drying rates of ephemeral wetlands: implications for breeding amphibians. *Wetlands*, 37(3): 545-557. **IVERSITY of the**
- Chatanga, P., Seleteng-kose, L., 2021. Montane palustrine wetland of Lesotho: Vegetation, Ecosystem services, Current status, Threats and Conservation. Wetlands in Developing World, 41:67.
- Chatziantonious, A., Petropoulos, G.P., Psomiadis, E., 2017. Co-orbital Sentinel 1 and 2 for LULC mapping with emphasis on wetlands in a Mediterranean setting based on machine learning. *Remote Sensing*, 9: 1259.
- Chen, G., Weng, Q., Hay, G.J., He, Y. 2018. Geographic Object-based Image Analysis (GEOBIA): emerging trends and future opportunities. *GIsci Remote Sens.* 58.
- Chen, J., 1996. Evaluation of vegetation indices and modified simple ratio for boreal applications. *Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing*, 22: 229-242.
- Chen, L., Jin, Z., Michishita, R., Cai, J., Yue, T., Chen, B., Xu, B. 2014. Dynamic monitoring of wetland cover changes using time-series remote sensing imagery. *Ecological Informatics*, 24: 17-26.

- Chen, L., Ren, C., Zhang, B., Wang, Z., Xi, Y., 2018. Estimation of Forest above-ground biomass by geographically weighted regression and machine learning with Sentinel imagery. *Forests*, 9: 582.
- Chen, Y., Huang, J., Song, X., Gao, P., Wan, S., Shi, L., Wang, X., 2018. Spatiotemporal characteristics of winter wheat waterlogging in the middle and lower reaches of the yangtze river, China. Advanced Meteorology, <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3542103</u>
- Chen, Y., Qiao, S., Zhang, G., Xu, Y.J., Chen, L., Wu, L., 2020. Investigating the potential use of Sentinel-1 data for monitoring wetland water level changes in China's Momoge National Nature Reserve. *Peer J*, 8: 8616.
- Chikodzi, D., Mufori, R.C., 2018. Wetland fragmentation and key drivers: A case of Murewa District of Zimbabwe. Journal of Environmental Science, Toxicology and Food Technology, 12(9):49 -61.
- Childers, D.L., Jones, R.F., Noe, R., Rugge, G.B., Scinto, M., Leonard, J., 2003. Decadal change in vegetation and soil phosphorus pattern across the Everglades landscape. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 32(1): 344-362.
- Chiloane, C., Dube, T., Shoko, C., 2020. Monitoring and assessment of the seasonal and inter-annual pan inundation dynamics in the Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park, Southern Africa. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 118-119: 102905.
- Cole, J.J., Prairie, Y.T., Caraco, N.F., McDowell, W.H., Tranvik, L.J., Striegl, R.G., Duarte, C.M., Kortelainen, P., Downing, J.A., Middelburg, J.J., Melack, J., 2007. Plumbing the Global Carbon Cycle: Integrating Inland Waters into the Terrestrial Carbon Budget. *Ecosystems*, 10: 172-185.
- Connolly, J., 2018. Mapping land use on Irish peatlands using medium resolution satellite imagery. *Irish Geography*, 51(2): 187-204.
- Corcoran, J.M., Knight, J.F., Gallant, A.L., 2013. Influence of multi-source and multitemporal remotely sensed and ancillary data on the accuracy of random forest classification of wetlands in Northern Minnesota. *Remote Sensing*, 5(7): 3212–3238.
- Cramer, W., Bondeau, A., Woodward, F.I., Prentice, I.C., Betts, R.A., Brovkin, V., Cox, P.M., Fisher, V., Foley, J.A., Friend, A.D, 2001. Global response of terrestrial ecosystem structure and function to CO2 and climate change: Results from six dynamic global vegetation models. *Global Change Biology*, 7(4): 357-373.
- Dadson, S.J., Hall, J.W., Murgatroyd, A., Acreman, M., Bates, P., Beven, K., Heathwaite, L., Holden, J., Holman, I.P., Lane, S.N., 2017. A restatement of the natural science evidence concerning catchment-based 'natural' flood management in the UK.

*Proceedings A publishes refereed research papers in the mathematical, physical and engineering sciences*, 473(2199): 20160706.

- Davidson, N.C., 2014. How much wetland has the world lost? Long-term and Recent Trends in Global Wetland Area. *Marine Freshwater Resources*, 65: 934-941.
- Davidson, N.C., Fluet-Chouinard, E., Finlayson, C.M., 2018. Global extent and distribution of wetlands: trends and issues. *Marine Freshwater Resources*, 69(4): 620-627.
- Davranche, A., Poulin, B., Lefebvre, G. 2010. Wetland monitoring using classification trees and SPOT-5 seasonal time series. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 114(3): 552-562.
- Davranche, A., Poulin, B., Lefebvre, G., 2013. Mapping flooding regimes in Camargue wetlands using seasonal multispectral data. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 138: 165-171.
- Dawson, T.P., Jackson, S.T., House, J.I., Prentice, I.C., Mace, G.M., 2011. Beyond predictions: biodiversity conservation in a changing climate. *Science*, 332(6025): 53-58.
- de Klein, J.J.M., van der Werf, A.K., 2014. Balancing carbon sequestration and GHG emissions in a constructed wetland. *Ecological Engineering*, 66: 36-42.
- De Meester, L., Declerck, S., Stoks R., Louette G., van de Meutter, F., Bie, T.D., Michels, E.,
   Brendonck, L., 2005. Ponds and pools as model systems in conservation biology,
   ecology and evolutionary biology. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine Freshwater*.
   *Ecosystems*, 15: 715-725.
- Delegido, J., Verrelst, J., Alonso, L., Moreno, J., 2011. Evaluation of Sentinel-2 Red-edge bands for empirical estimation of green LAI and chlorophyll content. Sensors 11: 7063-7081.
- Dennison, W.C., Orth, R.J., Moore, K.A., Stevenson, J.C., Carter, V., Kollar, S., Bergstrom, P.W., Batiuk, R.A., 1993. Assessing water quality with submerged aquatic vegetation. *Bioscience*, 43:86–94
- Diaz-Delgado, R., Cazacu, C., Adamescu, M., 2019. Rapid Assessment of Ecological Integrity for LTER Wetland Sites by Using UAV Multispectral Mapping. *Drones*, 3:
  3.
- Dini, J., Bahadur, U., 2016. South Africa's national wetland rehabilitation programme: Working for wetlands. The Wetland Book; Finlayson, CM, Everard, M., Irvine, K., McInnes, R., Middleton, B., van Dam, A., Davidson, NC, Eds, 1-7. Springer Science and Business Media, Dordrecht, Netherlands.

- Dlamini, M., Adam, E., Chiri, G., Hamandawana, H., 2021. A remote sensing-based approach to investigate changes in land use and land cover in the lower uMfolozi floodplain system, South Africa. *Transactions of the Royal Society of South Africa*, 2021.
- Dronova, I., 2015. Object-based image analysis in wetland research: a review. *Remote* Sensing, 7(5): 6380-6413.
- Dronova, I., Gong, P., Clinton, N.E., Wang, L., Fu, W., Qi, S., Liu, Y., 2012. Landscape analysis of wetland plant functional types: the effects of image segmentation scale, vegetation classes and classification methods. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 127: 357-369.
- Dronova, I., Gong, P., Wang, L. and Zhong, L., 2015. Mapping dynamic cover types in a large seasonally flooded wetland using extended principal component analysis and object-based classification. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 158: 193-206.
- Drusch, M., Del Bello, U., Carlier, S., Colin, O., Fernandez, V., Gascon, F., Hoersch, B., Isola, C., Labertini, P., Martimort, P., 2012. Sentinel-2: ESA's Optical Highresolution Mission for GMES Operational Services. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 120: 25–36.
- Du, Y., Zhang, Y., Ling, F., Wang, Q., Li, W., Li, X., 2016. Water bodies' mapping from Sentinel-2 Imagery with Modified Normalised Difference Water Index at 10-m spatial resolution produced by sharpening the SWIR band. *Remote Sensing*, 8: 354.
- Dube, T., Mutanga, O., 2015. Evaluating the utility of the medium-spatial resolution Landsat
   8 multispectral sensor in quantifying aboveground biomass in uMgeni catchment,
   South Africa. *ISPRS Journal Photogrammetry Remote Sensing*, 101: 36-46.
- Dube, T., Mutanga, O., Elhadi, A., Ismail, R., 2014. Intra-and-inter species biomass prediction in a plantation forest: Testing the utility of high spatial resolution spaceborne multispectral RapidEye sensor and advanced machine learning algorithms. *Sensors*, 14: 15348-15370.
- Dube, T., Mutanga, O., Sibanda, M., Bangamwabo, V., Shoko, C., 2017. Evaluating the Performance of the Newly-launched Landsat 8 Sensor in Detecting and Mapping the Spatial Configuration of Water Hyacinth (*Eichhornia Crassipes*) in Inland Lakes, Zimbabwe. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/b/c*, 100: 101-111.
- Dube, T., Sibanda, M., Bangamwabo, V., Shoko, C., 2018. Establishing the link between urban land cover change and the proliferation of aquatic hyacinth (*Eichhornia*

crassipes) in Harare Metropolitan, Zimbabwe. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, 108: 19-27.

- Dubeau, P., King, J.K., Unbushe, D.G., Rebelo, L.M., 2017. Mapping the Dabus wetlands, Ethiopia, using random forest classification of Landsat, PALSAR and Topographic data. *Remote Sensing*, 9: 1056.
- Eid, A.N.M., Olatubara, C.O., Ewemoje, T.A., Farouk, H., El-Hennawy, M.T., 2020. Coastal wetland vegetation features and digital change detection mapping based on remotely sensed imagery: El-Burullus Lake, Egypt. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research*, 8(1): 66-79.
- Ellery, W.N., Dahlberg, A.C., Strydom, R., Neal, M.J., Jackson, J., 2003. Diversion of water flow from a floodplain wetland stream: an analysis of geomorphological setting and hydrological and ecological consequences. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 68: 51-71.
- Elton, E., Del Giudice, L., Montgomery, K., Roberti, L., 2011. The impacts of urbanization on the hydrology of wetlands: a literature review. Toronto and Region Conservation for the Living City, Ecology Division, Toronto.
- Evenson, G.R., Golden, H.E., Lane, C.R., D'Amico, E., 2016. An improved representation of geographically isolated wetlands in a watershed-scale hydrologic model. *Hydrological Processes*, 30(22): 4168-4184.
- Evenson, G.R., Golden, H.E., Lane, C.R., McLaughlin, D.L., D'Amico, E., 2018. Depressional wetlands affect watershed hydrological, biogeochemical, and ecological functions. *Ecological Application*, 1(1):100002.
- Fanlayson, C.M., D'Cruz, R., Aladin, N., Beltram, G., Brower, J., Davidson, N., Duker, L., Junk, W., Kaplowitz, M., 2005. Inland water systems. In ecosystems and human wellbeing: Current state and Trends; Hassan, R., Scholes, R.J. and Ash, N., Eds., Island Press: Washington, DC, USA, 1: 553583.
- Fashae O.A., Olusola, A.O., Obateru, R.O., Adagbasa, E.G., 2020. Land use/land cover change and land surface temperature of Ibadan and environs, Nigeria. *Environmental Monitoring Assessment*, 192: 109.
- Fatoyinbo, T., Feliciano, E.A., Lagomasino, D., Lee, S.K., Trettin, C., 2017. Estimating mangrove above ground biomass from airborne Lidar data: A case study from the Zambezi river delta. *Environmental Research Letters*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa9f03</u>.

- Felde, G.W., Anderson, G.P., Cooley, T.W., Matthew, M.W., Adler-Golden, S.M., Berk, A., 2003. Analysis of Hyperion data with the FLAASH atmospheric correction algorithm.
  In, IGARSS'03. Proceedings. *IEEE international: Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium*, 1: 90-92.
- Feyisa, G.L., Meilby, H., Fensholt, R., Proud, S.R., 2014. Automated Water Extraction Index: A new technique for surface water mapping using Landsat imagery. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 140: 23-35.
- Finlayson, C.M., D'Cruz, R., Aladin, N., Barker, D., Beltram, G., Brouwer, J., Davidson, N., Duker, L., Junk, W., Kaplowitz, M., 2005. Inland water systems. In: *Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Current State and Trends*; Hassan, R., Scholes, R.J., Ash, N., Eds.; Island Press: Washington, DC, USA, 1: 553-583.
- Finlayson, C.M., Davidson, N., Pritchard, D., Milton, G.R., MacKay, H., 2011. The Ramsar Convention and ecosystem-based approaches to the wise use and sustainable development of wetlands. *International Wildlife Law and Policy*, 14: 176-198.
- Fisher, A., Flood, N., Danaher, T., 2016. Comparing Landsat water index methods for automated water classification in eastern Australia. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 175: 167-182.
- Forrestel, A.B., Ramage, B.S., Moody, T., Moritz, M.A., Stephens, S.L., 2015. Diseases, fuels and potential fire behaviour impacts of Sudden Oak Death in two coastal California forest types. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 348:23 – 30.
- Frazier, P., Page, K., Louis, J., Briggs, S., Robertson, A.I., 2003. Relating wetland inundation to river flow using Landsat TM data. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 24: 3755-3770.
- Gallant, A.L., 2015. The challenges of remote monitoring of wetlands. *Remote Sensing*, 7(8): 10938-10950.
- Gardner, A.S., Moholdt, G., Scambos, T., Fahnstock, M., Ligtenberg, S., van den Broeke, M., Nilsson, J., 2018. Increased West Antarctic and unchanged East Antarctic ice discharge over the last 7 years. *The Cryosphere*, 12: 521–547.
- Giri, C., Zhu, Z., Reed, B., 2005. A comparative analysis of the Global Land Cover 2000 and MODIS land cover data sets. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 94: 123-132.
- Gitelson, A.A., Andrés, V., Verónica, C., Donald, C.R., Timothy, J.A. 2005. Remote Estimation of Canopy Chlorophyll Content in Crops. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 32(8): L08403.

- Gitelson, A.A., Kaufman, Y.J., Merzlyak, M.N., 1996. Use of a Green Channel in Remote Sensing of Global Vegetation from EOS-MODIS. *Remote Sensing of the Environment*, 58: 289-298.
- Gitelson, A.A., Kaufman, Y.J., Stark, R., Rundquist, D., 2002. Novel algorithms for remote estimation of vegetation fraction. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 80: 76-87.
- Gonzalez, E.E., Trilla, G.G., Martin, L., Grimson, R., Kandu, P., 2019. Vegetation patterns in a South American costal wetland using high high-resolution imagery. *Journal of Maps*, 15(2): 642-650.
- Gopal, B., 2016. Should 'wetlands' cover all aquatic ecosystems and do macrophytes make a difference to their ecosystem services. *Folia Geobotanica*, 51(3): 209-226.
- Gordon, L.J., Finlayson, C.M., Falkenmark, M., 2010. Managing water in agriculture for food production and other ecosystem services. *Agriculture and Water Management*, 97: 512-519.
- Grenfell, S., Grenfell, M., Ellery, W., Job, N., Walters, D., 2019. A genetic geomorphic classification system for Southern African Palustrine wetlands: global implications for the management of wetlands in drylands. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 7: 174.
- Guo, C., Guo, X., 2016. Estimating leaf chlorophyll and nitrogen content of wetland emergent plants using hyperspectral data in the visible domain. Spectroscopy Letters, 49(3): 180-187.
- Guo, M., Li, J., Sheng, C., Xu, J., Wu, L., 2017. A Review of Wetland Remote Sensing. Sensors, 17(4): 777.
- Gxokwe, S., Dube, T., Mazvimavi, D., 2020. Multispectral remote sensing of wetlands in semi-arid and arid areas: a review on applications, challenges and possible future research directions. *Remote Sensing*, 12(24): 4190.
- Hagan, J.M., Pealer, S., Whitman, A.A., 2006. Do small headwater streams have a riparian zone defined by plant communities? *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 36: 2131-2140.
- Hagolle, O., Sylvander, S., Huc, M., Claverie, M., Clesse, D., Dechoz, C., Lonjou, V., Poulain, V., 2015. SPOT-4 (take 5): Simulation of Sentinel-2 Time Series on 45 Large Sites. *Remote Sensing*, 7(9): 12242-12264.
- Haibo, Y., Wang, Z., Zhao, H., Guo, Y., 2011. Water body Extraction Methods Study Based on RS and GIS (2011) 3rd international conference on environmental science and information application technology (ESIAT 2011). *Procedia Environ Science*, 10: 2619-2624.

http://etd<sup>126</sup>uwc.ac.za/

- Han, X.X., Chen, X.L., Feng, L., 2015. Four decades of winter wetland changes in Poyang Lake based on Landsat observations between 1973 and 2013. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 156: 426–437.
- Han-Qiu, X., 2005. A study on information extraction of water body with the modified normalized difference water index (MNDWI). *Journal of Remote Sensing*, 5: 589-95.
- Hassan, R., Scholes, R., Ash, N., 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: current state and trends. Washington (DC): Island Press.
- Hayashi, M., van der Kamp, G., Rosenberry, D.O., 2016. Hydrology of Prairie Wetlands: Understanding the Integrated Surface - Water and Groundwater Processes. Wetlands, 1-18.
- Henderson, F.M., Lewis, A.J., 2008. Radar detection of wetland ecosystems: a review. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 29(20): 5809-5835.
- Hettiarachchi, M., Morrison, T.H., McAlpine, C., 2015. Forty-three years of Ramsar and urban wetlands. *Global Environmental Change*, 32: 57-66.
- Hiyama, T., Kanamori, H., Kambatuku, J.R., Kotani, A., Asai, K., Mizuochi, H., Fujioka, Y., Iijima, M., 2017. Analyzing the origin of rain- and subsurface water in seasonal wetlands of north-central Namibia. *Environmental Research Letters*, 12 (3): 034012.
- Hladik, C., Alber, M., 2012. Accuracy assessment and correction of a LIDAR-derived salt marsh digital elevation model. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 121: 224-235.
- Horwitz, P., Finlayson, C.N., 2013. Wetlands as setting for human health: Incorporating ecosystem services and health impact assessment into water resource management. *BioScience*, 69(9): 678-688.
- Hu, S., Niu, Z., Chen, Y., Li, L., Zhang, H., 2017. Global wetlands: potential distribution, wetland loss, and status. *Science Total of the Environment*, 586: 319-327.
- Hu, T., Liu, J., Zheng, G. et al. 2018. Quantitative assessment of urban wetland dynamics using high spatial resolution satellite imagery between 2000 and 2013. Sci Rep 8, 7409.
- Hu, Y., Xu, X., Wu, F., Sun, Z., Xia, H., Meng, Q., Haung, W., Zhou, H., Gao, J., Li, W., Peng, D., Xiao, X., 2020. Estimating Forest Stock Volume in Hunan Province, China, by Integrating in Situ Plot Data, Sentinel-2 Images, and Linear and Machine Learning Regression Models. *Remote Sensing*, 12: 186.
- Huete, A., Liu, H., Batchily, K.V., van Leeuwen, W., 1997. A Comparison of Vegetation Indices over a Global Set of TM Images for EOS-MODIS. *Remote Sensing of the Environment*, 59: 440-451.

- Huete, A.R., 1988. A Soil-Adjusted Vegetation Index (SAVI). Remote Sensing of the Environment, 25: 295-309.
- Husch, B., Beer, T.W., Kershaw, J.A. 2003. Forest mensuration. 4th edition. Wiley, 443.
- Immitzer, M., Vuolo, F., Atzberger, C., 2016. First experience with sentinel-2 data for crop and tree species classifications in Central Europe. *Remote Sensing*, 8: 166.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)., 2013. Climate change 2013: the physical science basis. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner G-K, Tignor M., Allen S.K. and Boschung J., Eds. *Contribution of working group I to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change*. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press, 1535.
- Janisova, M., Michalcova, D., Bacaro, G., Ghisla, A., 2014. Landscape effects on diversity of semi-natural grasslands. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 182: 47-58.
- Jaramillo, F., Destouni, G., 2015. Local flow regulation and irrigation raise global human water consumption and footprint. *Science*, 350(6265): 1248-1251.
- Ji, L., Zhang, L., Wylie, B., 2009. Analysis of dynamic thresholds for the normalized difference water index. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing*, 75(11), 1307–1317.
- Jia, K., Wei, X., Gu, X., Yao, Y., Xie, X., Li, B., 2014. Land cover classification using Landsat 8 operational land imager data in Beijing, China. Geocarto International, 29(8), 941-951. UNIVERSITY of the
- Jiang, T.T., Pan, J.F., Pu, X.M., Wang, B., Pan, J.J., 2015. Current status of coastal wetlands in China: degradation, restoration and future management. *Estuarine Coastal Shelf Science*, 164: 265-275.
- Jin, H., Haung C., Land, M.W., Yeo, I.Y., Stehman, S.V., 2017. Monitoring of wetland inundation dynamics in the Delmarva Peninsula using Landsat time-series imagery from 1985 to 2011. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 190: 26-41.
- Jogo, W., Hassan, R., 2010. Balancing the use of wetlands for economic well-being and Ecological Security. The case of Limpopo Wetland in southern Africa. Research Repository of the University of Pretoria. Elsevier.
- Johnson, W.C., Millett, B.V., Gilmanov, T., Voldseth, R.A., Guntenspergen, G.R., Naugle, D.E., 2005. Vulnerability of Northern Prairie wetlands to climate change. *Bioscience*, 55: 863-872.
- Jones, K., Lanthier, Y., van der Voet, P., van Valkengoed, E., Taylor, D., Fernandez-Prieto, D., 2009. Monitoring and assessment of wetlands using Earth Observation: The Global Wetland project. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90: 2154-2169.
- Joubert, L., Pryke, J.S., Samways, M.J., 2017. Moderate grazing sustains plant diversity in Afromontane grassland. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 20: 340-351.
- Kabiri, S., Allen, M., Okuonzia, J.T., Akello, B., Ssabaganzi, R., Mubiru, D., 2020. Detecting level of wetland encroachment for urban agriculture in Uganda using hyper-temporal remote sensing. AAS Open Research, 3: 18.
- Kakuba, S.J., Kanyamurwa, J.M., 2021. Management of wetlands and livelihoods opportunities in Kinawataka wetland, Kampala, Uganda. *Environ Challenges*, 2: 100021.
- Kardol, P., Cregger, M.A., Company, C.E., Classen, A.T., 2010. Soil ecosystem functioning under climate change: plant species and community effects. *Ecology*, 91: 767 781.
- Kashaigili, J.J., Majaliwa, A.M., 2013. Implications of Land Use and Land Cover Changes on Hydrological Regimes of the Malagarasi River, Tanzania. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Applications*, 2(1): 45-50.
- Kaufman, Y.J., Tanré, D., 1992. Atmospherically Resistant Vegetation Index (ARVI) for EOS-MODIS. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 30(2): 261-270.
- Kaufman, Y.J., Wald, A.E., Remer, L., Gao, B.C., Li, R.R., Flynn, L., 1997. The MODIS 2.1-mm channel-correlation with visible reflectance for use in remote sensing of aerosol. *Geoscience and Remote Sensing, IEEE Transactions*, 35(5): 1286-1298.
- Kema, W.M., 2010. The significance of Ecosystem Services in sustaining people's livelihoods; a case study in Mara wetland, Musoma and Tarime District, Tanzania, MSc Thesis (ES 10.29) UNESCO-IHE Institute for Water Education, Delft, the Netherlands.
- Kent, M., Coker, P., 1992. Vegetation description and analysis: a practical approach. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Khosravi, I., Safari, A., Homayouni, S., McNairn, H., 2017. Enhanced decision tree ensembles for land-cover mapping from fully polarimetric SAR data. *Int J Remote Sens.*, 38(23): 7138-7160.
- Klein, I., Dietz, U., Dech, S., Kuenzer, C., 2015. Results of the global waterpack: a novel product to assess inland water body dynamics on a daily basis. *Remote Sensing Letters*, 6(1): 78-87.

- Klemas, V., 2011. Remote sensing of wetlands: Case studies comparing practical techniques. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 27(3): 418-427.
- Klemas, V., 2013. Remote sensing of coastal wetland biomass: an overview. *J Coastal Resources*, 290(5): 1016-1028.
- Knoesen, D., Schulze, R., Pringle, C., Dickens, C., Kunz, R., 2009. Water for the future: impacts of climate change on water resources in the Orange-Senqu River basin, Report to NeWater, a project funded under the Sixth research Framework of the European Union. Pietermaritzburg, South Africa: institute of Natural Resources.
- Kokaly, R.F., Despain, D.G., Clark, R.N., Livo, K.E., 2003. Mapping vegetation in Yellowstone National Park using spectral feature analysis of AVIRIS data. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 84: 437-456.
- Kreplin, H.N., Ferreira, C.S.S., Destouni, G., Keesstra, S.D., Salvati, I., Kalantari, Z., 2021. Arctic wetland system dynamics under climate warming. WIREs Water, 8:e1526.
- Kuenzer, C., Bluemel, A., Gebhardt, S., Quoc, T.V., Dech, S., 2011. Remote sensing of Mangrove ecosystems: a review. *Remote Sensing*, 3: 878-928.
- Kumar, M.D., Panda, R., Niranjan, V., Bassi, N., 2013. Technology choices and institutions for improving economic and livelihood benefits from multiple uses tanks in western Orissa. In: Kumar M.D., Sivamohan M.V.K. and Bassi, N., Eds. *Water management, food security and sustainable agriculture in developing economies*, Chapter 8. Oxford (UK): Routledge.
- Laba, M., Blair, B., Down, R., Monger, B., Philpot, W., Smith, S., Sullivan, P., Baveye, P.C., 2010. Use of textural measurements to map invasive wetland plants in the Hudson River National Estuarine Research Reserve with IKONOS satellite imagery. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 114(4): 876-886.
- Lambin, E.F., Meyfroidt, P., 2010. Land use transitions: Socio-ecological feedback versus socio-economic change. Land Use Policy, 27: 108-118.
- Landmann, T., Schramm, M., Colditz, R.R., Dietz, A., Dech, S., 2010. Wide area wetland mapping semi-arid Africa using 250-MODIS metrics and topographic variables. *Remote Sensing*, 2(7): 1751-1766.
- Lantz, N.J. and Wang, J., 2013. Object-based classification of Worldview-2 imagery for mapping invasive common reed, Phragmites australis. *Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing*, 39(04): 328-340.
- Larsen, L., Aumen, N., Bernhardt, C., Engel, V., Givnish, T., Hagerthey, S., 2011. Recent and historic drivers of landscape change in the Everglades ridge, slough, and tree

island mosaic. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 41: 344-381.

- Lee, J.C., Menalled, F.B., Landis, D.A., 2001. Refuge habitats modify impact of insecticide disturbance on carabid beetle communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 38, 472– 483.
- Li, J., Bo, Z., Leng, Z., 2007. Current status and prospect of researches on wetland monitoring based on remote sensing. *Journal of Progress in Physical Geography*, 26(1): 33-43.
- Li, L., Vrieling, A., Skidmore, A.K., Wang, T., Muñoz, A.R., Turak, E., 2015. Evaluation of MODIS Spectral Indices for Monitoring Hydrological Dynamics of a Small, Seasonally Flooded Wetland in Southern Spain. *Wetlands*, 35: 851-864.
- Li, M., Im, J., Beier, C., 2013. Machine learning approaches for forest classification and change analysis using multi-temporal Landsat TM images over Huntington Wildlife Forest. *GIscience and Remote Sensing*. 50: 361-384.
- Li, Y., Liu, C., Zhang, J., Yao, H., Xu, L., Wang, Q., Lawren, S., et al., 2018. Variation in leaf chlorophyll concentration from tropical to cold-temperate forests: association with gross primary productivity. *Ecological Indicators*, 85: 383 – 389.
- Li, Y., Shi, Y., Qureshi, S., Bruns, A., Zhu, X., 2014. Applying the concept of spatial resilience to socio-ecological systems in the urban wetland interface. *Ecological Indicators*, 42: 135-146. **IVERSITY of the**
- Licciardi, G., Pacifici, F., Tuia, D., Prasad, S., West, T., Giacco, F., et al., 2009. Decision fusion for the classification of hyperspectral data: Outcome of the 2008 GRS-S data fusion contest. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 47(11), 3857– 3865.
- Ligate, E.J., Chen, C., Wu, C., 2018. Evaluation of tropical coastal land cover and land use changes and their impacts on ecosystem service values. *Ecosystem Health and Sustainability*, 4(8): 188-204.
- Lin, Y., Liquan, Z., 2006. Identification of the spectral characteristics of submerged plant Vallisneria spiralis. *Acta Ecologica Sinica*, 26: 1005-1011.
- Lin, Y., Yu, J., Cai, J., Sneeuw, N., Li, F., 2018. Spatio-Temporal Analysis of Wetland Changes Using a Kernel Extreme Learning Machine Approach. *Remote Sensing*, 10: 1129.

- Liu, Q., Liu, J., Liu, H., Liang, L., Cai, Y., Wang, X., Li, C., 2020. Vegetation dynamics under water-level fluctuations: Implications for wetland restoration. *Journal of Hydrology*, 581: 124418.
- Liu, T., Abd-Elrahman., 2018. Deep convolutional neural network training enrichment using multi-view object-based analysis of unmanned aerial systems imagery for wetlands classification. *ISPRS J Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 139: 154-170.
- Lou, Y., Pan, Y., Gao, C., Jiang, M., Lu, X., Xu, Y.J., 2016. Response of plant height, species richness and aboveground biomass to flooding gradient along vegetation zones in floodplain wetlands, Northeast China. *PLoS One*, 11(4): e0153972.
- Lumbierres, M., Méndez, P.F., Bustamante, J., Soriguer, R., Santamaría, L., 2017. Modeling biomass production in seasonal wetlands using MODIS NDVI Land Surface Phenology. *Remote Sensing*, 9: 392.
- Luo, S., Wang, C., Xi, X., Pan, F., Qian, M., Peng, D., Nie, S., Qin, H., Lin, Y., 2017. Retrieving aboveground biomass of wetland Phragmites australis (common reed) using a combination of airborne discrete-return LiDAR and hyperspectral data. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 58: 107-117.
- Luyssaert, S., Inglima, I., Jung, M., Richardson, A.D., Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Piao, S.L., Schulze, E.D., Wingate, L., Matteucci, G., 2007. CO2 balance of boreal, temperate, and tropical forests derived from a global batabase. *Global Change Biology*, 13: 250-2537.
- Macfarlane, D.M., Bredin, I.P., Adams, J.B., Zungu, M.M., Bate, G.C., Dickens, C.W.S., 2014. Preliminary guideline for the determination of buffer zones for rivers wetlands and estuaries. Final Consolidated Report. WRC Report No. TT 610/14. Pretoria (South Africa): Water Research Commission.
- Mahdavhi, S., Salehi, B., Granger J., Amani, M., Brisco B., Huang, W., 2018. Remote sensing for wetland classification: a review. *GIScience & Remote Sensing* 55(5): 623-658.
- Mahdavi, S., Salehi, B., Amani, M., Granger, J.E., Brisco, B., Huang, W., Hanson, A., 2017.
  Object-based classification of wetlands in Newfoundland and Labrador using multitemporal PolSAR data. *Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing*, 43(5): 432-450.
- Mahdianpari, M., Salehi, B., Rezaee, M., Mohammadimanesh, F., Zhang, Y., 2018. Very deep convolutional neural networks for complex land cover mapping using multispectral remote sensing imagery. *Remote Sensing*, 10(7): 1119.

http://etd<sup>132</sup>uwc.ac.za/

- Malahlela, O., Cho, M.A., Mutanga, O., 2014. Mapping canopy gaps in an indigenous subtropical coastal forest using high-resolution WorldView-2 data. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 35(17), 6397-6417.
- Malak, D.A., Hilarides, L., 2016. Guidelines for the Delimitation of Wetland Ecosystems; *ETC-UMA: Málaga, Spain*, 1–23.
- Mansour, K., Mutanga, O., Everson, T., 2013. Spectral discrimination of increaser species as an indicator of rangeland degradation using field spectrometry. *Journal of Spatial Science*, 58(1): 101-117.
- Marambanyika, T., Beckedahl, H., 2016. The missing link between awareness and the implementation of wetland policy and legislation in communal areas of Zimbabwe. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 24(5): 545-563.
- Marambanyika, T., Beckedahl, H., Ngetar, N.S., Dube, T., 2017. Assessing the environmental sustainability of cultivation systems in wetlands using the WET-health framework in Zimbabwe. *Physical Geography*, 38(1): 62-82.
- Marambanyika, T., Mupfiga, U.N., Musasa, T., Ngwenya, K., 2021. Local perceptions on the impact of drought on wetland ecosystem services and associated household livelihood benefits: The case of the Driefontein Ramsar Site in Zimbabwe. *Land*, 10:586.
- Margalef, R., 1958. Information theory in ecology. General Systems, 3:36-71.
- Martin, C.L., Momtaz, S., Gaston, T., Motschaniwskyj, N.A., 2016. A systematic quantitative review of coastal and marine cultural ecosystem services: current status and future research. *Marine Policy*, 74: 25-32.
- Marton, J.M., Creed, I.F., Lewis, D.B., Lane, C.R., Basu, N.B., Cohen, M.J., Craft, C.B., 2015. Geographically isolated wetlands are important biogeochemical reactors on the landscape. *Bioscience*, 65(4): 408-418.
- Materua, S. F., Urbanb, B., Heisec, S., 2018. A critical review of policies and legislation protecting Tanzanian wetlands. *Ecosystem Health and Sustainability*, 4(12): 310-320.
- McCarthy, M.J., Radabaugh, K.R., Moyer, R.P., Muller-Karger, F.E., 2018. Enabling efficient, large-scale high-spatial resolution wetland mapping using satellites. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 208: 18-201.
- McCartney, M., Morardet, S., Rebelo, L.M., Finlayson, C.M., Masiyandima, M., 2011. A study of wetland hydrology and ecosystem service provision: Ga-Mampa wetland, South Africa. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 56(8): 1452-1466.

http://etd<sup>133</sup>uwc.ac.za/

- McCartney, M.P., Rebelo, L.M., Senaratna, S.S. and de Silva, S., 2010. Wetlands, agriculture and poverty reduction. Colombo (Sri Lanka): International Water Management Institute (IWMI). 39 p. (IWMI Research Report 137).
- MEA, 2005. A report of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Ecosystems and Human well-being. Island Press, Washington DC.
- Medeiros, C.D., Scoffoni, C., John, G.P., Bartlett, M.K., Inman-Narahari, F., Ostertag, R., Cordell, S., Giardian, C., Sack, L., 2019. An extensive suite of functional traits distinguishes Hawaiian wet and dry forests and enables prediction of species vital rates. *Functional Ecology*, 33: 712-734.
- Melendez-Pastor, I., Navarro-Pedreno, J., Gomez, I., Koch, M., 2010. Detecting drought induced environmental changes in a Mediterranean wetland by remote sensing. *Applied Geography*, 30(2): 254-262.
- Meli, P., Benayas, J.M.R., Balvanera, P., Ramos, M.M., 2014. Restoration enhances wetland biodiversity and ecosystem service supply, but results are context-dependent: a metaanalysis. *PLoS One*, 9(4): e93507.
- Mhlanga, B., Maruziva, R., Buka, L., 2014. Mapping wetland characteristics for sustainable development in Harare: The case of Borrowdale west, Highlands, National sports stadium and Mukuvisi woodlands wetlands. Ethiopian Journal of Environmental Studies and Magement, 7(5): 488-498.
- Mitchell, M.S., Rutzmoser, S.H., Wigley, T.B., Loehle, C., Gerwin, J.A., Keyser, P.D., Lancia, R.A., Perry, R.W., Reynolds, C.J., Thill, R.E., 2006. Relationships between avian richness and landscape structure at multiple scales using multiple landscapes. *For Ecol Management*, 221(1-3): 155-169.
- Mitra, S., Wassmann, R., Vlek, P.L.G., 2003. Global Inventory of Wetlands and Their Role in the Carbon Cycle, ZEF Discussion Papers on Development Policy; ZEF: Bonn, Germany, 57.
- Mizuochi, H., Hiyama, T., Ohta, T., Fujioka, Y., Kambatuku, J.R., Iijima, M., Nasahara, K.N., 2017. Development and evaluation of a lookup-table-based approach to data fusion for seasonal wetlands monitoring: an integrated use of AMSR series, MODIS, and Landsat. *Remote Sensing Environment*, 199: 370-388.
- Mohammadimanesh, F., Salehi, B., Mahdianpari, M., Brisco, B., Motagh, M., 2018. Multitemporal, multi-frequency, and multi-polarization coherence and SAR backscatter analysis of wetlands. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 142: 78-93.

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

- Mombo, F., Speelman, S., van Huylenbroeck, G., Hella, J., Munishi, P., Moe, S., 2011.
   Ratification of the Ramsar Convention and Sustainable Wetlands Management: Situation Analysis of the Kilombero Valley Wetlands in Tanzania. *Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development*, 3: 102-112.
- Mondal, D., Pal, S., 2018. Monitoring dual-season hydrological dynamics of seasonally flooded wetlands in the lower reach of Mayurakshi River, Eastern India. *Geocarto International*, 33(3): 225 239.
- Mozumder, C., Tripathi, N.K., 2014. Geospatial scenario-based modelling of urban and agricultural intrusions in Ramsar wetland Deepor Beel in Northeast Indiausing a multi-layer perceptron neural network. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 32: 92-104.
- Muavhi, N., Mavhungu, 2020. Mapping of gold-related alteration minerals and linear structures using ASTER data in the Giyani Greenstone Belt, South Africa. South African Journal of Geomatics, 9: 2.
- Muavhi, N., Thamaga, K.H., Mutoti, M.I., 2021. Mapping groundwater potential zones using Relative Frequency Ratio, Analytical Hierarchy Processes and their Hybrid models: Case of Nzhelele-Makhado area in South Africa. *Geocarto International*, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10106049.2021.1936212</u>.
- Mudd, S.M., Howell, S.M. and Morris, J.T., 2009. Impact of dynamic feedbacks between sedimentation, sea-level rise, and biomass production on near-surface marsh stratigraphy and carbon accumulation. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 82: 377-389.
- Mudereri, B.T., Dube, T., Adel-Rahman, E.M., Niassy, S., Kimathi, E., Khan, Z., Landmann, T., 2019. A comparative analysis of PlanetScope and Sentinel-2 space-borne sensors in mapping Striga weed using Guided regularised random forest classification ensemble. *The International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences*, Volume XLII-2/W13, 2019. ISPRS Geospatial Week 2019, 10 14 June, Enschede, The Netherlands.
- Munguía S.M., Heinen, J.T., 2021. Assessing Protected Area Management Effectiveness: the Need for a Wetland-Specific Evaluation Tool. *Environmental Management*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-021-01527-1</u>.
- Munishi, S., Jewitt, G., 2019. Degradation of Kilombero Valley Ramsar wetlands in Tanzania. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C.*, 112: 216-227.

- Munyati, C., 2000. Wetland change detection on the Kafue Flats, Zambia, by classification of a multitemporal remote sensing image dataset. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 21(9): 1787–1806.
- Muro, J., Canty, M., Conradsen, K., H€uttich, C., Nielsen, A., Skriver, H., Remy, F., Strauch, A., Thonfeld, F. and Menz. G., 2016. Short-term change detection in wetlands using Sentinel-1 time series. *Remote Sensing*, 8(10): 795.
- Murray, K., Van Deventer, H., Mbona, N., Downsborough, L., Driver, A., Petersen, C. and Maherry, A., 2011. Technical report for the national freshwater ecosystem priority areas project. Report to the Water Research Commission.
- Mushore, T.D., Mutanga, O., Odindi, J., Dube, T. 2016. Assessing the potential of integrated Landsat 8 thermal bands, with the traditional reflective bands and derived vegetation indices in classifying urban landscapes. *Geocarto International*, 1-34.
- Mutanga, O., Adam, E., Adjorlolo, C., Abdel-Rahman, E.M., 2015. Evaluating the robustness of models developed from field spectral data in predicting African grass foliar nitrogen concentration using WorldView-2 image as an independent test dataset. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 34: 178-187.
- Mutanga, O., Adam, E., Cho, M.A., 2012. High density biomass estimation for wetland vegetation using WorldView-2 imagery and random forest regression algorithm. *Int. Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 18: 399-406.
- Mutanga, O., Skidmore, A., 2004. Narrow band vegetation indices overcome the saturation problem in biomass estimation. *Int J Remote Sens.*, 25(19): 3999-4014.
- Mwita, E.J., 2013. Land cover and land use dynamics of semi-arid wetlands: A case of Rumuruti (Kenya) and Malinda (Tanzania). *Journal of Remote Sensing and GIS*, 1.
- Nagendra, H., Lucas, R., Honrado, J.P., Jongman, R.H.G., Tarantino, C., Adamo, M., Mairota, P., 2013. Remote sensing for conservation monitoring: Assessing protected areas, habitat extent, habitat condition, species diversity and threats. Ecological Indicators, 33: 45 – 59.
- Nguyen, H.H., Dargus, P., Moss, P., Aziz, A.A., 2017. Land-use and socio-ecological drivers of wetland conversion in Ha Tien Plain, Mekong Delta, Vietnam. *Land Use Policy*, 64(1): 101-113.
- Nhamo, L., Magidi, J., Dickens, C., 2017. Determining wetland spatial extent and seasonal variation of inundated area using multispectral remote sensing. *Water SA.*, 43(4).

- Nicolet, P., 2003. The classification and conservation value of wetland plant and macroinvertebrate assemblages in temporary ponds in England and Wales. Unpublished PhD Thesis, Oxford Brookes University.
- Niemuth, N.D., Wangler, B., Reynolds, R.E., 2010. Spatial and temporal variation in wet area of wetlands in the prairie pothole region of North Dakota and South Dakota. *Wetlands*, 30(6): 1053–1064.
- Niu, K.C., Schmid, B., Choler, P., Du, G.Z., 2012. Relationship between reproductive allocation and relative abundance among 32 species of a Tibetan Alpine Meadow: effects of fertilization and grazing. *PLoS One.*, 7: e35448.
- Nkonya, E., Mirzabaev, A., von Braun, J., (eds). (2016). Economics of Land Degradation and Improvement: A Global Assessment for Sustainable Development. Cham: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-19168-3.
- Novoa, V., Rojas O., Ahumada-Rudolph R., Saez K, Fierro P., Rojas, C. 2020. Coastal wetlands: ecosystems affected by urbanization?. *Water*, 12(3): 698.
- O'Grady, D., Leblanc, M., 2014. Radar mapping of broad-scale inundation: challenges and opportunities in Australia. *Stochastic Environmental Research and Risk Assessment*, 28(1): 29-38.
- Olefeldt, D., Euskirchen, E.S., Harden, J., Kane, E., McGuire, A.D., Waldrop, M.P., Turetsky, M.R., 2017. A decade of boreal rich fen greenhouse gas fluxes in response to natural and experimental water table variability. *Global Change Biology*, 23(6): 2428-2440.
- Oliver-Cabrera, T., Wdowinski, S., 2016. InSAR-based mapping of tidal inundation extent and amplitude in Louisiana coastal wetlands. *Remote Sensing*, 8(5): 393.
- Olofsson, P., Foody, G.M., Herold, M., Stehman, S.V., Woodcock, C.E., Wulder, M.A., 2014. Good practices for estimating area and assessing accuracy of land change. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 148: 42-57.
- Olofsson, P., Foody, G.M., Stehman, S.V., Woodcock, C.E., 2013. Making better use of accuracy data in land change studies: Estimating accuracy and area and quantifying uncertainty using stratified estimation. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 129: 122-131.
- Omran, E.L.E., 2012. Detection of Land-Use and Surface Temperature Change at Different Resolutions. *Journal of Geographic Information System*, 4: 189-203.
- Ordoyne, C., Friedl, M.A., 2008. Using MODIS data to characterize seasonal inundation patterns in the Florida Everglades. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 112(11): 4107-4119.

- Orimoloye, I.R., Kalumba, A.M., Mazinyo, S.N., Nel, W., 2018. Geospatial analysis of wetland dynamics: wetland depletion and biodiversity conservation of Isimangaliso Wetland, South Africa, *Journal of King Saud University Science*, 32(1): 90-96.
- Osorio, R.J., Linhoss, A., Dash, P., 2020. Evaluation of mash terrace for wetland restoration: a remote sensing approach. *Water*, 12(2): 336.
- Otunga, C., Odindi, J., Mutanga, O., Adjorlolo, C., 2018. Evaluating the potential of the red edge channel for C3 (Festuca spp) grass discrimination using Sentinel-2 and RapidEye satellite image data. *Geocarto International*, 1-21.
- Owino, A., Ryan, P., 2007. Recent papyrus swamp habitat loss and conservation implications in western Kenya. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 15: 1-12.
- Ozesmi, S.L. and Bauer, M.E., 2002. Satellite remote sensing of wetlands. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 10(5): 381-402.
- Pande-Chhetri, R., Abd-Elrahman, A, Liu, T., Morton, J., Wilhelm, V.L., 2017. Object-based classification of wetland vegetation using very high-resolution unmanned air system imagery. *Eur J Remote Sens.*, 50: 564-576.
- Pandit, S., Tsuyuki, S., Dube, T., 2018. Estimating above-ground biomass in sub-tropical buffer zone community forest, Nepal, using Sentinel data. *Remote Sensing*, 10: 601.
- Pau, S., Edwards, E.J. and Still, C.J., 2013. Improving our understanding of environmental controls on the distribution of C3 and C4 grasses. *Global Change Biology*, 19(1): 184-196.
   UNIVERSITY of the
- Peimer, A.W., Krzywicka, A.E., Cohen, D.B., van den Bosch, K., Buxton, V.L., Stevenson, N.A., Matthews, J.W., 2017. National-level wetland policy specificity and goals vary according to political and economic indicators. *Environment Management*, 59(1): 141–153.
- Peter, A., Mujuru, M., Dube, T., 2018. An assessment of land cover changes in a protected nature reserve and possible implications on water resources, South Africa. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 107: 86-91.
- Peter, K.H., Nnoko, H.J., Mubako, S., 2020. Impacts of anthropogenic and climate change variation on spatiotemporal pattern of water resources: a case study of lake Babati, Tanzania. *Sustainable Water Resource Management*, 6: 1-12.
- Pettorelli, N., Nagendra, H., Rocchini, D., Rowcliffe, M., Williams, R., Ahumada, J., Agelo, C.D., Atzberger, C., Boyd, D., Buchanan, G., 2017. Remote sensing in ecology and conservation: three years on. *Remote Sensing Ecol Con.*, 3(2): 53-56.

- Petus, C., M. Lewis, and D. White. 2013. Monitoring temporal dynamics of Great Artesian Basin wetland vegetation, Australia, using MODIS NDVI. *Ecological Indicators* 34:41–52.
- Phethi, M.D., Gumbo, J., 2019. Assessment of impact of land use change on the wetland in Makhita village, Limpopo province, South Africa. *Jamba Journal of Disaster Risk Studies*, 11(2).
- Pielou, E.C., 1975. Ecological diversity. Wiley, New York, 165p.
- Poulin, B., Davranche, A., Lefebvre, G., 2010. Ecological assessment of Phragmites australis wetlands using multi-season SPOT-5 scenes. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 114: 1602-1609.
- Prigent, C., Papa, F., Aires, F., Jimenez, C., Rossow, W.B., Matthews, E., 2012. Changes in land surface water dynamics since the 1990s and relation to population pressure. *Geophys Res Lett.*, 39: L08403.
- Prospere, K., Mclaren, K., Wilson, B., 2014. Plant species discrimination in a tropical wetland using in situ hyperspectral data. *Remote Sensing*, 6(9): 8494-8523.
- Psomas, A., Kneub€uhler, M., Huber, S., Itten, K., Zimmermann, N., 2011. Hyperspectral remote sensing for estimating aboveground biomass and for exploring species richness patterns of grassland habitats. *International Journal Remote Sensing*, 32(24): 9007-9031.
- Ramoelo, A., Cho, M.A., Mathieu, R., Madonsela, S., van de Kerchove, R., Kaszta, Z., Wolff, E., 2015. Monitoring grass nutrients and biomass as indicators of rangeland quality and quantity using random forest modelling and WorldView-2 data. *International Journal Application Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 43: 43-54.
- Rampheri, M., Dube, T., Dhau, I., 2020. Use of remotely-sensed data to estimate tree species diversity as an indicator of biodiversity in Blouberg Nature Reserve, South Africa, *Geocarto International*, DOI: 10.1080/10106049.2020.1723717
- Ramsar Convention Bureau, 2001. Wetlands values and functions. Ramsar Convention Bureau, Gland, Switzerland.
- Ramsar Convention Secretariat (RCS), 2010. Handbook 17. Designating Ramsar sites: Appendix A, Annex I. Ramsar handbooks for the wise use of wetlands. 4th ed. Gland: Ramsar Convention Secretariat. http://www.ramsar.org/pdf/lib/hbk4-17.pdf.
- Ramsar Convention Secretariat., 2013. The Ramsar Convention Manual: a guide to the Convention on Wetlands (Ramsar, Iran, 1971), 6th ed. Gand (Switzerland): Ramsar Convention Secretariat.

- Rapinel, S., Hubert-Moy, L., Clement, B., 2015. Combined use of LiDAR data and multispectral earth observation imagery for wetland habitat mapping. *International Journal Application Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 37: 56-64.
- Raymond, P.A., Hartmann, J., Lauerwald, R., Sobek, S., McDnald, C., Hoover, M., Butman, D., Striegl, R., Mayorga, E., Humborg, C., Kortelainen, P., Durr, H., Meybeck, M., Ciais, P., Guth, P., 2013. Global carbon dioxide emissions from inland waters. *Nature* 503, 355–359.
- Rebelo, A.J., Scheunders, P., Esler, K.J., Meire, P., 2017. Detecting, mapping and classifying wetland fragments at a landscape scale. *Remote Sensing Applications*. 8: 212-223.
- Rebelo, L.M., McCartney, M.P., Finlayson, C.M., 2010. Wetlands of Sub-Saharan Africa: Distribution and contribution of Agriculture of Livelihoods. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 18(5): 557-572.
- Reis, V., Hermoso, V., Hamilto, K.S., Ward, D., Fluet-Chouinard, E., Lehner, B., Linke, S., 2017. A global assessment of inland wetland conservation status. *BioScience*, 67(6): 523-533.
- Reis, V., Hermoso, V., Hamilto, K.S., Ward, D., Fluet-Chouinard, E., Lehner, B., Linke, S., 2017. A global assessment of inland wetland conservation status. *BioScience*, 67(6):523–533.
- Richardson, A.J., Weigand, C., 1977. Distinguishing vegetation from soil background information. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing*, 43.
- Rivera-Monroy, V.H., Ellioton, C., Narra, S., Meselhe, E., Zhao, X., White, E., Sasser, C.E., Visser, J.M., Meng, X., Wang, H., 2019. Wetland biomass and productivity in coastal Louisiana: base line data (1976–2015) and knowledge gaps for the development of spatially explicit models for ecosystem restoration and rehabilitation initiatives. *Water*, 11(10):2054.
- Roberts, D.A., Dennison, P.E., Gardner, M., Hetzel, Y.L., Ustin, S.L., Lee, C., 2003. Evaluation of the potential of Hyperion for fire danger assessment by comparison to the Airborne Visible Infrared Imaging Spectrometer. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 41: 1297-1310.
- Robertson, L., King, D., Davies, C., 2015. Object-based image analysis of optical and radar variables for wetland evaluation. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 36: 5811-5841.
- Rokni, K., Ahmad, A., Selamat, A., Hazini, S., 2014. Water Feature Extraction and Change Detection using multitemporal Landsat imagery. *Remote Sensing*, 6: 4173-4189.

- Rondeaux, G., Steven, M., Baret, F., 1996. Optimization of Soil-adjusted Vegetation Indices. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 55: 95-107.
- Roujean, J.L., Breon, F.M., 1995. Estimating Par Absorbed by Vegetation from Bidirectional Reflectance Measurements. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 51: 375-384.
- Rouse, J.W., Haas, R.H., Schell, J.A., D.W. Deering, 1974. Monitoring vegetation systems in the Great Plains with ERTS, In: S.C. Freden, E.P. Mercanti, and M. Becker (eds) *Third Earth Resources Technology Satellite–1 Syposium. Volume I: Technical Presentations*, NASA SP-351, NASA, Washington, D.C., pp. 309-317.
- Russi, D., Brink, P., Farmer, A., Badura, T., Coates, D., Förster, J., Kumar, R., Davidson, N.
  2016. The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity for Water and Wetlands; *IEEP: London, UK.*
- Sahu, A.S., 2018. Detection of water-logged areas using geoinformatics techniques and relationship study in Panskura-Tamluk flood plain (India) Nadia - West Bengal. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 40(1): 9-24.
- Sakané, N., Alvarez, M., Becker, M., Böhme, B., Handa, C., Kamiri, H., Langensiepen, M., Menz, G., Misana, S., Mogha, N., Möseler, B., Mwita, E., Oyieke, H., van Wijk, M.T., 2011. Classification, characterisation, and use of small wetlands in East Africa. *Wetlands*, 31: 1103-1116.
- Sarp, G., Ozcelik, M., 2017. Water body extraction and change detection using time series: a case study of Lake Burdur, Turkey. *Journal of Taibah University for Science*, 11(3): 381-91.
- Schug, F., Frantz, D., Okujeni, A., van de Linden, S., Hostert, P., 2020. Mapping urban-rural gradients of settlements and vegetation at national scale using Sentinel-2 spectraltemporal metrics and regression-based unmixing with synthetic training data. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 246: 111810.
- Schuyt, K.D., 2005. Economic consequences of wetland degradation for local populations in Africa. *Ecological Economics*, 53: 177-190.
- Scott, D.B., Frail-Gauthier, J., Mudie, P.J., 2014. Coastal wetlands of the world: geology, ecology, distribution and applications. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Shalaby, A., Tateishi, R., 2007. Remote sensing and GIS for mapping and monitoring land cover and land use changes in the North-western coastal zone of Egypt. *Applied Geography*, 27(1): 28-41.
- Shannon, C.E., Weaver, W., 1949. The mathematical theory of communication. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

- Shen, L., Li, C., 2010. Water Body Extraction from Landsat ETM+ Imagery Using Adaboost Algorithm. In: Proceedings of 18<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Geoinformatics, Beijing, 1–4.
- Shoko, C., Mutanga, O., 2017. Seasonal discrimination of C3 and C4 grasses functional types: An evaluation of the prospects of varying spectral configurations of new generation sensors. *International Journal Application of Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 62: 47-55.
- Shoko, C., Mutanga, O., Dube, T., Slotow, R., 2018. Characterizing the spatio-temporal variations of C3 and C4 dominated grasslands aboveground biomass in the Drakensberg, South Africa. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 68: 51-60
- Siachalou, S., Doxani, G., Tsakiri-strati, M., 2014. Time-series analysis of high temporal remote sensing data to model wetland dynamics: A hidden Markov Model approach. In *Proceedings of the Sentinel-2 for Science Workshop—ESA-ESRIN, Frascati, Italy*, 20–22 May 2014.
- Sibanda, M., Mutanga, O., Rouget, M., 2015. Examining the potential Sentinel-2 MSI spectral resolution in quantifying above ground biomass across different fertilizer treatments. *IPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 110: 55-56.
- Sibanda, M., Mutanga, O., Rouget, M., 2015. Examining the Potential of Sentinel-2 MSI Spectral Resolution in Quantifying Above Ground Biomass across Different Fertilizer Treatments. *ISPRS Journal Photogrammetry of Remote Sensing*, 110: 55-65.
- Sieben, E.J.J., Nyambeni, T., Mtshali, H., Corry, F.T.J., Venter, C.E., MacKenzie, D.R., Matela, T.E., Pretorius, L., Kotze, D.C. 2016. The herbaceous vegetation of subtropical freshwater wetlands in South Africa: classification, description and explanatory environmental factors. *South African Journal of Botany*, 104: 158-166.
- Singh, A., Lin, J., 2015. Microbial, coliphages and physic-chemical assessments of the uMngeni River, South Africa. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 25(1): 33-51.
- Singh, S.K., Srivastava, P.K., Szabo, S., Petropoulos, G.P., Gupta, M., Islam, T., 2016. Landscape transform and spatial metrics for mapping spatiotemporal land cover dynamics using Earth Observation datasets. *Geocarto International*, 1-15.
- Slagter, B., Tsendbazar, N.E., Vollrath, A., Reiche, J., 2020. Mapping wetland characteristics using temporally dense Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 data: a case study in St. Lucia

wetlands, South Africa. International Journal Application of Earth Observation and Geoinformation, 86: 102009.

- Son, N.T., Chen, C.F., Chang, N.B., Chen, C.R., Chang, L.Y., Thanh, B.X., 2015. Mangrove mapping and change detection in Ca Mau Peninsula, Vietnam, using Landsat data and object-based image analysis. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing*, 8(2): 503-510.
- Sørensen, R., Zinko, U., Seibert, J.: On the calculation of the topographic wetness index: evaluation of different methods based on field observations, *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 10, 101–112.
- Space Applications Centre (SAC)., 2011. National wetland atlas. SAC, Indian Space Research, Ahmedabad.
- Species inventory and the local uses of the plants and fishes of the Lower Sondu Miriu wetland of Lake Victoria, Kenya. *Hydrobiologia*, 485: 99-106.
- Stephenson, P.J., Ntiamoa-Baidu, Y., Simaika, J.P., 2020. The use of traditional and modern tools for monitoring wetlands biodiversity in Africa: challenges and opportunities. *Frontiers of Environmental Sciences*, 8: 61.
- Sun, F., Zhao, Y., Gong, P., Ma, R., Dai, Y., 2014. Monitoring dynamic changes of global land cover types: Fluctuations of major lakes in China every 8 days during 2000– 2010. Chinese Science Bulletin, 59, 171–189.
- Sutton, P.C., Anderson, S.J., Costanza, R., Kubiszewski, I., 2016. The ecological economics of land degradation impacts on ecosystem service values. *Ecological Economics*, 129: 182-192.
- Symeonakis, E., Drake, N., 2010. Monitoring desertification and land degradation over sub-Saharan Africa. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 25: 573-592.
- Szantoi, Z., Escobedo, F., Abd-Elrahman, A., Smith, S., Pearlstine, L., 2013. Analyzing finescale wetland composition using high resolution imagery and texture features. *International Journal Application of Earth Observation and Geoinformatics*, 23: 204-212.
- Tafesse, M., 2003. Small-scale irrigation for food security in sub- Saharan Africa, The ACP-EU Technical Centre for Agricultural and Rural Cooperation (CTA), Ethiopia, 2003.
- Taramelli, A., Valentini, E., Cornacchia, L., Mandrone, S., Monbaliu, J., Hoggart, S., Thompson, R.C., Zanuttigh, B., 2014. Modeling uncertainty in estuarine system by means of combined approach of optical and radar remote sensing. *Coastal Engineering*, 87: 77–96.

- TEEB, 2013. The economics of ecosystems and biodiversity for water and wetlands. London and Brussels, *Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP) & Ramsar Secretariat*, 78.
- Thamaga, K.H., Dube T., Shoko C., 2021. Advances in satellite remote sensing of wetland ecosystems in sub-Saharan Africa. *Geocarto International*, 1-19.
- Thamaga, K.H., Dube, T., 2018a. Testing two methods for mapping water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*) in the Greater Letaba River system, South Africa: discrimination and mapping potential of the polar-orbiting Sentinel-2 MSI and Landsat 8 OLI sensors. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 39(22): 8401-8059.
- Thamaga, K.H., Dube, T., 2018b. Testing two methods for mapping water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*) in the Greater Letaba river system, South Africa: discrimination and mapping potential of the polar-orbiting Sentinel-2 MSI and Landsat 8 OLI sensors. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 39(22): 8401-8059.
- Thamaga, K.H., Dube, T., 2019. Understanding seasonal dynamics of invasive water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*) in the Greater Letaba river system using Sentinel-2 satellite data. *GIScience and Remote Sensing*, 56(8): 1355-1377.
- Thamaga, K.H., Dube, T., 2019. Understanding the seasonal mapping of invasive water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*) in the Greater Letaba river system using Sentinel-2 satellite data. *GIScience and Remote Sensing*, 56(8): 1355-1377.
- Tian, S., Zhang, X., Tian, J., Sun, Q., 2016. Random forest classification of wetland land covers from multi-sensory data in the arid region of Xinjiang, China. *Remote Sensing*, 8(11): 954.
- Tiner, R.W., 2003. Estimated extent of geographically isolated wetlands in selected areas of the United States. *Wetlands*. 23:636–652.
- Tiner, R.W., Lang, M.W., Klemas, V.V., 2015. In Remote Sensing of Wetlands: Applications and Advances Chapter 1. (p. 4). CRC Press. URL: http://www.crcnetbase.com/doi/book/10.1201/b18210 DOI: 10.1201/b18210.
- Titus, J.G., Anderson, K.E., Cahoon, D.R., Gesch, D.B., Gill, S.K., Gutierrez, B.T., Thieler, E.R., Williams, S.J., 2009. Coastal sensitivity to sea-level rise: a focus on the midatlantic region. a report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research. Washington (DC): U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research.
- Tomppo, E., Gschwantner, T., Lawrence, M., McRoberts, R.E. (Eds.)., 2009. National Forest Inventories. *Springer*, Dordrecht.

- Truus, L., 2011. Estimation of above ground biomass of wetland, biomass of wetland. In: I Atazadeh, editor. Biomass and remote sensing of biomass. Shanghai (China): *InTech*, 75-86.
- Tsai, F., Philpot, W.D., 2002. A derivative-aided hyperspectral image analysis system for land-cover classification. IEEE Trans. *Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 40: 416-425.
- Tucker, C.J., 1979. Red and Photographic Infrared Linear Combinations for Monitoring Vegetation. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 8: 127-150.
- Turner, K.T., Bergh, J., Barendregt, A., Straaten, J., Maltby, E., 2000. Ecological-economic analysis of wetlands: scientific integration for management and policy. *Ecological Economics*, 35(1): 7-23.
- Tymków, P., Józ'ków, G., Walicka, A., Karpina, M., Borkowski, A., 2019. Identification of Water Body Extent Based on Remote Sensing Data Collected with Unmanned Aerial Vehicle. *Water*, 11: 338.
- Ustin, S.L., Gamon, J.A., 2010. Remote sensing of plant functional types. *New Phytologist*, 186(4): 795-816.
- Valdez, V.C., Ruiz-Luna, A., Ghermandi, A., Berlanga-Robles, C.A., Nune, P.A.L.D., 2016. Effects of Land use land cover changes on ecosystem services value provided by coastal wetlands: Recent and future landscape scenarios. *Journal of Coastal Zone Management*, 19: 1-7.
- van Asselen, S., Verburg, P.H., Vermaat, J.E., Janse, J.H., 2013. Drivers of wetland conversion: Aglobal meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, 8(11): e81292.
- van Dam, A.A., Kipkemboi, J., Rahman, M.M., Gettel, G.M., 2013. Linking hydrology, ecosystem function, and livelihood outcomes in African papyrus wetlands using a Bayesian network model. *Wetlands*, 33(3): 381-397.
- Vasconcelos, M.J., Mussa-Biai, J.C., Araujo, A., Diniz, M.A., 2002. Land cover change in two protected areas of Guinea-Bissau (1956–1998). *Applied Geography*, 22: 139-156.
- Verhoeven, J.T.A., Setter, T.L., 2010. Agricultural use of wetlands: opportunities and limitations. *Annals of Botany*, 105(1): 155 163.
- Villa, J.A., Mitch, W.J., 2015. Carbon sequestration in different wetland plant communities in the Big Cypress Swamp region of southwest Florida. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services and Management*, 11(1): 1-28.
- Vörösmarty, C.J., McIntyre, P.B., Gessner, M.O., Dudgeon, D., Prusevich, A., Green, P., Glidden, S., Bunn, S.E., Sullivan, C.A., Liermann, C.R., *et al.*, 2010. Global threats to human water security and river biodiversity. *Nature*, 467(7315): 555-561.

- Wan, R., Wang, P., Wang, X., Yao, X., Dai, X., 2019. Mapping aboveground biomass of four typical vegetation types in the Poyang lake wetlands based on random forest modelling and Landsat images. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10: 1281.
- Wang, C., Chen, J., Wu, J., Tang, Y., Shi, P., Black, T.A., Zhu, K., 2017. A snow-free vegetation index for improved monitoring of vegetation spring green-up date in deciduous ecosystems. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 196: 1-12.
- Wang, L., Dronova, I., Gong, P., Yang, W. B., Li, Y. R., Liu, Q., 2012. A new time series vegetation-water index of phenological-hydrological trait across species and functional types for Poyang Lake wetland ecosystem. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 125: 49–63.
- Wang, L., Dronova, I., Gong, P., Yang, W., Li Y., Liu, Q., 2012. A new time series vegetation-water index of phenological-hydrological trait across species and functional types for Poyang Lake wetland ecosystem. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 125: 49-63.
- Wangai, P.W., Burkhard, B., Müller, F., 2016. A review of studies on ecosystem services in Africa. *International Journal* of *Sustainable Built Environment*, 5: 225–245.
- Wanjala, J.A., Sichangi, A.W., Mundia, C.N., Makokha, G.O., 2020. Modelling the dry season inundation pattern of Yala Swamp in Kenya. *Journal Modeling Earth Systems* and Environment, 6: 2091-2101.
- Watson, S.J., Luck, G.W., Spooner, P.G., Watson, D.M. (2014). Land-use change: Incorporating the frequency, sequence, time span, and magnitude of changes into ecological research. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 12: 241–249.
- Were, D., Kansiime, F., Fetahi, T., Cooper, A., Jjuuko C., 2019. Carbon sequestration by wetlands: a critical review of enhancement measures for climate change mitigation. *Earth Systems and Environment*, 3(2): 327–340.
- Whitcraft, A.K., Vermote, E.F., Becker-Reshef, I., Justice, C., 2015. A framework for defining spatially explicit earth observation requirements for a global agricultural monitoring initiative (GEOGLAM). *Remote Sensing*, 7: 1461 – 1481.
- White, L., Ryerson, R.A., Pasher, J., Duffe, J., 2020. State of science assessment of remote sensing of greater lakes coastal wetlands: responding to an operational requirement. *Remote Sensing*, 12(18): 3024.
- Wilen, J.E., Smith, M.D., Lockwood, D., Botsford, L.W., 2002. Avoiding surprises: incorporating fisherman behaviour into management models. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 70: 553e575.

- Wood, A., Dixon, A., McCartney, M.P., 2013. People-centred wetland management. In: A Wood, A Dixon, MP McCartney, editors. Wetland management and sustainable livelihoods in Africa, 1–42.
- Wright, T., Tomlinson, J., Schueler, T., Cappiella, K., Kitchell, A., Hirschman, D., 2006. Direct and Indirect Impacts of Urbanization on Wetland Quality. *Center for Watershed Protection*.
- Wu, Q., Lane, C.R., Xuecao, L., Zhao, K., Zhou, Y., Clinton, N., deVries, B., Golden, H.E., Lang, M., 2019. Integrating LiDAR data and multi-temporal aerial imagery to map wetland inundation dynamics using Google Earth Engine. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 228:1-13.
- Wu, W., Yang, Z., Tian, B., Huang, Y., Zhou, Y., Zhang, L., 2018. Impacts of coastal reclamation on wetlands: loss, resilience, and sustainable management. *Estuarine Coastal Shelf Science*, 210: 153-161.
- Xi, Y., Peng, S., Ciais, P. *et al.*, 2021. Future impacts of climate change on inland Ramsar wetlands. *Nature of Climate Change*, 11: 45–51.
- Xiaolong, W., Jingyi, H., Ligang, X., Rongrong, W., Yuwei, C., 2014. Soil characteristics in relation to vegetation communities in the wetlands of Poyang Lake, China. *Wetlands*, 34(4): 829-839.
- Xie, C., Xu, J., Shao, Y., Cui, B., Goel, K., Zhang, Y., Yuan, M., 2015. Long term detection of water depth changes of coastal wetlands in the Yellow River Delta based on distributed scatter interferometry. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 164: 238 – 253.
- Xie, G., Zhang, C., Zhen, L., Zhang, L., 2017. Dynamic changes in the value of China's ecosystem services. *Ecosystem Services*, 26: 146-154.
- Xie, S., Liu, L., Zhang, X., Yang, J., Chen, X., Gao, Y., 2019. Automatic land-cover mapping using Landsat time series data based on google earth engine. *Remote Sensing*, 11(24): 3023.
- Xing, L., Tang, X., Wang, H., Fan, W., Wang, G., 2018. Monitoring monthly surface water dynamics of Dongting Lake using Sentinel-1 data at 10 m. *Peer Journal.*, 6: e4992.
- Xu, H., 2006. Modification of normalised difference water index (MNDWI) to enhance open water features in remotely sensed imagery. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 27: 3025-3033.
- Xu, T., Weng, B., Yan, D., Wang, K., Li, X., Bi, W., Li, M., Cheng, X., Liu, Y., 2019.
   Wetlands of international Importance: status, threats, and Future protection.
   *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16: 1818.

http://etd<sup>147</sup>uwc.ac.za/

- Yaranga, R., Custodio, M., Chanamé, Z., Pantoja, R., 2018. Diversidad florística de pastizales según formación vegetal en la subcuenca del río Shullcas, Junín, Perú. *Scientia Agropecuaria*, 9(4): 511-517.
- Yin, S., Li, X., Wu, W., 2017. Comparative analysis of NPP changes in global tropical forests from 2001 to 2013. *IOP Conference Series Earth and Environmental Science*, 57(012009): 012009.
- Yirsaw, E., Wu, W., Shi, X., Temesgen, H., Bekele, B., 2017. Land use land cover change modelling and the prediction of subsequent changes in ecosystem service values in the coastal area of China, the Su-Xi-Chang Region. *Sustainability*, 9: 1-17.
- Zarco-Tejada, P.J., Berjón, A., López-Lozano, R., Miller, J.R., Martín, P., Cachorro, V., González, M.R., de Frutos, A., 2005. Assessing Vineyard Condition with Hyperspectral Indices: Leaf and Canopy Reflectance Simulation in a Row-structured Discontinuous Canopy. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 99: 271-287.
- Zhang, C., Wen, L., Wang, Y., Liu, C., Zhou, Y., Lei, G., 2020. Can constructed wetlands be wildlife refuges? A review of their potential biodiversity conservation value. *Sustainability*, 12(4): 1442.
- Zhang, M., Ustin, S.L., Rejmankova, E., Sanderson, E.W., 1997. Monitoring Pacific Coast Salt Marshes Using Remote Sensing. *Ecological Application*, 7: 1039-1053.
- Zhang, Z., Bianchette, T.A., Meng, C., Xu, Q., Jiang, M., 2020. Holocene vegetationhydrology-climate interactions of wetlands on the Heixiazi Island, China. Science of the Total Environment, 743: 140777.
- Zhao, L., Wu, F., 2015. Simulation of Runoff Hydrograph on Soil Surfaces with Different Microtopography Using a Travel Time Method at the Plot Scale, *PloS one*, 10: e0130794.
- Zhao, X., Stein, A., Chen, X., 2011. Monitoring the dynamics of wetland inundation by random sets on multi-temporal images. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 115, 2390 – 2401.
- Zheng, D., Mi, J., Ravesteijn, W., Qiu, F., 2014. Responsible resource management: the predicament and reform path for Chinese wetland conservation. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 22(5): 509-521.
- Zhu, X., Cao, J., Dai, Y., 2011. A Decision Tree Model for Meteorological Disasters Grade Evaluation of Flood. In: Proceedings of 4<sup>th</sup> International Joint Conference on Computational Sciences and Optimization 2011, Kunming and Lijiang, Yunnan,

China, 15–19 April 2011. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, New York, 916–919.

- Zhu, Y., Liu, K., Liu, L., Myint, S.W., Wang, S., Liu, H., Zhi, He, Z., 2017. Exploring the potential of WorldView-2 red-edge band-based vegetation indices for estimation of mangrove leaf area index with machine learning algorithms. *Remote Sensing*, 9:1060.
- Zoffoli, J.P., Latorre, B.A., Naranjo, P., 2008. Hairline, a postharvest cracking disorder in table grapes induced by sulphur dioxide. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 47: 90-97.
- Zomer, R.J., Trabucco, A., Ustin, S.L., 2009. Building spectral libraries for wetlands land cover classification and hyperspectral remote sensing. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90: 2170-2177.
- Zou, M., Niu, J., Kang, S., Li, X., Lu, H., 2017. The contribution of human agricultural activities to increasing evapotranspiration is significantly greater than climate change effect over Heihe agricultural region. *Scientific Reports*, 7: 8805.
- Zweig, C. L., Kitchens, W.M., 2008. Effects of landscape gradients on wetland vegetation communities: information for large-scale restoration. *Wetlands*, 28(4): 1086-1096.

